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On behalf of the directors of HDF (UK) Holdings Limited, I am pleased to present our annual report and audited 
financial statements for our group and company for the year ended 31 March 2020. 
 
HDF (UK) Holdings Limited (“HDF”) is the ultimate UK holding company of the group of companies which are 
50% ultimately owned by Utilities of Australia Pty Limited as Trustee for the Utilities Trust of Australia, which 
is resident in Australia and managed by Morrison & Co Utilities Management (Australia) Pty Limited, and 50% 
owned by RBS Pension Trustee Ltd as trustee for the Royal Bank of Scotland Group Pension Fund (Main 
Fund Section) and three entities of the Desjardins cooperative financial group based in Quebec (Régime de 
Rentes du Mouvement Desjardins, Desjardins Financial Security Life Assurance Company and Certas Home 
and Auto Insurance Company)  managed  by Vantage Infrastructure Holdings Limited. The company is a 
private company limited by shares. The company’s principal activity during the year and for the foreseeable 
future is that of a holding company.  
 
The principal operating company in the group headed by HDF in the UK was South East Water Limited. The 
full structure of the group as at the balance sheet date is presented below. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
This strategic report has been prepared to provide an understanding of the operations of these companies and 
the environment in which they operate, together with an insight into the activities of the group as a whole. This 
report details the business performance of each of the group’s operating companies in turn and the financial 
performance of the group during the 2019/20 financial year. The risks and opportunities that our businesses 
face and how we manage them are also discussed in this report. 
 

South East Water Limited 
 
South East Water Limited (South East Water) is a private company limited by shares. South East Water has 
been appointed as a water undertaker under the Water Industry Act 1991 and the duties and the obligations 
of the appointee are set out in that Act, in regulations created under that Act, and in its instrument of 
appointment. 
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Business 
 
This year saw the culmination of our 2015 to 2020 business plan, with good performance across our business 
commitments, and significant focus on the preparations for the next five years.  
 
During the last five years South East Water has invested £437 million in the water infrastructure of the South 
East of England. A key success has been reducing demand for water, which must continue if we are to balance 
the needs of customers and the environment in the longer-term. We completed our Customer Metering 
Programme with 90 per cent of customers now metered. Working with these customers we have encouraged 
water efficiency, including through our innovative use of behavioural science and delivering a “my water report” 
which has seen per capita consumption in our region reduce by seven per cent compared to the previous five-
year period. Side by side with customers we have also continued to reduce our own leakage levels and each 
year met or exceeded our regulatory target.  
 
We have maintained high water quality standards throughout the period achieving on average above 99.95 
per cent mean zonal compliance. Work in this period included installing three new microfiltration treatment 
plants in Kent and East Sussex along with a programme of water mains flushing. Our award-winning 
environmental programme has taken an industry leading approach to catchment management with the team 
working to improve water quality right from the source.  
 
Our household retail team has continued to improve the service offerings for our customers. Over the last five 
years we have introduced a new responsive website, including the My Account service which enables 
customers to manage their account online, and an online map to keep people updated with work in their region. 
The team also completed a significant billing project in 2018 introducing ‘One Bill’ meaning we now bill 
wastewater charges to over 465,000 customers on behalf of Southern Water.  
 
Last year saw the final stages of the Price Review 2019 (PR19) with Ofwat, with close involvement of the board 
throughout. Ofwat’s Final Determination announced in December, which defines the price we can charge and 
what we are expected to deliver over the five year period, will be extremely challenging and is forecast to result 
in minimal returns to shareholders. Further it did not, in our opinion, adequately reflect our customer’s priorities 
in areas such as resilience and investment for the future. The board gave careful consideration to appealing 
this Determination to the Competition and Markets Authority, weighing the significant costs and diversion of 
resources involved in the appeal process versus the risks and uncertainty of the outcome. After much 
deliberation we decided not to appeal.  
 
We have now finalised a very detailed Corporate Plan for the next five years to meet the challenges as far as 

is possible. These are stretching targets which have been required by our regulators. This will require a 
step change in performance and cost efficiency in all areas. The plan includes: 
 

 investing £433 million to improve our infrastructure over the five year period 
 our largest environmental programme ever – including reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 80 per 

cent 
 improving 33 of our Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
 six water quality schemes 
 increasing Priority Service Register sign-up 110,000 
 extending financial assistance to 75,000 eligible customers 
 reducing average water use by 7.2 per cent to 137.4 litres a day 
 reducing leakage by 15 per cent 

 
The plan builds on our innovative customer satisfaction programme, where we have asked customers for their 
views and these are the commitments they said they wanted to see. These commitments will deliver high 
performance levels far beyond any we have committed to previously and have an enhanced focus on our 
responsible business commitments. However the arrival of Covid-19 required us to urgently adapt our 
operational priorities and ways of working. Despite the uncertainty of how to deal with an event like the Covid-
19 pandemic, our business has worked relentlessly to deal with the emerging and ongoing threat. At all times,  
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we have worked hard to ensure that  vital water services were  maintained  whilst ensuring that we have 
supported all our customers, our supply chain, the community and our employees.  
 
The situation regarding Covid-19 continues to develop and will do so for the foreseeable future. We are 
engaging with our regulator and other parties to assess the likely short and long term impacts of the pandemic 
and what steps are required to manage these outcomes. 
 
Business strategy 
 
South East Water has a clean and well defined purpose - To provide today’s public water service and create 
tomorrow’s water supply solutions, fairly and responsibly, working with others to help society and the 
environment to thrive. 
 
Planning for water requires a long-term focus, which is why it is important we set out the opportunities and 
challenges we face in the future. There are considerable challenges for companies such as ours, which operate 
in a region which has been designated as being in serious water stress.  
 
The most significant biggest of these is the need to meet the demand for water, from customers of today and 
the customers of tomorrow. It is vital we look a long way ahead to anticipate the changes and challenges that 
could impact our work in the future.  
 
The challenges we face include:  
 

 rising numbers of homes and people  
 meeting customer demand for water  
 climate change  
 maintaining supplies  
 customers’ changing expectations  
 regulatory and political uncertainty/expectations 

 
We put customers centre stage of our business strategy, while ensuring we take account of all our other legal 
and financial obligations, which gives us  a clear direction of travel; one which we believe is better signposted 
as a result of our innovative and holistic approach to measuring our future performance through outcomes.  
 
To develop our 2015 to 2020 plan we consulted with more than 8,000 people with an interest in our business, 
from customers and employees, through to community leaders and investors, to ensure we had developed a 
comprehensive strategy that balances their various expectations. Their feedback helped us to develop our 
five-year business plan. This has led to the development of five key commitments, each of which leads to our 
customer outcomes and which we measure to assess our current performance.  
 
Read more online at southeastwater.co.uk/businessplan2020. 
 
We built on this customer engagement to create our new 2020 to 2025 business plan which is our most 
ambitious plan yet. 
 
2020 to 2025 business plan - customer satisfaction responsibly delivered 
 
In December 2019, Ofwat published its Final Determination of our business plan. This has given us the go-
ahead to progress with finalising our plans and preparing for our new five-year investment period. The Final 
Determination did not meet the allowances and targets we asked for to appropriately meet current and future 
customer needs including climate change. 
 
The plan we have developed for 2020 to 2025 continues to have customer satisfaction as a core theme. We 
have taken this further and developed a wide range of responsible business measures and targets. We believe 
our plan is the right one for our customers and society, now and in the future. We are driven by the same 
values of trust as our customers. We are a business made up of dedicated water people who want to make a 
difference to customers, communities, the environment and society.  
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The result is a plan which: 
 

 remains built around customer satisfaction, but which has improved from measuring average 
satisfaction across seven service elements, to measuring satisfaction by attitudinal segments so we 
meet the expectations of all our customers – whatever their needs or circumstances  

 strengthens the link between satisfaction and resilience by making customers part of the solution by 
giving them targeted information, and as such, greater control over their water use. We have used 
recent supply challenges in 2018 – such as the freeze/thaw and heatwave events – to develop this 
further through our resilient customer concept 

 has a focused innovation strategy which targets our customers’ and stakeholders’ priorities; and where 
we can make the most difference to lead the industry, not least using our toolboxes to deliver greater 
customer satisfaction 

 has 10 new responsible business commitments to reflect the actions and behaviours that customers 
expect a responsible business to display; and, in conjunction with great service, have the potential to 
create a step-change in trust of the water sector 

 challenges us to deliver performance levels well beyond anything we have delivered before and new 
ones too, such as our performance commitments relating to vulnerable customers, the environment 
and customer satisfaction 

 The plan commits to all this at a price that is lower than today (before inflation), the challenge of doing 
more for less should not be underestimated. We have included 38 new performance commitments in 
our plan 
 

Our ambition to do more for less is what this plan is built upon and is what drives us to set a new tone of trust 
and transparency in the water sector. We will do this by evolving our use of satisfaction and introducing 
responsible business commitments. 
 
Customer Challenge Group 
 
The Customer Challenge Group is an independent group whose overarching aim is the delivery of the best 
possible experience for customers. The group, comprising of water regulators, customer representatives and 
key stakeholders, focuses on the: 
 

 quality of the company’s engagement and insight 
 extent that insight is driving decision making 
 extent to which the company is delivering against the business plan promises   

 
The group was fundamental in scrutinising and challenging our strategic direction, including our latest business 
plan. Ofwat requested that our Customer Challenge Group write a report which sets out how well we’ve 
engaged with our customers, and whether their views have been adequately reflected in the plan.  
 
You can read the report and find out more about the Customer Challenge Group at customerchallenge.co.uk. 
 
Your water, your say 
 
Our 2020 to 2025 business plan is based on feedback from thousands of our customers and stakeholders. We 
continue these conversations to ensure we can deliver this plan in collaboration with others as we have built 
customer and stakeholder engagement into the way we do business. If you have any feedback on our plans, 
or our work please contact us.  
 
Read South East Water Limited latest plan at southeastwater.co.uk/businessplan2020. 
 
Water resources for the future 
 
Every five years we update our water resources management plan (WRMP) which looks at how we will keep 
taps running while striking that delicate balance between protecting the environment and keeping bills 
affordable.  
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Since we published our previous plan in 2014 we have:  
 

 reduced the amount of water lost through leaks, exceeding our target 
 metered 90 per cent of our customers 
 reached more than 22,000 people as part of our award-winning targeted behaviour change campaign 

 
Previously these plans looked 25 years into the future, but because the south east faces a number of unique 
challenges, as detailed on page 6, our latest plan, published in August 2019 looks forward 60 years to 2080. 
By doing this we can ensure that the work we do now lays the best foundation for future generations. 
 
Over the next 60 years the population in our supply area is set to increase by 49 per cent to 3.29 million. To 
ensure all existing and new customers continue to receive a reliable tap water supply we need to increase the 
amount of water available by an extra 221.0 million litres a day by 2080.  
 
Our latest plan will make what water we already have go further – by reducing leaks on our pipes and 
developing water efficiency programmes. This will help, but these measures alone won’t be enough to meet 
the predicted increase in demand. Therefore, our proposals for 2020 to 2080 include:  
 

 Encouraging greater water efficiency amongst our customers; working with our customers to reduce 
per capita consumption from 148 l/h/d to 90 l/h/d by 2080, helping to save an additional 151.6 million 
litres of water a day 

 Halving the level of leakage from current levels by 2050, saving an additional 42.7 million litres of water 
a day 

 Construction of a new water treatment works at the former Aylesford Newsprint site in Kent via a new 
licence trade arrangement. This will provide an additional 18.2 million litres of water a day 

 Developing and improving an existing water treatment works at Bewl Water in Kent, providing eight 
million litres of water a day 

 Creating a new reservoir at Broad Oak in Kent by 2033 to provide 19.6 million litres of water a day 
 Building a new reservoir adjacent to our existing Arlington Reservoir in East Sussex by 2035 to provide 

16.1 million litres of water a day 
 Developing a regional water transfer scheme with SES Water to provide nine million litres of water a 

day by 2042 
 Improving the levels of connectivity and resilience within our water supply network system to meet 

demand and manage extreme events 
 
We asked for customers’ views while we developed our plans and thank everyone who took part in the 
consultation process. In particular we are grateful to the members of our Environment Focus Group, who have 
challenged our approach and helped ensure we develop an acceptable, resilient and innovative plan.  
 
Collaborative regional water resources planning is a long established and integral part of how our own water 
resources management plans are prepared. Since 1997 South East Water, along with the other five South 
East of England water companies has prepared regional plans as the Water Resources in the South East 
(WRSE) group. This collaboration ensures each individual company’s plan is integrated with regional solutions, 
to provide the most cost effective and resilient plans for both customers and the environment. 
 
South East Water will continue to play an active and vocal role in the work of the WRSE group and national 
work, to ensure our own company water resources management plan remains coherent with those plans.      
 
Objectives  
 
We use outcome delivery incentives (ODIs) to measure our progress towards achieving our goals and 
priorities. We have published a summary of our performance against these ODIs in table 3A as part of our 
annual performance report. We have also published our Performance, People and Planet report 2019/20 which 
provides much more detail on each of the ODIs, the challenges we face and our future plans to ensure we 
continue to improve.  
 
corporate.southeastwater.co.uk/news-info/publications/financial-reports 
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Business model  
 
We deliver clean, drinking water to our customers. We do this by applying our pure know h2ow to the process 
of collecting, storing, abstracting, treating and transporting water using the infrastructure (reservoirs, treatment 
works, pipes and pumps) that we build and maintain.  
 
We rely on the environment to provide us with the water resources to meet customer demand. Throughout our 
history we have put the quality of our water resource and protection of the environment that our water comes 
from at the heart of what we do. With increasing stresses on our environment, our history provides us with the 
platform for continuing to create value and meet stakeholder expectations in the short and long term.  
 
All our activities are regulated by Ofwat, which is our economic regulator, which has a duty to protect the 
interests of consumers. We operate under an instrument of appointment issued under the Water Industry Act 
1991. 
 
Under the terms of our licence and as part of the industry price review process, we submit a business plan to 
Ofwat every five years. Our business plan sets out the costs that we expect to be required to run the water 
network and the capital investment that we expect will be required to maintain a high quality of service to our  
customers. These business requirements are used to determine appropriate tariffs for our customers which 
are set out in our charges schemes. Our revenues and costs are regulated by Ofwat, as are our returns to 
investors. There are two price controls, being for the wholesale business and the retail household business. 
 
Our business model has evolved with the opening of the non-household retail market on 1 April 2017 and the 
continued development of competition in the provision of water infrastructure and supply to new development 
sites. We reviewed the way we operate for market opening and functionally separated our non-household retail 
business (which has since been sold to another retail business) from South East Water’s wholesale and 
household retail business. Therefore we are now concentrating on retail services for household customers and 
ensuring we provide an excellent wholesale service to all that use the water we produce and supply.  
 
There are further changes on the horizon with new price controls for water resources and the operation of our 
network (Network Plus) replacing the single wholesale price control. This is designed to enable further 
innovation and potential competition for water resources. While we continue to provide the same services to 
our customers within a defined regulatory framework, we are also increasingly subject to competitive pressures 
and must adapt our strategy to this changing environment.  
 
Creating value by being a responsible business 
 
Our business creates value in a variety of ways:  
 

 value for customers – maintaining and investing in our infrastructure to ensure current and future 
customer demand for water is met.  

 value for the environment – protecting and enhancing the environment 
 value for employees – providing training and fulfilling jobs 
 value for our communities – enabling communities to develop and thrive thanks to a reliable water 

infrastructure 
 value for investors – providing stable returns by anticipating and managing emerging risks and 

identifying new business opportunities 
 
We believe that by focusing on creating and delivering value across these different dimensions we will be able 
to achieve our ambition of being a responsible business, one that creates value for, and is valued by, our 
stakeholders and society.  
 
Taking the long view 
 
We have a rich history of taking a long-term view: making decisions that balance meeting the needs of 
customers today with ensuring we can provide a quality service for our customers of the future. We design and 
build our infrastructure to meet expected changes in demand and environmental conditions. We raise money 
for our investment programme from financial institutions like pension funds who take a long-term view and 
seek steady, reliable and reasonable returns on their investment.  
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The price that we charge our customers is regulated by Ofwat and set for a five-year period at a level that 
reflects their view of expected cost of running our business and funding our investment programme. Customer 
bills are inflation linked and thus provide some protection from the impact of increased operating costs, but we 
have to think about how best to manage the risks to the business of events not included in the prices set by 
Ofwat. Increasingly, these risks may arise from environmental and societal factors beyond our control such as 
extreme weather events or, as is currently the case, with the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Our response to the Covid-19 pandemic has illustrated how we need to continually adapt our business model 
to accommodate the sudden demands on the business which are typically outside of our normal activities. The 
response to the outbreak since March has enabled us to assess our capabilities and provided valuable insight 
into our long-term planning.  We are engaging with our regulators on the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The next five-year price period runs from 2020 to 2025 and our business planning has been based on a good 
understanding of the medium to long-term business and external environment. 
 
Engaging with stakeholders  
 
To help prepare our business plan for 2020 to 2025 we developed a comprehensive engagement programme  
to ensure we capture all the differing views of our customers and other stakeholders about their priorities and 
expectations both now and in the future. This programme has seen us engage with 13,000 stakeholders to 
help us shape our plans. We worked closely with our stakeholders, including customers and employees, to 
build our responsible business strategy that identified emerging risks and opportunities relating to the long-
term success of the business and environmental and societal needs.  
 
Business environment  
 
External environment 
 
Political and regulatory  
 
We operate within a strict regulatory environment and work closely with our regulators to deliver a great service 
for our customers both now and in the future. 
 

 The Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat) regulates our prices and levels of customer service.  
 The Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) monitors drinking water quality 
 The Environment Agency (EA) covers environmental protection 
 CCW ( Consumer Council for Water) represents customers’ interests 
 Water Redress Scheme (WATRS) is an independent service designed to adjudicate disputes that 

have not been resolved through the water company’s customer service teams  by referring the matter 
to the Consumer Council for Water 

 Natural England (NE) is responsible for the protection of designated sites for nature conservation 
 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) deals with all aspects of policy relating to 

the water industry and we operate under a licence granted by the Secretary of State 
 Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure (CPNI) is the government authority for protective 

security advice to the UK national infrastructure 
 
The political and regulatory environment changes significantly over time and we ensure South East Water is 
able to respond to these changes. Where appropriate, we look to influence future policy through our 
participation in consultations and as active members of the water industry trade body, Water UK. Our aim is to 
ensure any changes that affect the outcomes for our customers, shareholders and other stakeholders are 
positive.  
 
South East Water has worked collaboratively with water companies across the country to prepare for the 
potential implications of the UK’s exit from the European Union. We are also working with our supply chain 
and putting measures in place to minimise any impact. We have been liaising with government, regulators and, 
on a local level, with Local Resilience Forums, to coordinate our planning.  
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Environmental 
 
Our business relies on a secure supply of our natural resource – water. We must protect both the quantity and 
quality of our key resource. With rainfall lower than in other parts of the country, the South East of England is 
officially designated as an area of serious water stress. Our water resources management plan (see pages 7 
and 8) is key to the management of our precious resource. As well as ensuring we have the supplies we need, 
now and into the future, we can also protect the quality of that water and reduce energy use through more 
efficient treatment processes.  
 
We recognise that good effective environmental management must be at the heart of all of our water supply 
operations, which is why it is embedded into all aspects of our work. It is something that we do every day 
through the management of our assets, delivery of our product and investment in the community in which we 
serve, live and work.  
 
Our planning into the future includes considering the effects of climate change, working to protect the 
environment from pollution caused by others as well as our own activities and reducing our carbon footprint. 
See page 29 for more information about our disclosures relating to climate change.  
 
We have a challenging ODI target to reduce our greenhouse gas footprint to 58kgCO2e/Ml by the close of  
2024/25 (our 2019/20 was at 225kgCO2e/Ml), this equates to approx. 80% reduction of our greenhouse 
footprint.  We are committed, along with the UK water companies, to become a net-zero industry by 2030 as 
part of the Public Interest Commitment. 
 
Our careful stewardship of the 2,000 hectares of land we own ensures our groundwater sources produce a top 
quality product as the natural filtering through underground aquifers means minimal additional treatment is 
needed. Where our water is sourced from surface water, such as rivers and reservoirs, we are working with 
local communities to improve the quality of the water within the catchment. Our water and farming partnership 
sees us work together with Natural England to support farmers with the management of the water catchment 
in their areas.  
 
We realise, as significant landowners, we have a tremendous responsibility in looking after our 33 sites which 
are within areas of Special Scientific Interest, including the national nature reserve at Lullington Heath in East 
Sussex, two nature reserves at Arlington Reservoir and Ardingly Reservoir in Sussex and numerous other 
areas of outstanding natural beauty. How we do this is the result of many years of careful and sensitive 
management of a wide variety of flora and fauna flourishing on our sites and we often work in partnership with 
Natural England and various wildlife trusts.  
 
We have invested £16.7 million in our national environmental programme between 2015 and 2020, completing 
42 schemes that cover various aspects of our operations. These include biodiversity, surface and groundwater 
catchment management, abstraction, the installation of flow meters and the implementation of new eel 
regulations which seek to protect an endangered species at risk from water treatment processes. This year we 
have implemented 10 pilot biodiversity plans which are being monitored and active conservation is being 
delivered. The aim of our pilots has been to establish the current value of the sites and to proactively manage 
the sites to develop rare, priority chalk grassland habitat. To deliver this work our environmental team has 
delivered 80 invertebrate, three bat, 28 reptile and seven botanical surveys during the year.   
 
Find out more at corporate.southeastwater.co.uk/about-us/our-environment/interreg-partnership. 
 
Social 
 
We have many people that care about our business, including our customers, our communities and our 
employees. Our performance, people and planet report for 2019/20 summarises how we are working to meet 
the different requirements of this diverse groups.  
 
An important development in our preparations for the business plan has been our focus on attitudinal customer 
segmentation. Historically, the water industry has tended to segment customers based on age, income or their 
metered or unmetered consumption of water.  
 
Our engagement with customers shows us that this is too simplistic and therefore we have the ability to 
segment our customers based on their attitudes to and awareness of water and usage, an approach we have  
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developed over several years. Successful retail businesses do this as a matter of course and through ongoing 
research with customer segments we believe the results will enable us to develop tailored communications 
and services that meet the differing needs and expectations of these groups for the future.  
 
Thinking about future generations, the impact we have on them as a business and how we will ensure we are 
sustainable is important. We take our corporate social responsibility very seriously as we plan for the future. 
Clearly the drinking water we supply is fundamental to the health and quality of life of our customers. The 
quality of the drinking water we supply is monitored at every stage of the treatment process through to when it 
flows from our customers’ taps.  
 
Our communities also benefit from the provision of educational, recreational and amenity opportunities that 
come from being able to access our land and from the contributions we make through donations, organised 
charitable events and the support of our employees in their voluntary activities.  
 
Our intention is to be a good neighbour and we take account of the views of our customers and the community 
in which we work to ensure we minimise any negative impact of our activities, particularly when delivering our 
capital programme. We also recognise our obligation to observe high standards of corporate governance in 
the way we conduct our affairs. See our Corporate Governance Statement on page 42. 
 
The average household water bill from 1 April 2020 fell by 0.1 per cent to £210 (including inflation). For this  
we supply safe, high-quality water for everyday needs such as drinking, washing and cooking which represents 
great value for money.  
 
We offer extra help for those struggling to pay their water bill or who are in debt. Our customer care team assist 
customers who are on a low income or in receipt of specific benefits. Our team has found the right assistance 
for 33,575 people by transferring them to our social tariff. In addition, we assist customers with a wide range 
of support tariffs, payment schemes and financial assistance through our charitable trust, “Helping Hand”. We 
expect the number of customers who are struggling to pay their water bill to increase as a result of the Covid-
19 pandemic. 
 
We work closely with Citizens Advice and other organisations to share good practice in debt management. 
Our customer care team work constantly with external partners to ensure that harder to reach customers did 
not miss out on support available to them. We want to ensure the bills our customers receive for their water 
services are accurate and easy to understand. There is a postcode checker which allows customers to quickly 
check their charges on our website. An interactive online bill is also available to help people understand their 
bill better. 
 
We know the value of our employees and the importance of engaging individuals in the decision-making of the 
business. We firmly believe that engaged employees go the extra mile to deliver a great service. We do this  
by embracing the Investors in People ethos of continuous improvement and measuring performance against 
our corporate objectives. This framework enables us to channel resources more effectively and harness the 
talent of our people towards achieving our company goals. We are proud to be accredited to the Silver 
Investors in People standard. Developments in our journey so far include improved training opportunities, 
better internal communications and ensuring all employees receive the living wage. We also require our 
contractors to receive the living wage – the sum above the minimum wage and we are accredited by the Living 
Wage Foundation. 
 
Technological  
 
Technology is always progressing and it is important as a business we keep up with these ever-changing 
innovations. Our Business Information Systems (BIS) team has implemented a number of new capabilities to 
provide better service to both our internal and external customers. 
 
Enhancements to our Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system include screen-popping, whereby 
customer details are automatically “popped up” on the contact centre agent’s screen based on the caller’s 
phone number. This means customers don’t need to wait for the agent to look up their details.  New functionality 
around customers’ bills and payment plans has transformed the ease with which agents are able to inform and 
advise customers over the phone, helping agents to provide the target “10 out of 10” service. 
 
Customers can now report a leak by submitting a photo of the leak via the South East Water website.  The  
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software captures the location details and, after verification by our technical centre, the leak is published on 
the “In Your Area” section of our website to provide visibility to all interested parties.   
 
Following the outbreak of Covid-19, a new form was added to the website enabling vulnerable customers to 
register for Priority Services. The website’s accessibility also has been upgraded and is now accredited as ‘AA’ 
according to the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCIG).   
 
New functionality added to our operational systems has focused around working smarter and improving 
performance.  A new Method Statement and Risk Assessment application simplifies information capture and 
streamlines the approval process. The Operational Calendar View system provides live visibility of all works at 
all operational sites for everyone who needs to know. The new Asset Data Exchange (ADE) enables the 
Engineering and Asset functions to systemise the capture of data for assets that are due for replacement or 
site refurbishment. 
 
To help manage communications to our key stakeholders, a layer was built on our geographical information 
system (GIS) to provide a spatial view of stakeholders in our area.  Using this visualisation tool enables us to 
know which stakeholders to update on events and major works. 
 
In our quest for a paperless office and seamless business processes, new features have been added to our 
HR and recruitment systems to completely digitise the on-boarding process for new starters.   
 
New cyber and information security measures were implemented in the year to ensure that our customers’ 
data is kept safe, secure, up-to-date and accessible only to those who have a need to know.   
 
Covid-19 provided the biggest challenge of the year for our IT team as South East Water moved to reduce 
office occupancy by 80% by enabling home working in the latter half of March.  Using existing technology and 
a new cloud-based contact centre platform for outbound calling, this target was achieved in two weeks. 
 
Internal factors  
 
People  
 
We know that we can only achieve our ambitions for customers with a thriving and creative team of people to 
deliver our promises. That is why we ensured our vision was as much about the people we work with as it is 
about those we work for. Protecting the interests of our employees and partners and ensuring that they are 
respected, fairly treated and highly motivated is a key objective through our “everyone counts” commitment.  
 
The health, safety and wellbeing of our employees is vital to our business. During the year we have built on 
our Thrive 365! Strategy, which sets out how health, safety and wellbeing is at the heart of everything that we 
do and supports our ambition to be the water company that people want to work for.  
 
This year there has been a focus on mental health and in November we held a company-wide management 
conference which served as the launch pad for the new mental health strategy. Expert speakers included the 
charity Mind and the Health and Safety Executive with a keynote speech by Clarke and Carrie Carlisle. 
Supporting events were held at cinemas throughout the region to ensure that all employees could engage with 
the strategy.  
 
Executive and Senior Management Team site tours have been undertaken throughout the year. These tours 
took in a variety of workplaces within South East Water and provided members of the senior management 
team with an opportunity to engage directly with the teams at the coal face on the health and safety issues 
most important to them.  
 
Our employee performance management framework, called iReview, supports the business objective of 
employee self-assessment. Developed in collaboration with managers and employees through focus groups, 
iReview provides a continuous approach of regular feedback from managers and recognition of achievements. 
Employees are able to assess their own performance against objectives as well as the new behavioural 
framework, tied to our values.  
 
Our performance, people and planet report details the work we are doing to continue to ensure we are the 
water company people want to work for. 
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Assets 
 
Keeping 14,780 kms of pipe, 83 treatment works, 86 boreholes and 254 pumping stations running efficiently 
requires the right investment at the right time. It is these assets that ensure we deliver a successful 24-hour 
water supply service for our customers. We use the latest technology and modelling capabilities to constantly 
assess the health of our assets which must be stable enough to deliver expected levels of service for many 
years ahead.  
 
In August 2019 we published our resilience action plan, a suite of additional activities that we are undertaking 
to further enhance how we manage our physical assets and infrastructure to ensure we maintain our water 
supply and distribution systems effectively. 
 
Gross capital investment in the year was £104.5 million (2019: £104.7 million). 
 
Business performance 
 
We use a range of measures and targets to track our performance during our five-year business plan. We call 
these “outcomes”. An outcome is our promise to customers, regulators and those with a stake in our business. 
It sets out what we are trying to achieve, rather than just what we will do. These include some innovative  
outcomes, relating to continuous assessments of our customers levels of satisfaction which will help us 
demonstrate how we keep our customers at the heart of everything we do.  
 
Traditionally, water companies have focused on output-based measures, for example the number of customer 
complaints, rather than focusing on how satisfied customers are and how they feel about the service they 
receive from their water company. In 2015/16 we introduced seven customer satisfaction measures where we 
contact customers at random on a monthly basis to understand how satisfied they are with elements of our 
service. The outcomes that are surveyed are as follows:  
 

 customers consider the appearance of their water to be acceptable 
 customers consider the taste and odour of their water to be acceptable 
 customers consider the level of leakage to be acceptable 
 customers consider their direct interaction experience to be positive 
 customers consider their water supply is of sufficient pressure 
 customers consider the frequency and duration of supply interruptions is acceptable 
 customers consider the frequency of water use restrictions to be acceptable 

 
Our customer satisfaction performance has remained stable for the majority of measures this year. The 
average score for the year is 4.3 out of 5 across our suite of measures. This means that the majority of our 
customers are either satisfied or very satisfied with the service we provide.  
 
The Service Incentive Mechanism (SIM) is a water industry customer satisfaction measure designed to 
encourage companies to provide a better service to their customers.  
 
In the year we reported a final SIM score of 78.43 as a proxy measure to Ofwat and a key indicator of our 
performance, despite this no longer being an ODI. During 2020 to 2025 this has now transitioned to the new 
Customer Measure of Experience Score (C-MeX) and during the last year we have been participating as part 
of a shadow year to better understand this new measure.  
 
Like SIM, the new C-MeX measure is a measure of customer satisfaction, but covers a broader range of 
customer measurement. C-Mex not only measures the satisfaction of customers who have contacted us but 
also adds the additional lens of surveying customers who have not contacted us. Our overall C-MeX score 
rose steadily over the last year, ending in a score of 73.36 out of 100. This score correlates very closely to our 
positioning in the SIM measure. This new measure will be linked to financial incentive rewards and penalties 
during 2020 to 2025.  
 
Customers can visit the website discoverwater.co.uk which gives everyone access to comparative 
information on the performance of water companies. We believe this is an important tool which enables 
customers and stakeholders, in particular our Customer Challenge Group, to compare the progress on our  
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targets with other water companies.  
 
For further information on all of our outcomes and targets please refer to our performance, people and planet 
report and table 3A in our Annual Performance Report. 
 
Resilience, risk management and business viability statement 
 
How we manage risks 
 
We have comprehensive systems of internal control and risk management and monitor their effectiveness 
regularly in compliance with the principles of our corporate governance code. This risk management framework 
is closely linked to how we monitor compliance with our statutory obligations and commitments, which is 
subject to external assurance by third parties. This ensures that the board and the audit and risk committee 
review all material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls.  
 
In January 2019 Ofwat published its Company Monitoring Framework Assessment 2018 in which we were 
recognised for the quality of the information we provide in most areas, but had four areas with minor concerns. 
This resulted in South East Water being moved into the “targeted” category.  
 
The report is an annual assessment on the quality of information and assurance all water companies provide  
to customers about their performance and is intended to challenge water companies to publish information 
that can trusted by their customers.  
 
Our “targeted” status from January 2019 means that we are required to publish a full analysis of the strengths, 
risks and weaknesses in relation to data and information provision and we need to publish a summary of the 
outcome of the assurance that has been carried out. In practice we have always published this for these 
elements while self-assured (though not required to), so the format of our company monitoring framework 
remains unchanged.  
 
We maintain a formal risk register and risk management system for the identification, evaluation and mitigation 
of risks. The board defines South East Water’s risk management framework and reviews the risks on the 
register and the effectiveness of the relevant mitigation measures at least once a year. The board also reviews 
monthly, quarterly and annual reports on performance which highlight risks and business or operational issues 
as they arise. The audit and risk committee monitors the effectiveness of our systems of risk management and 
internal controls on an ongoing basis.  
 
Individual managers and heads of department are responsible for identifying risks relevant to their area of 
responsibility and defining and implementing mitigation. Risks relevant to each directorate are monitored by 
the relevant director every month and the risk profile of a particular area is presented by the relevant head of 
department to the executive team each month ensuring that an in depth review of each department’s risks is 
carried out at regular intervals. 
 
Read more at southeastwater.co.uk/cmf 
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Key characteristics of our risk management model  
 

 Risk description – the tool ensures a consistent language regarding the description of risks is 
maintained. A risk must satisfy three criteria  

 Causes – are definite events or set of circumstances that exist which will give rise to uncertainty  
 Event – an uncertain event is the true risk, as it may or may not happen and gives rise to uncertain  

outcomes  
 Effects – are unplanned variations that would arise as a result of the risk occurring  
 Current controls – the controls that are already in place to deal with the identified risk  
 Likelihood – the likelihood of the risk occurring must be assessed using set criteria  
 Impact – risks are categorised and their impacts determined. There are 12 categories ranging from 

financial through to operational or reputational impacts. Each category has a defined level of impact 
ranging between insignificant and catastrophic. This allows for a consistent approach to be adopted 
across the whole of the business. Where appropriate a risk may have more than one category e.g. 
both financial and reputational  

 Current risk score – this is the product of impact and likelihood. The most catastrophic risk is 
calculated with a score of 25, with the most insignificant scored at 1  

 Mitigation – actions being undertaken to reduce or manage a risk. Once embedded these mitigation          
steps will form part of the current control assessment  

 Target risk score – A target risk score can be calculated to show where the risk level will be once the 
controls and actions are put in place 

 
Our risk management model uses standardised risk descriptions and categories for the control, impact and 
likelihood of risks. Each risk is allocated a priority score based on its potential impact and likelihood. The 
prioritisation of risks in the register takes account of the control and mitigation measures currently in place. 
Our risk management model also includes an assessment of planned mitigation measures. This gives visibility 
of the reduction in risk exposure expected from planned mitigation and is also used for reviewing the actual 
effectiveness of mitigation. This model allows the board to assess and manage risks at a strategic level and 
the executives to manage risks at an operational level.  
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Risks are reviewed regularly by the executive team and the board and our risk profile remains stable. A number 
of our risks have been impacted by Covid-19 therefore, controls and actions have been strengthened or put in 
place to mitigate these risks as much as possible.  
 
Our corporate risk register identifies risks that exist in the present and short-term. We have also extended the 
register to assess potential risks to ODI success in the 2020 to 2025 price control period.  In total 111 risks 
were identified as potentially having a direct impact to one or more ODI performance measures. Identifying 
these risks now ensures we are able to provide early mitigation to optimise performance across our 
commitments. 
 
This year we have also undertaken a review of the corporate risks from a responsible business perspective 
and these risks are reviewed with the responsible business board committee on a quarterly basis. 
 
To supplement the corporate risk register we are also currently undertaking an exercise to evaluate future 
risks, broadly targeting a rolling 10-plus year time span. An understanding of these risks will allow the business 
to plan and build resilience to the future threats that these risks may pose.  
 
Principal risks and uncertainties  
 
Principal risks are those which due to their likelihood or magnitude can significantly impact on the long-term 
success of our company. We considered their impact on our business model, future performance, solvency 
and liquidity and reviewed the adequacy of the mitigation in place as recorded in our risk register.  
 
As required by our corporate governance code, the audit and risk committee and the board carried out a robust 
review of our principal and strategic risks and of high impact and emerging risks on our risk register. We also 
compared them with risks identified by other companies in the water industry.  
 
We describe our principal risks, their potential impact and how they are managed on the following pages. 
These principal risks have been considered in the context of our business model and strategy. We have 
reflected the impact of Covid-19, which affects a number of our principal risks, based on our experience to 
date and our work with the water industry to assess the potential impact on our company, the water sector and 
the UK economy. 
 
Some of the risks described in this section will also bring business opportunities. We also take advantage of 
potential business improvements that arises from risk management and the implementation of mitigation. 
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Our Principal risks 
 

Category 
 

Risks description Mitigation  

Health & safety Our activities and assets present risks to the 
health and safety of our employees, contractors 
and the public.  
 
Failure to prevent accidents could have tragic 
implications for individuals and their families. 
There are severe criminal sanctions and civil 
sanctions for failing to have appropriate safety 
measures and failure to meet health and safety 
standards. 

We have comprehensive processes in place 
including policies, standard operating 
procedures, risk assessments and toolbox talks 
involving our employees, partners and 
contractors.  
 
We continuously take actions on training and 
awareness to ensure that our employees and 
contractors always adopt safe practices. 
 
We have continued to build on our Thrive 365! 
safety strategy designed to support the company 
vision and provide clear direction and a road map 
for continuous improvement of our health, safety 
and wellbeing performance with the roll out of a 
new mental health strategy.  
 
We have made significant changes to the way 
our business operates during the Covid-19 
pandemic and lockdown to protect our workforce 
and the public. We will continue to review and 
adapt our working practices to ensure we 
maintain the safety and wellbeing of our 
workforce as required by the evolution of the 
pandemic and in line with Government 
recommendations in 2020/21.  
 
Our Directors review health and safety 
performance at each board meeting.  

 
Water quality 

 
A water quality incident could lead to a failure to 
supply wholesome water and public health 
incidents which would significantly affect 
customer trust. This may also result in 
investigations and enforcement actions and 
potential prosecutions from the Drinking Water 
Inspectorate.  
 
Water quality events may also lead to significant 
costs being incurred and have a significant 
impact on our revenue, and prevent us from 
meeting our performance commitments. This 
could relate to our own water treatment facilities 
or to bulk supplies of treated water we receive 
from other water companies. 
 
 

 
We control water quality risk through the 
operation of our treatment works and distribution 
network which are constantly monitored.  We 
carry out extensive sampling of our water every 
day at our accredited laboratory.  
 
We follow the World Health Organization (WHO) 
water safety plan approach which includes risk 
assessments and management of all aspects of 
our water supply chain from catchment to 
customers’ taps.  
 
We invest in our treatment works to improve 
water quality and actively manage our 
catchments to reduce the discharge of chemicals 
by third parties. We have emergency plans for 
the deployment of alternative supplies if 
necessary. 
 
We have implemented a programme of flushing, 
network management and investment in our 
treatment works to meet our targets on 
discoloration contacts. 
 
We share lessons learnt with other companies 
which we use to update and improve our own 
practices and procedures.  
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Water quality 
(continued) 

 
 

We have maintained all our essential water 
quality activities during the Covid-19 pandemic 
and lockdown to ensure the safety of the water 
supply to our customers and the critical facilities 
we supply. We have put in place special 
measures for the protection of our employees in 
our laboratory as well as to improve the 
resilience of our laboratory in case some of our 
employees become infected. 

 
Operational 
performance 

 
Strategic asset failures and significant 
operational incidents (such as bursts, severe 
weather events, ground movements and 
naturally occurring sink holes or water quality 
events) may affect our ability to deliver a safe 
and uninterrupted water supply to a large 
number of customers or cause damage to third 
parties. This can lead to penalties and legal 
action and impact customers’ perception and 
satisfaction. This also leads to additional 
compensation costs.  
 
These risks may affect our own water 
infrastructure or those of other water companies 
that provide us with a bulk supply of treated 
water. 
 

 
We have established procedures and 
emergency plans for dealing with incidents and 
targeted investment to address specific 
operational risks when identified.  
 
We have put in place a dedicated operational 
steering group to identify potential risk and work 
on prevention and mitigation. We have put 
particular emphasis on this area to improve our 
performance on interruptions which was affected 
by a small number of large bursts at the 
beginning of the regulatory period and by the 
freeze/thaw in 2017/18.  
 
Following the freeze/thaw, we used our reports 
on lessons learnt to prepare and deliver a 
comprehensive action plan to improve our 
readiness, resilience and our response 
capabilities in case of severe weather events.  
 
We tested and adapted our operational plans in 
response to the Covid-19 outbreak to be able to 
protect the supply to critical facilities, to ensure 
the safety of our workforce and the public and to 
maintain social distancing when responding to 
incidents and especially supply interruptions due 
to bursts.  
 
We implemented changes to the monitoring and 
management of our water supply system to be 
able to limit the risk of outages and face 
unprecedented water demand during the 
lockdown.  

 
Market reforms  
 
 

 
The extension of competition on the non-
household retail market, the evolution of the new 
connections market, the introduction of 
competition for water resources, demand 
management and leakage services and the 
introduction of direct procurement at PR19 as 
well as the potential introduction of competition 
for household retail customers in the future 
create new risks of disruption to our business 
model and operations. There are implementation 
risks in establishing new methods of working and 
processes. They could also create new business 
opportunities. 
 
We could face reputational damage and possible 
enforcement action if we do not demonstrate 
compliance with the new market arrangements.  
 
We must also ensure continued compliance with 
competition law as the environment in which we 
operate evolves.  

 
We are keeping the proposals from Ofwat and 
government under review and contributing 
actively to ensure that risks are identified and 
taken into account in the definition of policy. We 
maintain up to date compliance processes in 
response to changes to regulation and market 
codes and we monitor our performance against 
market metrics. 
 
We are reviewing and anticipating the potential 
impact of regulatory changes on our ability to 
secure finance at no less favourable terms. 
 
We keep our commercial strategy and the 
structure of our business under review to be able 
to adapt to changes and to take advantage of 
new opportunities. 
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Adverse 
changes to the 
regulatory 
framework and 
political risks 

Decisions to change the approach to established 
aspects of the regulatory framework have an 
impact on our overall risk profile and on our 
medium and long-term planning.  
 
This included Ofwat’s decision to reduce the 
RCV and the use of CPI instead of RPI for the 
indexation of the RCV. 
 
Potential nationalisation (or renationalisation) of 
water companies has the potential to cause 
significant disruptions to our operations. It would 
potentially affect our existing financing 
structures. This creates uncertainty relating to 
our long-term planning and our ability to maintain 
the investment required to meet our long-term 
service obligations. Nationalisation could lead to 
the business being acquired below fair value. 

We are assessing the implications of political 
risks including the risk of nationalisation. We 
work with the industry and stakeholders to 
anticipate the potential effects of the proposals 
and to contribute actively to the debate to ensure 
that risks are identified and taken into account in 
the definition of policy proposals. 
 
We monitor changing expectations and 
perception by stakeholders of the role of 
business and utilities in society to align our 
culture, governance and strategy to the political 
and social environment in which we operate. 
 
 

 
Price 
determination 

 
The latest final determination by Ofwat 
introduces separate water resources and 
network plus wholesale price controls. It 
maintains the use of totex and outcome delivery 
incentives (ODIs) with reference to upper 
quartile performance and with the introduction of 
in-period reward/penalty adjustments. The final 
determination also introduced new customer 
satisfaction measures (C-MeX) and new 
developer services satisfaction measures (D-
Mex). These changes bring new compliance 
requirements, related compliance risks and 
additional risks of performance penalties.  
 
Successive final determinations determine our 
ability to carry out the investment necessary to 
be able to meet our long-term future obligations 
to maintain an efficient water supply system and 
to prepare for the impact of population growth, 
pressure on water resources and the 
environment, and the impact of climate change. 
There is a risk that the need for necessary 
investment in successive price determinations 
may not be fully demonstrated or recognised 
resulting in difficulties in the future to meet our 
obligations as long-term challenges such as 
climate change materialise.  

 
We have detailed processes to ensure 
compliance with our price determination and to 
ensure that we operate within the assumptions 
of the price determination (including ODIs and 
investment).  
 
We have processes to monitor and report on our 
compliance with regulatory obligations. 
 
We are continuously assessing the deliverability 
and finance ability of the final determination and 
any risk it may create for the company for the 
next regulatory period. 
 
The nature, scale and timing of any intervention 
from Ofwat to mitigate the financial impact 
arising from Covid-19 is not known at this stage. 
 

 
Delivery of 
business plan 
and 
performance 
against ODIs 

 
There are financial and reputational risks 
associated with a failure to deliver our business 
plan commitments and ODIs and our position at 
the next price determination may also be 
impacted. 
 
The introduction of in-period ODI adjustments 
could have an impact on our revenue during 
2020-25. There is an increased risks of 
performance penalties due to Ofwat’s approach 
to risk and return in its final determination.  
 
Our ODI performance could also be affected by 
incidents affecting other companies that provide 
us with a bulk supply of treated water. 
 
 
 

 
We have taken a number of business 
improvement initiatives to deliver our ODIs and 
ensure customer and employee engagement. 
Dedicated steering groups monitor key 
measures such as interruption, water quality, 
customer services, customer perception and 
leakage. 
 
We are implementing a resilience and innovation 
action plans to help achieve stretching 
performance commitments. 
 
Our corporate plan for 2020 to 2025 has been 
prepared on the basis of the final determination 
to achieve stretching performance 
improvements recognising the challenges 
brought by the final determination and the 
increased risk of performance penalty introduced 
by Ofwat’s approach to risk and return.  
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Delivery of 
business plan 
and 
performance 
against ODIs 
(continued) 

  
We identified and started the early 
implementation of business changes required to 
deliver our performance commitments.  
 
We are continuously monitoring and forecasting 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on our 
ability to deliver our performance commitments, 
invest efficiently and maintain our financial 
resilience throughout the rest of the five=year 
period to 2025, taking account of the operational 
and economic impact of the pandemic on our 
ability to plan for and commence the delivery of 
our performance commitment delivery plans in 
2020/21 and the ongoing impact it will have on 
the economic environment, our supply chain, 
delivery partners and our customers. We 
anticipate that Covid-19 will affect our 
performance against our commitments due to 
potential shortages of staff, delays in materials 
production, the impact of social distancing on our 
operations and those of our contractors and 
partners, and initial delays in implementing our 
action plans. 

 
Investment 
programme 
delivery 

 
We need to ensure that we efficiently deliver the 
investment necessary to maintain and improve 
our services to customers and to meet our long-
term future obligations. The risks affecting the 
delivery of our investment are internal, relating to 
the management of the delivery of our 
programme, and external such as extreme 
weather conditions, incidents affecting the 
works, supply chain risks or significant events 
affecting the wider economy.  
 
 

 
We have comprehensive processes involving 
our asset, engineering and operations functions 
to ensure that projects are planned and delivered 
on time and budget. Projects are reviewed by an 
investment committee and a programme 
management office. Project scopes and planned 
efficiencies are reviewed with our engineering 
partner and the early involvement of our 
framework contractors to identify risks and 
opportunities for innovation and savings. 
 
Our priority and that of our supply chain is to 
protect our workforce which will have a 
significant impact on our ability to deliver our 
capital programme in 2020/21. We are 
continuously monitoring and forecasting the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on our ability to 
deliver our investment and have reviewed our 
investment programme to take account of the 
impact of the lockdown and the persistent effect 
the illness will continue to have in 2020/21.   
 
We are reviewing how we may achieve our 
efficiencies recognising that the unprecedented 
challenges we and our supply chain face will 
have an impact on our ability to deliver our 
targeted efficiencies and result in additional 
contract costs. A potential increase in input costs 
as the supply chain seeks to recover would also 
affect our efficiencies. 

 
Water 
resources and 
climate change 

 
Failure to develop our infrastructure, to improve 
its resilience and to manage demand would 
mean that we would not be able to meet our 
statutory duties and meet future demand.  
 
Climate change will increase instances of severe 
flooding and drought which affect the availability 
of resources and the operation of our 
infrastructure and result in additional costs which 
will affect the financial resilience of the company 
in the long term. 

 
We operate in an area of serious water stress 
and manage demand through our metering 
programme which was completed by 2020. We 
have an ambitious programme to drive 
behavioural changes from customers for 2020 to 
2025. 
 
We have also consistently met our leakage 
targets and have committed to significant 
leakage reductions at PR19.  
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Water 
resources and 
climate change 
(continued) 

Our ability to deliver the investment needed to 
meet our future obligations also depends on 
external factors such as the outcome of 
successive final determinations and how climate 
change is addressed in our political and 
regulatory environment and by other sectors on 
which we rely for our operations. 

Our Water Resources Management Plan is 
developed to take account of opportunities for 
cooperation between water companies in the 
south east. 
 
We also invest in flood protection at our 
operational sites and to improve our resilience to 
power outages, and manage drought risks 
through a dedicated team. We have a significant 
programme of environmental schemes including 
to manage the impact of our water abstraction.  
 
We are planning for climate change adaptation 
and incorporate climate change scenarios in our 
long-term water resources and drought planning.  
 
We have adopted an emission reductions target 
by 2025 supported by our carbon reduction 
strategy and have adopted the public interest 
commitment to achieve net zero carbon 
emissions as a sector by 2030.  
 
We are progressively adopting the 
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate 
Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) to 
ascertain and quantify the financial impact of 
climate change on the company. 

 
Regulatory and 
legal 
compliance 

 
Our business operates within a specific 
legislative and regulatory framework and many 
of our activities have an impact on the 
environment. Failure to ensure compliance with 
regulatory and legislative requirements may lead 
to criminal and civil liability, regulatory 
enforcement actions and disruption to the 
business and loss of management time. It would 
also affect the perception of South East Water by 
customers, regulators and other stakeholders 
and affect the trust they have placed in us as a 
provider of an essential public service. 

 
We have a wide range of policies, processes and 
controls to ensure that we meet our duties and 
obligations. We also monitor compliance with our 
statutory obligations for the purpose of reporting 
on our performance and for the purpose of our 
ODIs. We review annually compliance 
performance and processes with the relevant 
department. We monitor changes to compliance 
requirements in order to adapt our processes 
and policies when required.    
 

 
Security and 
information 
security 

 
The security and resilience of our information 
infrastructure is essential to maintain our service 
to the public. We must protect ourselves from 
loss of data and systems and cyber-attacks and 
keep customers’ data up-to-date and safe. 
 
Failure to protect personal data may lead to 
fines, enforcement actions and legal actions and 
would cause reputational damage. Loss or 
corruption of data would result in disruption to the 
business and additional costs. 
 
We must ensure compliance with the new 
requirements imposed by the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the EU 
Directive on the security of Network and 
Information Systems. 

 
Our corporate security steering group 
continuously monitors all physical and data 
security aspects and data protection to identify 
new risks and the effectiveness of our security 
processes. We have department champions who 
are specially trained on these issues and we 
continuously promote awareness of risks, 
highlighting how unsafe behaviour could be 
exploited by external threats.  
 
We maintain disaster recovery systems and 
facilities which are regularly tested. We invested 
in security measures against unauthorised 
access to our systems and in software to help us 
monitor activity on our network. We achieved 
recognised cyber security certifications. We work 
with relevant external organisations to test the 
effectiveness of our resilience and security 
measures and review the maturity of our security 
systems and procedures.  
 
We maintain this risk as a high level risk due to 
the constant emergence of new threats and the 
risk of exploitation of vulnerabilities that may not 
have yet been fixed by software providers. 
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Security and 
information 
security 
(continued) 

 We have implemented an extensive programme 
to achieve readiness for GDPR and continue to 
develop our GDPR compliance. 
 
Our reliance on IT systems to manage the 
activities of our front line staff and to maintain our 
normal activities through home working has 
meant that the security and resilience of our IT 
systems and the impact of any downtime is much 
greater than before Covid-19. We have updated 
our risk management process and practices to 
recognise this change in our risk profile in this 
area. 

 
Financing  

 
Unfavourable market conditions (including the 
impact of Covid-19 and of “Brexit”) and 
regulatory changes may affect our ability to 
obtain financing or low interest rates. We must 
ensure that we comply with covenants in our 
agreements with our debt providers and maintain 
our credit rating. 
 

 
We continuously monitor and report regularly to 
our board on compliance with our financial 
covenants.  
 
We have successfully completed the refinancing 
of a significant part of our debt in 2019 and have 
maintained our credit rating 2019/2020. Our 
refinancing has allowed us to reduce gearing 
and also gives us additional flexibility to further 
gearing reduction.  
 
The next steps of our refinancing will be due in 
2025 and 2026. Additionally, our capital 
expenditure and working capital borrowing 
facility matures in June 2022. We will continue to 
monitor markets and the impact of Covid-19 as 
we plan and prepare for these. 
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Bad debt 

 
Customer bad debt and increased collection 
costs is an issue faced by all water companies 
which affects cash and liquidity and the cost 
incurred to recover income. 

 
We maintain strict processes for the collection of 
debt and take steps to encourage payments 
through direct debits. We have maintained a 
good performance on collection of bad debt but 
keep the effectiveness of our recovery process 
under constant review.  We also offer a social 
tariff and other similar tariffs to assist customers 
who may struggle to pay. 
 
We have reviewed our approach to customer 
engagement and are implementing a number of 
new initiatives on affordability and vulnerability 
led by a new dedicated team. 
 
Depending on the severity and the longevity of 
the pandemic, domestic customers more directly 
affected by the impact of the lockdown and social 
distancing measures on the economy may face 
difficulties paying their bills which will increase 
the level of bad debt. We have suspended our 
debt collection practices in the first part of 
2020/21, extended our social tariff and adapted 
payment terms to support our customers 
affected by the economic impact of the 
pandemic. We will continue to monitor the level 
of bad debt and the needs of our customers in 
2020/21 and beyond.  
 
As some business sectors are severely 
negatively impacted by reductions in demand 
driven by the lockdown and social distancing 
measures, this could lead to an increase in bad 
debt. This can become more focussed in the 
non-household retail market and trigger retailer 
default where cash flows are already constrained 
by market arrangements. 
 
The impact of these potential retailer defaults are 
somewhat mitigated by the security 
arrangements that have been put in place in the 
market to minimise the impact of such a default 
on the wholesaler. 

 
Human 
resources and 
culture 
changes 

Employee retention and talent management is 
important to deliver performance and maintain 
company knowledge, especially in operational 
areas with a more mature workforce and the 
need to manage planned retirements. 

We have implemented a successful 
apprenticeship scheme in operations and the 
“Steps to Leadership” programme is developing 
managers over four levels. 
 
We have extensively communicated our values 
and objectives with employees to ensure their 
support and their involvement in cultural 
changes required to deliver the next step of 
performance improvements. We will continue 
this change programme to embed our purpose 
and values into our day to day activities 
throughout the next five years. 
 
Our people plan includes a number of initiatives 
on diversity, talent management and succession 
planning.  
 
Our response to Covid-19 has been guided by 
two priorities: the need to maintain the water 
supply to our customers and critical facilities and 
the need to protect and support our front line 
employees as well as enabling home working for 
all those able to. Our human capital has allowed  
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us to adapt and to continue to provide our service 
and we have been consulting with our workforce 
about the lessons we can learn from this and 
how our methods of working may evolve in the 
future. 

 
Economic 
Environment, 
Covid-19 and 
Brexit 

 
Changes to the economic environment of the UK 
due to the lasting effects of Covid-19 and the 
impact of “Brexit” depending on the outcome of 
the negotiations between the UK and the EU will 
affect our business.  
 
The UK economy and the world economy will be 
significantly and durably affected by the Covid-
19 pandemic which will impact the company and 
its customers.  
 
The risk of a temporary disruption and of a 
negative economic impact of a “no-deal” Brexit 
remains even if there will be more time for 
preparation. 
 
 

 
We are working to anticipate the impact of 
macro-economic changes on our business and 
the other impact on our operations. We are 
monitoring changes in the economic 
environment as well as considering the impact of 
future tax changes. 
  
We are considering the potential direct impact on 
our operation and financial position as more 
detailed information becomes available on the 
expected long-term impact of Covid-19 on the 
UK economy.  
 
Our current assessment has been based on the 
“Impact of Coronavirus on the UK water industry” 
report commissioned by Water UK which was 
developed to assess the potential impact on the 
regulated business on a sector-wide basis of the 
Covid-19 pandemic; the implications of the 
Covid-19 pandemic we have observed to date; 
and our initial risk analysis taking into account 
the characteristics of the business and the nature 
of the pandemic. Our forecast is based on 
different assumptions on the longevity and 
severity of the pandemic.  
 
We anticipate that the economic impact of Covid-
19 will affect: (i) domestic and business 
customers with increased levels of bad debt in 
the future, (ii) liquidity and consequent additional 
borrowing costs; (iii) input costs which may rise 
as the supply chain seeks to recover, (iv) ODI 
penalties due to external factors affecting our 
operations and performance, (v) new 
development activities and non-regulated 
business activities due to the downturn.  

 
Economic 
Environment, 
Covid-19 and 
Brexit 
(continued) 

 We monitor the impact of these factors on our 
business and on our credit ratings and the risk of 
downgrade. We are in contact with rating 
agencies to understand how they will interpret 
the position of water companies in the context of 
Covid-19.  
 
We continue to monitor the development of the 
negotiations between the UK Government and 
the EU relating to Brexit and to maintain 
contingency plans prepared in relation to a “no-
deal” Brexit.  
 
The water industry has developed a national 
readiness and risk mitigation plan to prepare for 
a “no-deal” Brexit in consultation with Defra, the 
Drinking Water Inspectorate, the Environment 
Agency, public health bodies and other relevant 
authorities. An incident management manual for 
operating in these circumstances has been 
developed by the industry. Emergency planning 
exercises were also carried out.  
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The industry and our own plans include the 
creation of additional stocks of chemicals by both 
companies and their suppliers to the extent 
permitted by shelf-life and safety requirements, 
the review of the suppliers’ supply chains and 
their readiness, and the creation of additional 
stocks of materials and equipment.  
 
Our preparation is integrated with our incident 
management plans and our preparation is 
managed by a specific incident management 
team.  
 

Swan Group 
 
Swan Group’s principal activity during the year and for the foreseeable future is that of an intermediate holding 
company. Swan Group’s main investments during the 2019/20 financial year were 100% of the share capital of 
Swan Property Limited (“SPL”), a property management and investment company. Swan Group is a private 
company with an unlimited liability. 
 

Swan Property Limited 
 
Swan Property Limited (SPL) is a private company limited by shares. The principal activity of SPL during the 
year and for the foreseeable future is buying land and properties from other members of the HDF group as 
investments and developing and/or refurbishing them with a view to increasing their long term investment 
potential and selling them at some time in the future.  
 
In March 2015 the company sold land at Hermitage Lane, Maidstone, Kent. The contract of sale contained an 
“overage payment” clause, entitling the group to additional proceeds in the event of certain criteria being met 
for which the payment date was 31 March 2020.  
 
Negotiations have now concluded resulting in the company receiving £0.9 million in June 2020. This valuation 
of this land has been updated to reflect this result at 31 March 2020. 
 

South East Water (Finance) Limited 
 
South East Water (Finance) Limited is a private company limited by shares and registered in the Cayman 
Islands, although resident in the UK for tax purposes. This company’s principal activity during the year and for 
the foreseeable future is the raising of external finance on behalf of the group of companies headed by HDF 
and subsequently lending monies to companies within that group. During the year South East Water (Finance) 
Limited received interest on loans made to other group undertakings and paid interest on loans raised from 
external sources. 
 
South East Water (Finance) Limited’s financial instruments comprise fixed and variable rate external  
borrowings, fixed and variable rate loans to its immediate parent company, South East Water and other 
amounts owed to and owed by group undertakings  
 
During the year, South East Water (Finance) Limited repaid £311 million of listed bonds and related interest 
rate swap costs, which matured on 30 September 2019. Correspondingly, the company also received £311 
million from its parent company in settlement of the loan and related swap with South East Water on 30 
September 2019. 
 
Derivative activity is undertaken by South East Water (Finance) Limited on behalf of the group headed by HDF, 
as determined by its board. The board considers the overall risk profile of the group and enters into derivatives 
to mitigate or hedge any risks identified as appropriate. No derivatives are undertaken for trading purposes or 
to benefit for speculative purposes. 
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Hastings Water (UK) Limited 
 
Hastings Water (UK) Limited is a private company limited by shares. The principal activity of Hastings Water 
(UK) Limited during the year and for the foreseeable future is that of an intermediate holding company. Its 
principal subsidiaries include South East Water (Holdings) Limited, South East Water Limited and South East  
Water (Finance) Limited.  
 
During the year Hastings Water (UK) Limited entered into a new variable rate loan with Hastings (Luxembourg) 
Water S.à.r.l. for £54.4 million repayable on 20 December 2023. Hastings Water (UK) Limited subsequently 
purchased 54 million new shares in South East Water (Holdings) Limited at a consideration of £54 million. 

 
South East Water (Holdings) Limited 
 
South East Water (Holdings) Limited is a private company limited by shares. The principal activity of South 
East Water (Holdings) Limited during the year and for the foreseeable future is that of an intermediate holding 
company. Its principal subsidiaries include South East Water Limited and South East Water (Finance) Limited. 
 
During the year South East Water (Holdings) Limited issued 54 million new ordinary shares of £1 each to its 
immediate parent company, Hastings Water (UK) Limited, at par. The proceeds from the new share issue was 
used to repay £54 million of its £190 million loan with South East Water Limited. 
 
Hastings (Luxembourg) Water S.a.r.l. 
 
Hastings (Luxembourg) Water S.à.r.l. is a Luxembourg holding company incorporated as a Société à 
Responsabilité Limitée for an unlimited period of time subject to general company law. The registered office of 
Hastings (Luxembourg) Water S.à.r.l. is established at 5, rue Guillaume Kroll, L-1882 Luxembourg. 
 
The principal activity of Hastings (Luxembourg) Water S.à.r.l. during the year and for the foreseeable future is 
raising of external finance on behalf of the group of companies headed by HDF and subsequently lending 
monies to companies within that group. During the year Hastings (Luxembourg) Water S.à.r.l. received interest 
on loans made to other group undertakings and paid interest on loans raised from external sources.  
 
In December 2018 the company entered into a new committed loan facility of £150 million. At 1 April 2019, the 
undrawn amount of this facility was £54 million which was drawn down on 12 September 2019. This amount 
formed part of the loan of £54.4 million to Hastings Water (UK) Limited on the same date. 
 

Other Group Companies 
 
Southern Utilities (Holdings) Limited and MKW Holdco 1 have not traded during either the current or preceding 
years. 
 

Group financial performance  
 
Revenue  
 
The group revenue is solely generated by South East Water Limited, which is the main trading company within 
the group. The turnover for the year was £243.5 million compared to the previous year of £238.3 million. Under 
the regulatory price control mechanism, our revenue is allowed to increase each year. In 2019/20 our tariffs 
increase was five per cent. There was additional revenue generated from an increase in prices of £11.9 million.  
 
The increased turnover was offset by: 
 

 Lower consumption of £4.2 million, compared to the high demands in the summer of 2018 
 Lower revenue from the switch from unmeasured to measured supply of £1.7 million 
 Additional social tariff allowances given to customers of £0.8 million 

 
Other income has shown a small reduction of £0.8 million which is partly due to the prior year containing a  
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£0.4 million discount on the purchase of the debt book from Invicta Water Limited following the transfer and 
subsequent sale of the non-household business in summer 2018 and a reduction in income of £0.4m in respect 
of billing and cash collection services. 
 
As the south east of England is classed as an area of water stress, one of our strategic objectives is to improve 
water efficiency by increasing the number of customers on metered supply. This is part of our longer term 
strategy to monitor and improve water efficiency. Approximately 84 per cent of our water revenue is from  
measured supply in the year. This has increased from 78 per cent in the previous year. 
 
Operating expenditure 
  
Our operating costs for the year, including charges for doubtful debts, have increased from £165.1 million to 
£175.2 million, an increase in costs of £10.1 million. The most significant impact on costs in the year was  
additional depreciation of £3.3 million in respect of new assets introduced to operations during the year, 
including £0.1 million in respect of ‘right-of-use’ leased assets as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 April 
2019. There was also an additional charge for doubtful debts of £2.6 million to reflect an increase in older debt 
(£1.9 million) and provision for the impact of a potential downturn in the economy (£0.7 million).  Other 
increases include £1.3 million of additional energy and bulk water supply charges due to increased prices in 
the year, £1.7 million of additional contractor costs, including higher maintenance costs and £0.7 million costs 
associated with the impact of the UK’s exit from the European Union. Furthermore, there were additional 
inflationary cost pressures of £0.6 million. 
 
Whilst the impact of the Covid-19 outbreak has not materially impacted our cost base in 2019/20, there is the  
potential for an economic downturn in 2020/21 which may mean that we need to make further provision against 
our customer debt incurred next year.    
 
Partly offsetting this were lower debt collection fees of £0.5 million following additional charges incurred in  
2018/19 following the exit from the non-household retail market.  
 
Operating profit 
 
Operating profit has decreased from £86.2 million to £80.5 million, the reduction of £5.7 million is due to the 
net impact of increased revenue of £4.4 million and operating costs of £10.1 million as detailed above. 
 
Finance costs 
 
Finance costs are incurred on our borrowings which include fixed rate and index linked and variable rate loans. 
The maturity dates on our borrowings range from 2023 to 2042. The finance costs incurred in the year were 
£65.7 million compared to £68.2 million in the previous year. The reduction in costs are largely due to the lower 
finance costs of the new loans replacing the bonds that matured in September 2019 (£2.4 million). Further 
details in respect of the finance costs incurred in the year are set out in note 12. 
 
Finance income was £1.0 million in the year, an increase of £0.1 million compared to the previous year. 
 
Profit before tax 
 
Profit before tax for the year was £16.6 million compared to £19.5 million in the previous year. This reduction  
in profit reflects the operating performance described above. The profit on the sale of the group’s non-
household business of £7.9 million was a discontinued operation and has been excluded from the profit before 
tax for the prior year. 
 
Profit after tax 
 
Profit after tax has decreased from £21.9 million in the prior year to £2.1 million. Tax of £14.5 million has been 
charged in the year compared to a charge in the prior year of £5.5 million. The increase in deferred tax is 
largely due to the change in the rate of corporation tax from 17 per cent to 19 per cent from 1 April 2020 as 
announced by the Government in the March 2020 budget. Further details on current and deferred tax are set 
out in note 13 to the accounts. 
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Treasury 
 
Our treasury policy seeks to ensure that sufficient funding is available to meet foreseeable requirements and 
maintain appropriate headroom for contingencies. We manage the financial risks of the business through a 
series of hedging policies and ensure that our short and long term facilities are appropriate to the strategic 
objectives of the business. Our policy considers inflation risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and investment 
criteria.  
 
Pensions 
 
The group pays contributions to the South East Water and Mid Kent Water defined benefit schemes which 
both closed on 31 March 2015 to future accrual. During the year £3.9 million was paid to the South East Water 
scheme and £1.4 million was paid to the Mid Kent Water scheme.  
 
These contributions are broadly in line with the prior year. Further details on these schemes are set out in note 
32 to the accounts. In addition the group operates and funds a stakeholder pension scheme which is a defined 
contribution scheme. During the year approximately 900 employees contributed to the scheme and the group 
made payments of £2.4 million by way of employer contributions to this scheme (2019: £2.1 million). 
 
Net Debt and cash flow 
 
We use a combination of long term funding and short term working capital to finance the extensive capital 
programme and to fund the ongoing operations of the business. During the year the net operating cash 
generated was £133.7 million compared to £124.8 million in the prior year. Net payments in respect of capital 
expenditure in the year totalled £98.2 million compared to £90.2 million in the prior year. Net payments in 
respect of interest and other finance costs were £39.0 million in the year. This is higher than the previous 
year’s net payment of £31.5 million due to a full year’s interest being paid on the maturing bonds in September 
2019 together with six months interest on the new replacement loans. The refinancing of the group’s £200 
million bonds that matured in September 2019 are detailed on page 32 and resulted in a net cash outflow of 
£2.5 million. 
 
The group statement of cash flows on page 59 shows the cash balance has decreased from £33.5 million at 
the beginning of the financial year to £30.1 million at the end of the year.  
 
The interest rate benchmark LIBOR is expected to cease at the end of 2021 and will no longer be published 
from this time. It is expected that LIBOR will be replaced by a reformed version of the Sterling Overnight Index 
Average (SONIA). 
 
The group has a number of financial instruments which interest rates are linked to LIBOR. A review is currently 
being undertaken to assess the impact of the new rate on the affected financial instruments and the 
implications for the loan documentation of these specific loans. 
 
Dividend 
 
The group dividend policy is to ensure that a suitable return is paid to our shareholders, while ensuring that 
the group is able to finance the business and meet the requirements of our instrument of appointment, both as 
at the date of the proposed dividend and prospectively. When assessing the appropriate level of dividend, 
considerations will include the group’s actual and forecast level of gearing, the need to maintain the group’s 
credit rating, the allowed cost of capital, and the performance of the group. Dividends paid in the year were 
£nil (2019: £10.0 million). 
 
Taxation and tax policy 
 
Our taxation strategy is discussed in the directors’ report and SEWL’s regulatory annual performance report. 
A detailed explanation of our tax policy is available on our website.  
 

Energy, carbon and climate related reporting 
 
The reporting on emission and climate related matters relates primarily to South East Water Ltd (South East 
Water) which is the only operating company in the group. HDF (UK) Holdings operates only as a holding  
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company and the other trading companies in the group (excluding South East Water) carry out administrative 
functions. The group emissions are equivalent to those of South East Water and the rest of this section relates 
therefore to the emissions South East Water and it actions in relation to climate change.  
 
Emissions are measured and reported under scope 1, 2 or 3 using the methodology described below and 
climate change risks are integrated into South East Water’s long-term plans and business plans.  
 
Mandatory and voluntary reporting on emissions is set out below as well as information on the strategy to 
manage climate change risks and reduce emissions and the impact on the environment.  
 
Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (SECR) 
 
The information set out below is provided as required under Part 7A, Schedule 7 large and medium sized 
companies and groups (accounts and reports) regulations 2008.  
 
 GHG Emissions 2019-20 Unit 
    
1 Annual quantity of GHG emissions for the purposes of transport 1785 tCO2e 
    
 No gas is used for the purpose of transport. The consumption of fuel for the purpose of transport 

falls into several categories: fleet vehicles, group cars. 
  
2 Annual quantity of GHG emissions resulting from the purchase of 

electricity for own use (including for the purpose of transport) 
36,255 tCO2e 

    
 Electricity was not used for the purpose of transport in the reporting year. The electricity usage is 

divided into three categories: pumping, treatment and administration. 
  
3 Aggregate equivalent kWh for emissions under 1 and 2 above 149,143,179 kWh 
    
4 GHG emission intensity metric   
 Operational GHG emissions per mega litre of treated water based on the 

emissions set out under 1 and 2 above. 
198 kgCO2e 

/Ml 
 
Methodology 
This reporting is carried out using the UKWIR Carbon Accounting Workbook (CAW) provided for all UK water 
companies to give a consistent and transparent approach for accounting greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
from annual operational activities. 
 
The CAW provides estimates of the GHGs identified in the Kyoto Protocol, which are produced as a result of 
the operational activities of water and wastewater companies, including water treatment and distribution, waste 
water collection and treatment, and sludge management. Estimates are made following guidance published 
by Defra and BEIS, as well as international guidance where required.   
The tool is used by UK water companies to report progress internally and prepare information for reporting 
performance to regulatory bodies, voluntary reporting schemes and customers. The tool is updated annually 
as required in line with UK publication of conversion factors used for estimating GHG emissions.  The report 
is therefore a suitable tool to report SECR requirements. 
 
The data is compiled from various sources across the business and placed into a carbon accounting 
information pack before being transcribed into the appropriate areas of the CAW. This allows the CO2e figures 
for the Group to be compiled which are then externally audited. This data is then used to calculate the total 
associated kWh for purchased energy and transport using recent year emission factors. 
 
Principal measures taken in 2019-20 for increasing the group’s energy efficiency 
We continually review how we can minimise our carbon emissions which includes assessing potential 
renewable options, an in-depth energy management review, extended metering, and our capital maintenance 
programme replacing older assets such as pumps with newer more efficient pumps which will reduce our 
energy consumption and carbon emissions.  
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We are also exploring more advanced analytics surrounding energy, identifying sites that are inefficient based 
on energy trends and would therefore benefit from a revised process or improved assets. 
 
Most of the Group’s carbon intensity (81 per cent) is driven by the use of electricity for water pumping and 
distribution. In 2019/20, we achieved approximately a 30 per cent reduction in power consumption in peak 
demand times. Our total energy usage saw a reduction during the year of over 1,280,821kWh. 
 
With 12% of the remaining carbon intensity from transport (4 per cent) and outsourced contractors (8 per cent) 
we are working at improving our analytics on our fleet. We have moved to BP’s cloud based portal containing 
our fleet fuel usage which will help us identify inefficient vehicles as well as exploring the potential for electric 
vans. 
 
We provide more details on further initiatives and on our strategy in relation to carbon emissions and climate 
change below.  
 
Scope 1, 2 and 3 energy and carbon reporting  
  
Using the methodology described above we measure and report on all our scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions annually 
and a summary is provided below.  
 
Scope 1 (direct) emissions are emissions from activities owned or controlled by the company that release 
emissions into the atmosphere. 
 
Scope 2 (energy indirect) emissions are emissions associated with our consumption of purchased electricity, 
heat, steam and cooling. 
 
Scope 3 (other indirect) emissions are emissions that are a consequence of our actions and that occur at 
sources that we do not own or control, and that are not classed as Scope 2 emissions (for example, emissions 
from business travel by means not owned or controlled by us or emissions associated with our supply chain). 
 
    2019-20 Unit 
Scope 1 1 Direct emissions from burning of fossil fuels (including 

natural gas CHP* generated onsite) 
 484 tCO2e 

 2 Process and fugitive emissions*  1,106 tCO2e 
 3 Transport: Group owned or leased vehicles  1,785 tCO2e 
Scope 2 4 Total grid electricity used by Group (including CHP** 

electricity purchased) 
 36,255 tCO2e 

Scope 3 5 Business travel on public transport and private vehicles 
used for Group business 

 41 tCO2e 

 6 Outsourced activities (if not included in Scope 1 or 2) 
Energy and other 

 3935 tCO2e 

 7 Total grid electricity used by company (including CHP 
electricity purchased) – Transmission and Distribution*** 

 3,078 tCO2e 

Gross 
emissions 

8 Gross operational emissions  46,683 tCO2e 

Intensity 
metric 

9 Operational GHG emissions per Mega litre of treated 
water 

 209 kgCO2e 
/Ml 

  This metric includes all scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions for 
energy for pumping and treatment except energy 
emissions relating to administration. (This metric 
includes emissions from diesel generators used at sites 
and from ozonation at sites.) 

   

 
*Process emissions are a consequence of physical or chemical processes (for example in our water treatment).  
Fugitive emissions include intentional and unintentional releases (for example refrigerant in air conditioning 
units). 
**CHP - Combined Heat and Power – a process that captures and utilises the heat that is a by-product of the 
electricity generation process. 
***Electricity which is lost in the transport and distribution system used for delivering purchased electricity. 
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Integrating climate risks and climate adaptation into our long-term strategic planning 
 
Our core responsibilities include planning for future water resources and for events such as droughts while 
investing efficiently and protecting the environment.  
 
To fulfil these responsibilities we prepare strategic statutory plans and in particular our Water Resources 
Management Plan (WRMP) and Drought Plan. The impact of climate change is a central consideration in the  
development of these plans both to calibrate our scenarios and assumptions and to select the most appropriate 
solutions and investments to develop water resources, improve the resilience of our supply system and 
manage demand. 
 
We also maintain a resilience action plan which helps us ensure the resilience of our assets and services, not 
only to face incidents and weather events but also to face the long-term change to climate patterns caused by 
global warming.  
 
We have already prepared two Climate Change Adaptation Reports which provides strategic direction and 
context to our long-term planning activities and we will be updating our Climate Change Adaptation Report 
ready for publishing in advance of December 2021. 
 
Extending our reporting in line with the TCFD recommendations 
 
We are building on our existing work in relation to energy and carbon reporting and climate adaptation to 
develop our strategy and reporting following the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate Related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD).  
 
Our aim is to develop a comprehensive and integrated approach to the management of climate change risks 
that is at the core of our long-term planning and our related disclosures. We are developing a plan of action 
for 2020-21 for the implementations of the TCFD recommendation as well as for the update to our Climate 
Change Adaptation Report and in particular for the development of scenarios that will support a consistent 
approach for our long-term strategic planning and our future financial disclosures under TCFD.  
 
We summarise below our current approach to climate related risks and opportunities following the four thematic 
areas set out in the TCFD recommendations: governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets.  
 
Governance 
The board of South East Water has effective oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities. Climate-
related risks are included within South East Water’s Corporate Risk Register which is regularly reviewed by 
the Executive Directors and annually by the board.  The Corporate Risk Register includes details of any 
appropriate controls and mitigating actions. 
 
Any relevant targets related to climate change are agreed by the board and, specifically the target to reduce 
carbon emissions, are included within the published performance commitments each year. 
 
Our Climate Change Adaptation Plan has identified priority risks from climate change and how these impact 
South East Water’s functions and activities across the business. We have identified mitigations and monitoring 
plans to adapt to climate change impacts. Our WRMP includes consideration of different climate change 
scenarios on our security of water supply and we have incorporated measures to address climate change 
impacts into our plans as appropriate. 
 
Strategy 
We have a statutory requirement through our WRMP to be resilient to climate change and will publish an 
updated Climate Change Adaptation Plan in advance of the deadline of December 2021. 
 
Included in our business plan for 2020-25 is an ambitious target to reduce our emissions to 58 kgCO2e/Ml by 
2025, including all scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions. This represents a reduction of our emissions of 80% by 2025 
(when compared to 2017/18). We have adopted a carbon reduction strategy which sets out our roadmap for 
meeting this target. 
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The water industry has also adopted a voluntary commitment to become net carbon zero by 2030 as part of 
the Public Interest Commitment (PIC) and our carbon reduction strategy is designed to contribute to meeting 
this target.  
 
Risk management 
We have comprehensive systems of internal control and risk management and we monitor their effectiveness 
regularly in compliance with the principles of our corporate governance code. 
 
Our risk management framework is closely linked to the way we monitor and measure our performance and 
compliance with our statutory obligations and commitments which is subject to external assurance by third 
parties. The adoption in our business plan of a performance commitment for the reduction of our emissions by 
2025 ensures that our systems of controls and external assurance relating to our regulatory reporting will be 
applied equally to our emissions reporting.  
 
We maintain a formal risk register and risk management system for the identification, evaluation and mitigation 
of risks. Significant risks from climate change, and their impacts on functions and activities across the business, 
have been incorporated into our Corporate Risk Register and we are able to report specifically on these risks 
– providing additional focus and scrutiny of risks, controls and mitigating actions. 
 
Read more on our risk management systems and principal risks on page 17.  
 
Metrics and targets 
South East Water report its performance annually in its Performance, People and Planet report.   
 
corporate.southeastwater.co.uk/news-info/publications/performance-reports/ 
 
For the current period, up to 2019/2020 our target has been to reduce carbon emissions to 37.7 kgCO2e per 
customer.  We have outperformed this target and our actual emissions figure for 2019/20 is some 5 per cent 
lower at 35.9 kgCO2e per customer. 
 
As highlighted above we have an ambitious target to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2025 
(when compared to 2017/18) and have also committed to achieve an industry level Public Interest Commitment 
of net carbon zero by 2030. 
 
Going concern  
 
In preparing the financial statements the Directors considered the Company’s ability to meet its debts as they 
fall due for a period of one year from the date of this report. In assessing the GC of the group the directors 
have focused on the GC status of SEW since this is the primary source of cash flow for the group as a whole 
and is the entity that generates the cash that, either directly or indirectly, satisfies the group’s liabilities. 
 
The risks associated with the possible ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as set out in the strategic 
report, have been considered and factored into the financial projections assumed under our medium-term plan 
as well as the scenarios and sensitivities modelled as part of our assessment.    
 
The key variables include a reduction in non-household business revenues, increased bad debts, lower non-
appointed income and lower projected developer contributions, as well as an increase in revenue based on 
projected increases in household consumption. This baseline plan is then subject to stress scenarios that take 
into account the potential impact of the Company’s principal risks. 
 
Our key sensitivities included the following 
 

 Interest rate increase 
 Inflation reduction 
 Revenue losses/financial penalties  
 Financial penalties  
 Compensation payments 
 Totex overspend 
 Retail cost overspend 
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We have also performed COVID specific scenario analysis which considers the potential impact of a more 
severe and longer duration pandemic on SEW’s financial position and thus on that of the Group, since SEW 
is the principal operating subsidiary.  
 
The COVID scenarios draw on the “Impact of Coronavirus on the UK water industry” report commissioned by 
Water UK, the Company’s observations of the impacts of COVID-19 to date and our initial risk analysis taking 
into account the characteristics of the business and the nature of the pandemic. The modelled outcomes for 
our COVID scenarios are based on regularly updated assumptions, including: 
 

 The longevity of the pandemic; 
 The expected macroeconomic impacts (GDP, inflation and unemployment rates) based on 

independent economic forecasts; 
 The impact on household cash collection and bad debt rates, based on observed data and using our 

experience during previous recessions; 
 An estimate of incremental operating costs and outcome delivery incentive penalties both during the 

incident and in the recovery phase; and 
 The impact on our revenues in 2020/21 and subsequent years. 

 
The results of our assessment revealed that none of the stress-testing scenarios would lead to an Event of 
Default in servicing the Group’s debt, nor would they lead to adverse impact on customer service or the Group’s 
ability to carry out normal operational activities.  
 
Our securitised financing arrangements within South East Water include covenants with trigger thresholds 
which are reported bi-annually. The baseline plan, incorporating the expected impact of Covid-19, shows 
sufficient liquidity and clear headroom for debt covenants when considering trigger thresholds. 
 
However, in the absence of any mitigating action being taken, the most severe, but plausible, scenario 
modelled indicates a breach of the trigger threshold in the adjusted interest cover ratio covenant for the year 
to March 2021. This is not an event of default threshold. Any such breach of the trigger threshold would activate 
initial creditor protections under the terms of the securitised financing arrangements, which are designed to 
maintain South East Water's creditworthiness without disrupting its ability to trade, such as restrictions on 
dividends and preventing further financial indebtedness. 
 
None of the scenarios resulted in an impact on the Group’s expected financial metrics that cannot be 
reasonably mitigated using the existing safeguards within the Company’s financing structure.  
 
The assessment also considers potential mitigating actions that the Group could undertake to reduce the 
impact of the sensitivities considered. 
 
The Directors have identified actions, including reducing discretionary outflows of funds and working with 
providers of finance that would be available to the Group to mitigate the impact of adverse outcomes. 
 
These include  
 

 Use the Regulatory mechanisms to adjust future revenues to offset under recovery when compared 
to the original price review  

 Engagement with Ofwat to consider regulatory treatment of under-performance relating to COVID-19 
 Reduce discretionary expenditure to mitigate the impact of lower revenues 
 Consider a temporary reduction in or re-phasing of dividends 
 Reduce working capital to support cash flow 
 Discuss the impact of debt covenants with lenders and seek a temporary waiver if required  
 Consider efficiency programmes which seek to reduce costs and bring costs in line with regulatory 

allowances 
 
Having considered the SEW position, the directors have then given consideration to the financial position of 
the group as a whole and to that of HDF as a company. 
 
The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance 
and position are set out in the strategic report. The group finances its working capital requirements through  
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cash generated from SEW’s operations and committed facilities that can be called upon as required. 
Notwithstanding the assessment summarised above which indicates SEW will have sufficient resources to fulfil 
its obligations as they fall due, the  group has called an additional £40 million from its committed facilities, 
which is currently being held unutilised in reserve, to ensure against any potential liquidity issues during the 
on-going Covid-19 pandemic. The group has prepared the annual budget, which incorporates the latest 
forecasts of SEW which take account of the changed circumstances brought on by Covid-19. The revised 
forecasts, together with SEW’s five year plan and longer resources planning, all indicate that SEW and thus 
the group and the company should be able to continue operating for the forthcoming twelve months. In coming 
to this decision they have considered the implications of the on-going Covid-19 pandemic and the impact this 
may have on the business.  
 
Therefore, the directors believe that the group is well placed to manage their business risks successfully. 
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and financial 
statements. 
 
Section 172 statement 
 
Statement on how the directors had regarded to the matters in section 172(1) and on engagement with 
employees and suppliers, customers and others in business relationship with the group 
 
The directors of the company have due regard to their duties under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 in 
making decisions. They also promote high standards of business conduct and governance within the group 
and in particular have promoted and supported the adoption by South East Water Ltd (South East Water), the 
main operating company in the group, of a stakeholder inclusive approach to governance and decision making.  
 
When considering matters relating to the group, the directors of the company take into account all 
considerations relevant to the operations of the entire group and in particular those relevant to South East 
Water. Most decisions of the board at a strategic level require balancing all these considerations and we see 
the long-term success of the company and the group as achieving a fair balance.  
 
Consideration of the interests listed in section 172 is an integral part of ensuring the consistency of the decision 
made by the directors at the level of the holding company with the governance and statutory obligations of 
South East Water as a regulated undertaker providing an essential service.  
 
As South East Water is the main operating and regulated entity providing an essential public service in the 
group, how the directors of South East Water meet their duties under section 172 is an essential aspect of our 
reporting about the group. We set out below how the directors of South East Water had regard to the matters 
in section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 below.   
 
The main responsibility of the Board of South East Water is to set the company’s strategy and monitor its 
delivery in alignment with the company’s purpose. The two main aspects of its core purpose are to provide 
today’s public water service and to create tomorrow's water supply solutions. Its purpose is also to help society 
and the environment to thrive. In this context most decisions taken by its board need to balance the long-term 
and short-term interests of the company, its customers, employees, the environment, the interest of 
maintaining key relationships with other stakeholders and partners, as well as current and future regulatory 
requirements. This is achieved within a general decision framework combining governance, internal systems 
of control and risk management, and engagement with stakeholders. The company’s decision framework is 
designed to ensure all the matters in section 172(1) CA06 are considered. 
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Consideration of the matters in section 172(1) also determine the regular activities of the board of South East 
Water such as the monitoring of the performance against commitments to ensure that the targeted outcomes 
for customers, the environment and the investment in the infrastructure needed to support communities are 
delivered.  
 
When setting out charges, customers’ preference are taken into account, for example for bill stability, by 
seeking to control increases in bills and the impact on customers or where appropriate putting in place 
mitigation measures. There is consultation with developers when defining charges and this year following 
consultation with them, payment by instalments was put in place to address their concerns with the impact of 
changes introduced by Ofwat in the new connection charging rules.  
 
 

Relevant aspect of the decision framework  
 
The corporate governance 
framework, corporate 
governance code, and 
culture (purpose and values) 
and board practices 

 
 A corporate governance framework 

focused on engagement, stakeholder 
inclusiveness, integrated thinking (i.e. 
balancing all relevant considerations in 
decision making including those in section 
172(1) CA06)  

 A purpose and values focused on delivery 
to customers, planning for the future, 
protecting the environment and 
contributing to society 

 A corporate governance structure that 
ensures that all aspects of the business  
 
 

 receive the appropriate scrutiny including 
matters in section 172(1) CA06. 

 

 
Vision and strategy 

 
 A vision and strategy focused on 

customers, people and the protection of 
the environment 

 

 
Long-term planning 

 
 Long-term water resources planning is a 

second key core function to ensure South 
East Water can meet future demand for 
water and also encourage our customers 
to save water 

 

Relevant aspect of the decision framework  
 
Stakeholders’ participation 

 
 An engagement which ensures that 

stakeholders are directly involved in the 
decision process: including the Customer 
Challenge Group, the Environmental 
Scrutiny Group and partnerships for the 
delivery of the environmental programme, 
the employee and stakeholder 
engagement programme. 

 Extensive engagement and consultation 
for all key plans 

 

 
Business model and external 
environment  

 
 A business model focused on value 

creation through responsible business, a  
long-term focus, engagement with 
stakeholders and collaboration 
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Examples of how the board of South East Water has had regard to relevant matters in respect of key decisions 
made this year are set out below. 
 
Response to Covid-19 
 

 

The response to the Covid-19 outbreak is an example of how the management of the crisis considered all 
relevant matters together, while ensuring the continuity of the essential public service as the first priority and 
as the company adapted quickly to support its customers, employees, communities and the national 
mobilisation during the lockdown. 
 
How was the workforce considered 
 

 

As provider of an essential service employees were designated as key workers. The priority was to ensure 
their safety and wellbeing providing the support they needed while they adapted to extraordinary working 
conditions to maintain the public water service throughout the crisis. 
 
Multiple employee pulse surveys were carried out and the company responded rapidly to concerns raised 
by field, laboratory and other employees who were not able to work from home and also putting in place a 
number of measures to support those who were able to work from home. 
 
There was regular dialogue with the Employee Staff Council to share feedback and to understand themes 
and issues, especially for those continuing to operate out in the field. 
 
Outcomes: 
 

 

 With the support of the DWI water sampling in customers’ premises was revised and then suspended. 
Non-essential visits were stopped, the appointment process was reviewed with pre-visit and doorstep 
questions and safety measures and some activities were carried out remotely with customers where 
possible. Employees could easily be identified as key workers by the public. Face coverings were issued 
to those who are not working from home and are interacting with others, whether customers, colleagues 
or contractors. 

 Support was provided to those who had childcare or caring issues with the ability to take time out of 
work to organise alternative arrangements, with no financial loss. 

 Health and safety recommendations on social distancing at work were implemented as well as changes 
to the way of working, and generalised work from home in a very short time. Working patterns and 
methods of working and communicating were reorganised to limit risks of contacts between employees 
or with the public.  

 Special measures were put in place to protect vulnerable employees and those caring for vulnerable 
persons. 

 A number of guidance documents were provided to help the workforce protect themselves and adapt to 
new working conditions in particular on health and safety putting in place hygiene stations, revising risks 
assessments, increasing cleaning and disinfection, and issuing guideline on working from home and 
work stations self-assessment. Information to promote wellbeing and mental health was issued by email 
and on our intranet. 

 The workforce was kept informed with frequent communication by email, briefing and Q&A video 
conferences at CEO and all other management levels.  

 Measures to report any cases of Covid-19 were put in place to be able to take measures to protect 
employees that would have been in contact with declared cases.  

 
How were customers and critical facilities considered 
 
South East Water’s core purpose to provide the essential public water service became even more crucial 
during the pandemic, ensuring that the water supply would be maintained to critical medical and care 
facilities on the frontline and that customers could rely on the water supply during lockdown for all their usual 
needs to follow all the hygiene recommendations despite the unprecedented increase in demand. 
 
Outcomes: 
 

 

 Existing resilience plans for supplies to hospitals and smaller medical facilities were systematically 
tested 
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 Plans for bottled water stations set up in case of interruption were adapted to meet the specific 

requirements on social distancing and for bottled water distribution to support the vulnerable customers. 
 The call centre was maintained operational at normal capacity by setting up systems and procedures to 

allow agents to work from home. Help was provided with payment plans, debt recovery was suspended 
and the social tariff extended.  

 Payment facilities were provided to retailers on the water market for businesses and advice was 
provided to retailers and their customers on returning supplies to premises that had been vacated during 
lockdown.  

 Extensive messaging on water saving was issued in response to the extraordinary levels of demand in 
line with the concept of resilient customer developed in the business plan. 
 

How were suppliers, stakeholders and communities considered 
 
The main renewal and maintenance contractor participated in crisis management meetings to ensure the 
coordination and coherence of the measures taken for the protection of the entire workforce and operations. 
 
There was engagement with key suppliers to identify their challenges and coordination to maintain key 
supplies. 
 
The company consulted with stakeholders and employees on ways it could utilise its resource and skills to 
assist the community. 
 
Outcomes: 
 

 

 Contractors were involved in the planning of new methods of working and in the ongoing crisis 
management.  

 Help was provided to local organisations with welfare counselling undertaken by employees whose roles 
could not be carried out at home. Joint funding with other utilities in the south east region was provided 
to support Community Foundations. Company resources were also made available for food deliveries 
to vulnerable people. 

 Data was provided to local resilience forums where possible to help support vulnerable customers. 
 Key stakeholders including regulators were kept informed of the actions taken and challenges faced   

and a stakeholder webpage was created for easy access to this information. 
 

Business plan  
 

 

South East Water’s business plan and corporate plan set the strategy for 2020-25 and have been prepared 
following significant engagement. They set out how performance commitments will be delivered. 
 
How were stakeholders considered 
 

 

The overall strategy as set out in the business plan and corporate plan for 2020-25 was based on extensive 
engagement with customers and customer segmentation which was used to draft the business plan and 
select priorities that had the support of customers. 
 
The engagement process itself and the research were scrutinised by the Customer Challenge Group (CCG). 
 
Outcomes: 
 

 

The business plan is centred on delivery for 
customers.  
 
The recommendations from the CCG to 
embed continuous customer engagement in 
decision making throughout the 2020-25 
period was adopted. This resulted in a new 
Insight Team being created, improvement to 
stakeholder mapping and engagement and 
influenced (together with other  
 

Customers Employees 
 A comprehensive 

customer engagement 
and vulnerability strategy 
with a significant 
increase in customers 
supported through the  
social tariff and priority 
services register 

 

 A comprehensive people 
plan to ensure people and 
culture are focused on 
delivering public service  

 A continued focus on 
health,  safety and 
wellbeing with an 
increased emphasis on 
mental health 
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stakeholders’ input) the development of the 
vulnerability strategy. 
 
This year the board of South East Water 
considered the implications of Ofwat’s final 
determination for the company, its 
customers, its ability to invest for the future, 
the environment, its shareholders and 
investors and other stakeholders drawing on 
the engagement and the various 
considerations that informed the 
development of the business plan. When 
considering a possible referral to the CMA, 
the board balanced all these considerations 
to reach its conclusion. 

 
 Stretching core services 

performance targets 
requiring significant  
improvement compared 
with AMP6 

 

 

Environment Relationships with 
stakeholders 

 A focus on 
environmental 
excellence relying on 
delivery through 
partnerships 

 A new carbon reduction 
strategy 

 A focus on openness and 
inclusiveness with 
industry collaboration, 
stakeholder engagement, 
innovation through an 
internal platform and 
through cooperation with 
third parties. 
 

 

 
Responsible business commitments 
 
Ten responsible business commitments were adopted which will be delivered under the oversight of a 
responsible business committee as part of a wider renewed approach to environment, social, governance 
(ESG) issues. These commitments were designed following engagement for the business plan and were 
finally selected by the employees and board of South East Water. ESG performance is also measured 
through the GRESB benchmark. 
 
How stakeholders were considered 
 

 

The learning from the customer engagement programme and customer research were used to define 
responsible business commitments that related to what mattered to customers.  
 
Outcomes 
 

 

The responsible business commitments relate to the matters in section 172(1) and are supported by metrics 
and action plans. This provides a framework to consider these matters and measure progress. There will 
also be learning opportunities that will come out of engaging with third parties when delivering the 
commitments. 
 
Employees 
 

Community and environment High standards of business 
conduct 

 Ensure fair pay, reward and 
recognition for all our 
employees 

 Improving health, safety and 
wellbeing of our people and 
communities. 

 Develop a future generation 
schools programme on water 

 Play an active role regionally 
in relation to the impact of 
housing growth on water 

 Create more partnership 
community projects on water 
use and vulnerability 

 Support the tap water refill 
campaign to reduce plastic 
bottled water 

 Natural capital accounting 
 Renewable energy measures 

 Trusted corporate governance  
 Transparency of reporting 

 

The business plan, corporate plan and the responsible business commitments include initiatives and metrics 
which relate to all the matters in section 172(1) CA06. South East Water have also adopted the water 
industry’s Public Interest Commitment. 
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Pension strategy to 2025 and beyond 
 
Ofwat’s decision to stop allowing for contributions into pension scheme in price determinations from 2025 
needs to be taken into account in managing the pension strategy for the next five years and beyond. 
 
How stakeholders were considered 
 
The continued reduction of the deficit of the defined benefit pension schemes is a main concern to protect 
the interests of our employees and pensioners. 

Outcomes: 
 
The medium and post 2025 pension strategy relating to the two defined benefit pension schemes operated 
by South East Water was approved with the agreement of the Pension Trustee. This puts the company in a 
better position to start implementing the next phase of the long-term pension strategy which is being 
developed in consultation with the Pension Trustee to move towards insuring / securing a buy-out of the 
schemes. 
 
How we engage with employees 
 
Providing information and raising awareness 
Open dialogue and keeping employees informed about the company’s performance is important. A range of 
channels are used to make sure everyone has access to information and that they can have dialogue with the 
organisation to help improve performance. 
 
The employee intranet, promotes all news articles and key events. Managers and employees regularly blog 
via this platform about important issues and anyone can comment freely on all articles. The Managing Director 
runs regular briefing sessions which are open to all employees.  
 
Managers are provided with a monthly Manager’s toolkit, health and safety briefings and Core Brief slides 
which give a summary of performance and encourage dialogue via team briefs. 
 
For key information email notifications are also circulated, and a recently launched WhatsApp broadcast 
channel allowing employees, especially those out and about, to keep in touch. 
 
Consulting with employees 
The channels described above are used to consult with employees on many day-to-day activities that can 
affect them. There is also specific employee engagement and a Staff Council and health and safety committee 
whose members are regularly consulted on key decisions. 
 
Employee engagement and pulse surveys are used to seek views of the wider business, for example during 
the Covid-19 pandemic the surveys have highlighted the appetite for flexible working in the future. 
 
Atlas is an innovation tool, which is used to ask for ideas and feedback related to future approaches the 
company may take.  This creates a two way tool for real engagement and gives the opportunity for employees 
to influence the company’s direction on issues that matter to them such as the ways of working post-pandemic. 
 
Encouraging involvement in the company’s performance 
The reward and recognition programme in the business, is designed with specific roles in mind. This includes 
bonuses for some areas where performance particularly impacts on business targets. The STARS recognition 
programme encourages everyone to nominate colleagues for rewards and the categories follow key areas of 
company performance – the celebration event had to be postponed due to Covid-19.  
 
Directors’ engagement with employees 
This year the board of South East Water considered the company approach to engagement with the workforce 
and agreed that: 
 
 an independent non-executive director would be the designated point of contact with the workforce; 
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 that  independent non-executive directors would also meet directly with the Staff Council for direct two-

way engagement with staff 
 to develop a board engagement programme to increase the interaction between directors and different 

levels of management 

Some independent non-executive directors had update meetings with members of management to provide 
support on specific topics.  
 
Engagement with other stakeholders 
 
In addition to the information provided above, the annual programme for South East Water’s board includes 
meeting with representatives of the company’s regulators and other stakeholders, as follows: 
 
 Zoe McLeod, Chair of the Customer Challenge Group (CCG) to discuss the work of the CCG at PR19, the 

lessons learnt from the price review process and the continuation of the company’s engagement with 
customers throughout AMP7 with the CCG/customer engagement panel, the customer steering group and 
the customer insight team 

 The board of South East Water also met with Rachel Fletcher, CEO, Ofwat, to discuss Ofwat’s strategy 
and priorities for the sector and the company 

 The Board of South East Water met with Sir Tony Redmond, Regional Chair of the Consumer Council for 
Water to discuss our customer service performance, PR19 and the priorities of CCW 

 The board of South East Water met with Marcus Rink, DWI Chief Inspector, and Milo Purcell, DWI Deputy 
Chief Inspector, to discuss our water quality performance and the priorities and expectations of the DWI 
and considered the recommendations and observations received from the DWI 

By order of the Board 
 

 
 
M Szczepaniak  
Director 
23 September 2020 
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The directors of the company are committed to maintaining high standards of governance and leadership and 
demonstrating to all stakeholders how this is achieved.  
 
As a board we promote transparency, accountability, ethical conduct, engagement with stakeholders, and a 
fair balance between the various interests that we must consider under section 172 of the Companies Act 
2006.  
 
We also promote high standards of governance in the main operating company and regulated entity in the 
group, South East Water Ltd (South East Water), as we recognise that strong environmental, social and 
governance performance protects its long term value and sustainable success and strengthens its licence to 
operate. South East Water reports on its compliance with the SEW Code in the corporate governance 
statement in its annual report. 
 
The company’s principal owners are signatories of the United Nations Principles of Responsible Investment 
(UN PRI) and are committed to good corporate governance as part of a broader desire to ensuring that the 
company and in particular South East Water: 
 

 Incorporates Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) matters into investment analysis and 
decision-making processes 

 Incorporates the consideration of ESG matters into policies and practices 
 Seeks appropriate disclosure on ESG matters 
 Reports on activities and progress towards implementing improved ESG consideration 
 Promotes better ESG consideration, including corporate governance 

 
The directors of the company confirm that they are aware of and comply with the requirements of the instrument 
of appointment of South East Water, in particular those set out in Condition P. 
 
They fully support the adoption by South East Water of its own corporate governance code (“SEW Code”). 
This code was updated to include the principles of governance set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code 
2018 which can reasonably be applied to a privately owned company and the Ofwat’s principles of board 
leadership, transparency and governance.  
 
Operation of the regulated business of South East Water 
 
Whilst the directors of the company must in that capacity ensure that they comply with their duties to the 
company and to the shareholders of the company, the arrangements between shareholders relating to their 
decision making in relation to South East Water recognise the specific requirements applicable to South East 
Water as a regulated water company and the need to operate in compliance with them. 
 
When making decisions relevant to the group as a whole or to South East Water, the directors of the company 
have due regard to the requirements of condition P of South East Water’s instrument of appointment which 
requires that South East Water must conduct its regulated business as if it were a public limited company 
separate from any other business carried out by it.  
 
The directors of the company have also due regard to other requirements of condition P of South East Water’s 
instrument of appointment that SEW must meet the objectives of the board leadership, transparency and 
governance principles published by Ofwat and in particular that South East Water must have an effective board 
with full responsibility for all aspects of its business as a regulated company for the long term. 
 
Consistent with this principle, no matters of South East Water are reserved for shareholders or parent 
companies, South East Water board committees (including but not limited to audit and risk, remuneration and 
nomination committees) report into the board of South East Water, with final decisions made at the level of 
South East Water, and the board of South East Water is fully focused on the activities of South East Water 
and act independently and establishes South East Water’s purpose, strategy and values.  
 
As shareholder nominated directors of South East Water, the relevant directors of the company who are also 
directors of South East Water must satisfy themselves, as must all other directors of South East Water, and 
certify in accordance with the requirements of Condition P of South East Water’s instrument of appointment, 
that South East Water has the necessary financial resources, management resources and systems of planning 
and internal control to carry out its regulated activities. 
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Long term decision making 
 
The directors of the company are focused on the long term sustainable success of the group and of South 
East Water as its main operating company, which also aligns with the long term objectives of investors in the 
group. The board focuses on how the company and its group generate and preserve value for customers and 
shareholders in the long term while having a positive impact on wider society and the environment. 
 
The SEW Code, the South East Water’s corporate governance framework and the South East Water purpose 
also reflect this core objective and the importance for a regulated water company to have an ethical and 
inclusive culture of public service guided by a strong sense of purpose.  
 
South East Water overall corporate governance framework focuses on culture and ethical conduct reflecting 
public purpose values; it is designed to be an integral part of how the business is run; it reflects a stakeholder 
inclusive approach through engagement and cooperation with stakeholders and in balancing their interests, 
the need for South East Water to consider its impact on society and the environment and it promotes a holistic 
approach to decision making and “integrated thinking”. 
 
Board composition 
 
The current directors of the company are set out on page 3 of this annual report. Two directors of the company, 
Marissa Szczepaniak  and Rachel Drew, are also shareholder nominated directors of Hastings Water (UK) 
Limited, South East Water (Holdings) Limited, South East Water, Swan Group, Swan Property Limited, MKW 
Holdco 1 and South East Water (Finance) Limited. Oliver Schubert is also a director of Hastings Luxembourg 
Water S.á.r.l. 
 
The composition of the board of South East Water also meets the requirements of the board leadership, 
transparency and governance principles. The other commitments and directorships of the directors of South 
East Water are reviewed in accordance with the SEW Code.  
 
Managing risks within the group 
 
The directors of the company are aware of and have due regard to the provisions of South East Water’s 
instrument of appointment in particular those relating to ultimate controller undertakings and ring fencing and 
the provisions of the SEW Code. 
 
Except for Swan Group, Swan Property Limited and Hastings Luxembourg Water S.a.r.l., whose activities are 
explained below, the company acts exclusively as a holding company of South East Water and its activities 
relate only to the management and financing of this investment. This ensures that the regulated business of 
South East Water is not exposed to risks from other unrelated activities in the group. Information in relation to 
the activities of the company is provided where necessary or as requested to the directors of South East Water. 
The directors of South East Water have visibility of the financing structure of the rest of the group.  
 
The availability of financial resources and facilities may be affected by cross-default provisions in the financing 
documentation of South East Water and these provisions have received the required consent from Ofwat. The 
directors of South East Water monitor the main financial ratios required by its securitisation structure, and the 
investors report produced twice a year and the annual accounts of the company are available to them.  
 
The directors of the company confirm that they are not aware of any issue at the group level which may impact 
South East Water. The need for information of the directors of South East Water is met when necessary 
through updates provided by the shareholder nominated directors on the board of South East Water or 
communication of specific information. 
 
Group structure 
 
There are two intermediate holding companies between South East Water and the company: South East Water 
(Holdings) Limited and Hastings Water (UK) Limited. South East Water is the main operating company in the 
group of companies headed by the company. 
 
 
 



HDF (UK) Holdings Limited 31 March 2020 
 

Corporate Governance 

Page 44 
 

Registered number 05462865 

 
The ultimate owners of the company are Utilities of Australia Pty Limited as Trustee for the Utilities Trust of 
Australia which holds 50% of the shares in the company, three entities of Desjardins, a cooperative financial 
group based in Quebec (Régime De Rentes Du Mouvement Desjardins which holds 12.5% of the shares in  
 
the company, Desjardins Financial Security Life Assurance Company and Certas Home and Auto Insurance 
Company which each hold 6.25% of the shares in the company), and RBS Pension Trustee Limited for the 
Royal Bank of Scotland Group Pension Fund (Main Fund Section), which holds 25% of the shares in the 
company. 
 
The manager of Utilities Trust of Australia is Morrison & Co Utilities Management (Australia) Pty Ltd. Vantage 
is manager of the equity holdings of the remaining shareholders. There are four directors on the board of the 
company who have been nominated by the managers of each of the shareholders. 
 
Swan Group is a subsidiary of the company and the holding company of Swan Property Limited whose principal 
activity is buying land and properties from other members of the group and developing and/or refurbishing 
them with a view to selling them at some time in the future.   
 
Swan Group and Swan Property Limited are outside South East Water’s financing group and their liabilities 
are separate from the rest of the group including South East Water. The group structure on page 4 does not 
include non-trading and dormant companies. 
  
In addition, to ensure transparency to the general public, the structure of the group as set out in the strategic 
report of South East Water, and information on the directors of South East Water, including short biographies 
are available on South East Water’s website. This information also includes whether these directors represent 
shareholders. 
 
Group financing 
 
Recent debt financing has been arranged through South East Water. Historical debt financing of South East 
Water has been arranged through its only subsidiary, South East Water (Finance) Limited. South East Water 
(Finance) Limited is a company registered in the Cayman Islands but the company does not gain any tax 
benefit from this as the company is resident for tax purposes in the UK. South East Water also has some 
existing directly issued debt finance which originated in Mid Kent Water Limited prior to the two companies 
merging. There is further debt finance in the group which is a mixture of both external and shareholder loans 
and this debt is issued by a separate group company, Hastings Luxembourg Water S.a.r.l. 
 
 

 
 
 
M Szczepaniak  
Director 
23 September 2020 
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the group directors’ report relating to HDF (UK) Holdings Ltd (“HDF” 
or the “company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020, 
together with the audited financial statements. 
 
Principal activities and future developments 
 
The principal activities of the group comprise the supply of water to a population of 2.2 million in an area of 
5,700 kms and the provision of certain ancillary services for customers, developers and other bodies within the 
constraints of the relevant legislation as performed by South East Water. The directors consider the 
performance of the business to be satisfactory and that this is expected to continue in the future. 
 
The company acts as a holding company. At 31 March 2020, its principal subsidiaries included Hastings Water 
(UK) Limited (“HWUK”), South East Water (Holdings) Limited (“SEWH”), South East Water Limited (“SEWL”), 
South East Water (Finance) Limited (“SEWF”), Swan Property Limited (“SPL”) and Hastings Luxembourg 
Water S.a.r.l. (“HLW”). Further details are given in note 19. There are no branches (as defined in section 
1046(3) of the Companies Act 2006 of the company outside of the United Kingdom. 
 
The turnover of the group for the year ended 31 March 2020 was £243.5 million (2019: £238.3 million) and 
group operating profit was £80.5 million for the year (2019: £86.2 million). Profit before taxation for the year 
was £16.6 million (2019: £19.5 million). The financial position at 31 March 2020 for the group and for the 
company is shown on pages 55 and 56 respectively.  
 
The group was fully in compliance with its covenants at 31 March 2020. 
 
Accounting framework 
 
The financial information presented in these audited financial statements has been prepared in accordance 
with the disclosure and transparency rules of the Financial Services Authority and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union. The financial statements are presented 
in Sterling. 
 
The results published in this report describe our performance for the year and incorporate the performance of 
the HDF Group.  
 
Dividends 
 
There were no dividends paid during the year (2019: £10.0 million). Further details are given in note 14. 
 
The company’s dividend policy is discussed on page 29 of the Strategic report. 
 
Capital expenditure 
 
During the year the group’s capital expenditure totalled £104.5 million (2019: £104.7 million). Further details 
are given in notes 16 and 17 of the financial statements. 
  
In the opinion of the directors, the market value of land is significantly more than its book value. However, it 
would not be practicable because of the number of sites and the costs of valuing such sites to precisely quantify 
this. 
 
Taxation 
 
As a group we are committed to the effective, sustainable and active management of our tax affairs in support 
of our overall business performance. We are committed to pay tax according to the law and conducting our tax 
affairs according to clear principles. We seek to maintain good working relationships with tax authorities, 
sharing our views either directly or through trade associations.  

We do not condone either personal or corporate tax evasion under any circumstances and were such issues 
to be identified, full disclosure of the activities undertaken would be required to be made to the tax authorities. 
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While the group makes profits through the performance of SEWL, the extensive investment programme 
currently being undertaken by that subsidiary typically means that any taxable profits are exceeded by available 
capital allowances. As tax losses are available elsewhere in the group, we utilise group relief before applying 
capital allowances, deferring excess capital allowances after satisfying any remaining tax charge. The 
calculation of group relief is made at the statutory rate for corporation tax so does not impact the effective tax 
rate. 
 
Directors and their interests 
 
The directors who at any time during the financial year and at the date of this report were directors of the 
company are set out on page 3.  
 
No director held any shares or loan stock in the company or other associated companies, which is required to 
be disclosed under the Companies Act 2006 during the financial year.  
 
Directors’ indemnities 
 
The group has granted an indemnity to its directors against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third 
parties, subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity 
provision remains in force as at the date of approving this directors’ report. 
 
Environmental and corporate social responsibility 
 
The group’s approach to the sustainable development of its business includes a strong commitment to the 
environment and corporate social responsibility. Details of our actions in this respect are given throughout the 
strategic report. 
 
Disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions 
 
Information on greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy efficiency action (including as 
required under Part 7, Schedule 7 of the Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 are set out on page 30 of the strategic report.  
 
Employment policies on disability and engagement with employees, suppliers, customers 
and others 
 
The group offers equal opportunities to all employees and applicants for employment. Our managers and 
officers are trained to ensure there is no unlawful discrimination on grounds of race, gender, age, religion, 
union membership, disability or sexual orientation. Employment policies are intended to confirm South East 
Water as an employer of choice through provision of a safe work environment, satisfying work, personal 
development and fair rewards. Further details are given in the strategic report on page 13. 
 
The group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the candidate’s 
particular aptitudes and abilities are consistent with meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are 
available to disabled employees for training, career development and promotion. Where existing employees 
become disabled it is group’s policy to provide continuing employment, wherever practicable, in the same 
position or in an alternative position and to provide appropriate training to achieve this aim. 
 
The group places considerable value on the involvement of our employees and has continued to keep them 
informed on matters affecting them as employees and on various factors affecting the performance of the 
group. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings, regular bulletins on the intranet and an employee 
magazine. Employee representatives are consulted regularly through the Staff Council on a wide range of 
matters affecting their current and future interest. 
 
The group has developed a comprehensive engagement program to ensure that we capture the differing views 
of our customers, suppliers and other stakeholders in the wider community. This program has helped us shape 
our plans for the 2020 to 2025 AMP. There are a number of examples of how the group has interacted with 
stakeholders in forming its policies and decisions. 
 



HDF (UK) Holdings Limited 31 March 2020 
 

Group Directors’ Report 

Page 47 
 

Registered number 05462865 

 
The strategic report also discusses how the directors have had due regard to the engagement with employees, 
customers, suppliers and other business relationships on page 37.  
 
Financial instruments 
 
Information about the use of financial instruments by the company and its subsidiaries is given in note 24 of 
the financial statements. 
 
In September 2019, the group repaid listed bonds totaling £200 million plus associated indexation from an 
attached interest swap arrangement of £111.5 million. The repayment was financed by issuing of two new 
series of loan notes via a US private Placement (USPP) totaling £175 million and the drawdown of £120 million 
from the group’s seven year facility entered into in December 2018. 
 
Additionally, the group utilised the remaining £54 million of its £150 million committed facility entered into in 
December 2018. These funds were used to re-align intra-group debt. 
 
The group financial risks have been reported under our principal risks section in our strategic report on page 
23. 
 
Political Donations 
 
No political donations were made by the group in either the current or prior period. 
 
Research and development activities 
 
South East Water is a member of UK Water Industry Research (UKWIR) and participates in their research 
programmes. 
 
Going concern 
 
The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance 
and position are set out in the strategic report. The group finances its working capital requirements through 
cash generated from operations and committed facilities that can be called upon as required. The group’s 
annual budget and forecasts, together with its five year plan and longer resources planning, all indicate that 
the group should be able to continue operating. The results post balance sheet have been consistent with 
these indications. In coming to this decision they have considered the implications of the on-going Covid-19 
pandemic and the impact this may have on the business. Further details of the group’s response to the covid-
19 pandemic are provided on page 25.  
 
Therefore, the directors believe that the group and its subsidiaries are well placed to manage their business 
risks successfully. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report 
and financial statements.  
 
Post balance sheet events 
 
In July 2020 the Trustees of the Mid Kent Group Pension Scheme (“MKGPS”) approved a change to scheme’s 
rules to replace the use of the Retail Price Index (“RPI”) with Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) for the calculation 
of future obligations of the scheme. The reason for this change is the understanding that CPI more accurately 
reflects the rate of inflation for the MKGPS and this is in line with changes to public sector and statutory 
minimum pension increases. This also brings the MKGPS into line with the South East Water Pension Scheme 
which adopted CPI for increases in future obligations in 2011. The members of the MKGPS have been notified 
of this change to the rules of their scheme.  
 
The estimated effect of this change on the group’s financial statements is to provide a reduction in the costs of 
the scheme of approximately £7 million which will be recognised in the group’s income statement in 2020/21 
financial year. The savings in costs would be reflected in a reduction in a defined benefit liability recorded on 
the balance sheet at the end of that financial year. 
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Directors’ statement on audit information 
 
The directors who were members of the board at the time of approving the directors’ report are listed on page 
3. Having made enquiries of fellow directors, each of these directors confirms that: 
 

 so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group’s auditor is 
unaware; and 

 each director has taken all the steps a director ought to have taken to be aware of relevant audit 
information and to establish that the group’s auditor is aware of that information. 

 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with provisions of s418 of the Companies 
Act 2006. 
 
In the absence of a general meeting, Deloitte LLP has been re-appointed as auditor in accordance with the 
terms of their contract. 
 
This is the tenth year since Deloitte LLP were appointed as statutory auditor for the group. A tender process 
for the year commencing 1 April 2020 has commenced, as required by UK law. However this process has been 
postponed due to the current situation caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. The group has sought and obtained 
permission from the Financial Reporting Council to extend the appointment of Deloitte LLP as statutory auditor 
for a further year to allow time for the tender process to be conducted after the lockdown period has ceased. 
Deloitte LLP have agreed to act in the capacity of auditor for the group for a further year. 
 
 
 
Approved by the board on 23 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:  
 

 
Nicolas Truillet 
Company Secretary 
23 September 2020 
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The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors are required to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFR’S) as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have 
also elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Under company 
law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.   
 
In preparing the group and company financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that 
directors: 
 

 properly select and apply accounting policies 
 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 

comparable and understandable information  
 provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS’s are 

insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and 
conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance 

 make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
Responsibility statement  
 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 
 

 the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole 

 the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face 

 the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable 
and provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess the company’s position, 
performance, business model and strategy 

 

    
 
M Szczepaniak                              R Drew 
Director                                 Director 
23 September 2020       23 September 2020
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Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion: 
 

 the financial statements of HDF (UK) Holdings Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the 
‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 
31 March 2020 and of the group’s profit and the parent company’s loss for the year then ended;  

 the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union;  

 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006; and 

 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006. 

 
We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 
 

 the group and parent company income statements; 
 the group statement of comprehensive income; 
 the group and parent company statements of financial position; 
 the group and parent company statements of changes in equity; 
 the group and parent company statement of cash flow; 
 the related notes 1 to 35. 

 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the 
‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where: 
 

 the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial statements 
is not appropriate; or 

 the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
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Other information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 
Responsibilities of directors 
 
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the 
parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or 
the directors’ report. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion: 
 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; 
or 

 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company 
and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Helen Burridge (Senior statutory auditor) 
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
London, United Kingdom 
23 September 2020 
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Notes 
2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

    
Continuing operations    
Revenue 6 243,481 238,281 
    
Bad debt 21 (4,198) (1,584) 
 
Group net operating costs 8 (170,961) (163,519) 
    
Other income 6 12,199 12,997 
 
Group operating profit  80,521 86,175 
Revaluation of property 18 718 550 
Finance costs 12 (65,671) (68,154) 
Finance income 11 989 920 
 
Profit before taxation  16,557 19,491 
Taxation 13 (14,477) (5,539) 
 
Profit for the year from continuing operations  2,080 13,952 
    
Discontinued operations    
Profit on discontinued operations  - 7,938 
    
Profit for the year  2,080 21,890 
    
Earnings per share    
Basic and diluted from continuing operations 15 11.54 77.43p 

 
 

Group statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 
 
 

Notes 
2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Profit for the year  2,080 21,890 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss: 

   

Remeasurement of defined benefit (deficit)/surplus 32 4,879 (3,525) 
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension schemes 13 (927) 600 
Impact of deferred tax rate change in respect of pension 
scheme 

  
(124) 

 
- 

   
3,828 

 
(2,925) 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
owners of the company 

  
 

5,908 

 
 

18,965 
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Notes 
2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

    
Continuing operations    
Net operating costs 8 (359) (238) 
Income from shares in other group undertakings 10 3,819 21,989 
Finance costs 12 (11,792) (11,321) 
Finance income 11 153 105 
 
(Loss)/profit before taxation  (8,179) 10,535 
Taxation 13 626 (262) 
 
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations  (7,553) 10,273 
    
Discontinued operations    
Loss on discontinued operations  - (692) 
    
(Loss)/profit for the year and total comprehensive 
income for the year attributable to owners of the 
company  (7,553) 9,581 
    
Earnings per share    
Basic and diluted from continuing operations 15 (41.92p) 53.17p 
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Notes 
2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

Non-current assets    
Intangible assets 16 9,568 10,501 
Property, plant and equipment 17 1,608,845 1,555,123 
Investment property 18 1,818 1,100 
Defined benefit pension surplus 32 35,912 25,564 
 
  1,656,143 1,592,288 
    
Current assets    
Inventories 20 689 592 
Trade and other receivables 21 84,465 86,268 
Cash and cash equivalents 22 30,135 33,541 
 
  115,289 120,401 
 
Total assets  1,771,432 1,712,689 
    
Current liabilities    
Loans and borrowings 25 (30,000) (255,468) 
Derivative financial instruments 25 - (108,836) 
Trade and other payables 25 (88,673) (83,868) 
Deferred income 27 (5,418) (7,183) 
Provisions 26 (4,457) (3,972) 

  (128,548) 
 

(459,327) 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Loans and borrowings 23 (1,270,888) (905,145) 
Derivative financial instruments 23 (3,505) (1,046) 
Trade and other payables 23 (4,997) (5,379) 
Net deferred tax liabilities 13 (165,686) (145,217) 
Defined benefit pension liability  32 (3,115) (3,154) 
Deferred income 27 (3,438) (3,185) 

  (1,451,629) 
 

(1,063,126) 
 
Total liabilities  (1,580,177) (1,522,453) 
 
Net assets  191,255 190,236 
    
Equity    
Ordinary share capital 28 244,084 244,084 
Share premium account  4,572 4,572 
Revaluation reserve  242,773 251,928 
Retained earnings  (300,174) (310,348) 
 
Total equity 

 
 191,255 190,236 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. The consolidated financial statements on 
pages 53 to 106 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors and were signed on its 
behalf by: 

       
   
M Szczepaniak         R Drew 
Director          Director 
23 September 2020        23 September 2020
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Notes 
2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

    
Non-current assets    
Investments 19 412,950 412,950 
Deferred tax assets 13 666 178 

  413,616 
 

413,128 
    
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 21 3,397 3,281 
Cash and cash equivalents 22 14,687 19,826 
 
  18,084 23,107 
 
Total assets  431,700 436,235 
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 25 (5,858) (3,211) 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Loans and borrowings 23 (162,842) (162,471) 
 
Total liabilities  (168,700) (165,682) 
 
Net assets  263,000 270,553 
    
Equity    
Ordinary share capital 28 244,084 244,084 
Share premium account  4,572 4,572 
Retained earnings  14,344 21,897 
 
Total equity  263,000 270,553 

 
The notes on pages 61 to 106 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
The financial statements of HDF (UK) Holdings Limited (company number 05462865) on pages 53 to 106 were 
approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 23 September 2020 and were signed on its 
behalf by: 

        
M Szczepaniak         R Drew 
Director          Director 
23 September 2020        23 September 2020 
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 Issued 

share 
capital 

£000 

Share 
premium 
account 

£000 

 
Revaluation 

reserve 
£000 

 
Retained 
earnings 

£000 

 
Total 

equity 
£000 

 
Balance at 1 April 2018 244,084 4,572 256,515 (323,900) 181,271 
 
Profit for the year - 

 
- 

 
- 21,340 21,340 

 
Other comprehensive income:      

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
asset/liability - - - (3,525) (3,525) 
Deferred tax on defined benefit 
pension schemes - - - 600 600 

 
Total other comprehensive income 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- (2,925) (2,925) 

 
Total comprehensive income - - - 18,415 18,415 
Dividends (see note 14) - - - (10,000) (10,000) 
Amortise revaluation reserve - - (6,127) 6,127 - 
Revaluation of investment property - - 550 - 550 
Release revaluation reserve on 
disposals  - - 

 
(51) 51 - 

Deferred tax on reserve releases - - 1,041 (1,041) - 
 
Balance at 31 March 2019 244,084 

 
4,572 

 
251,928 (310,348) 190,236 

 
At 1 April 2019 244,084 

 
4,572 

 
251,928 (310,348) 190,236 

 
Profit for the year - 

 
- 

 
- 2,080 2,080 

 
Other comprehensive income:      

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
asset/liability - - - 4,879 4,879 
Deferred tax on defined benefit 
pension schemes - - - (927) (927) 
Impact of deferred tax rate change 
in respect of pension scheme - - - (124) (124) 

 
Total other comprehensive income - - - 3,828 3,828 
 
Total comprehensive income - - - 5,908 5.908 
Amortise revaluation reserve - - (6,129) 6,129 - 
Revaluation of investment property - - 718 (718) - 
Release revaluation reserve on 
disposals  - - 

 
(19) 19 - 

Deferred tax on reserve releases - - 1,164 (1,164) - 
Impact of the deferred tax rate change - - (4,889) - (4,889) 
 
Balance at 31 March 2020 244,084 

 
4,572 

 
242,773 (300,174) 191,255 
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 Issued  

share  
capital 

£000 

Share 
premium 
account 

£000 

 
Retained 
earnings 

£000 

 
Total  

equity 
£000 

     
Balance at 1 April 2018 244,084 4,572 22,316 270,972 
     
Profit for the year - - 9,581 9,581 
Dividends (see note 14) - - (10,000) (10,000) 
 
Balance at 31 March 2019 244,084 

 
4,572 21,897 270,553 

     
Loss  for the year - - (7,553) (7,553) 
 
Balance at 31 March 2020 244,084 

 
4,572 14,344 263,000 
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Notes 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Operating activities    
Net cash flow from operating activities  133,726 124,796 
Interest received        300 212 
Interest paid  (53,972) (50,223) 
Interest element of lease payments 
 

 (110) - 
UK corporation tax paid  56 - 
Foreign tax paid  (4) (4) 
 
Net cash flow before investing and financing activities   79,996 74,781 
    
Investing activities    
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  94 736 
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets  - 8,682 
Proceeds from sale of investment properties  - 50 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (96,153) (97,132) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (2,116) (2,997) 
 
Net cash flow used in investing activities 
 

 (98,175) (90,661) 
    
Financing activities    
Proceeds of new loan  349,000 35,000 
Issue costs of new loans  (168) (5,335) 
Right to Use capital repayment 
 

 (222) - 
Repayment of borrowings 
 

 (333,837) - 
Dividends paid to shareholders 14 - (10,000) 
 
Net cash flow from financing activities 
 

 14,773 19,665 
    
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents    (3,406) 3,785 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  33,541 29,756 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 
 

 
22 30,135 33,541 

 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
Profit for the year  2,080 21,890 
Adjustments for:   

Tax charge 14,477 5,539 
Finance income (989) (920) 
Finance costs 66,489 68,154 
Interest element of lease payments 110 - 
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 51,615 48,046 
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 3,049 3,254 
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (50)          (430) 
Profit on disposal of intangible asset - (7,938) 
Increase in value of investment property (718) (550) 
Amortisation of revaluations of liabilities (928) - 
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts 
recognised in the income statement (4,859) (4,086) 

Changes in working capital:   
Increase in trade and other receivables (1,068) (5,398) 
Increase in inventory (97) (356) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 4,615 (2,409) 

 
Net cash generated from operations 133,726 124,796 
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Notes 
2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Operating activities    
Net cash flow from operating activities  3,341 22,216 
Interest received        179 296 
Interest paid  (8,483) (11,689) 
Loan to subsidiary company  - (10,000) 
Repayment of the loan by subsidiary company  - 9,098 
 
Net cash flow before financing activities   (4,963) 9,921 
    
Financing activities    
Issue cost of new loan  (176) (2,642) 
Dividends paid to shareholder 14 - (10,000) 
 
Net cash flow used in financing activities  (176) (12,642) 
    
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (5,139) (2,721) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  19,826 22,547 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 

 
22 14,687 19,826 

 
Company 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
(Loss)/profit for the year  (7,553) 9,581 
Adjustments for:   

Tax (credit)/charge (626) 262 
Loss on loan to subsidiary - 902 
Finance income (153) (315) 
Financing costs 11,792 11,321 

Changes in working capital:   
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (4) 359 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (115) 106 

 
Net cash generated from operations 3,341 22,216 
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1. Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRSs 

 
The financial statements of HDF (UK) Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “group”) for the year ended 
31 March 2020 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 September2020 and the Statement 
of Financial Position was signed on the Board’s behalf by Marisa Szczepaniak and Rachel Drew. HDF UK 
(Holdings) Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the United Kingdom and domiciled in England 
and Wales.   
 
2. Basis of preparation 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.  
 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for pension assets, 
investment properties and certain financial instruments that were held at the prior year-end, that have been 
measured at fair value and certain assets under property, plant and equipment which were recognised at the 
date of transition to IFRS at deemed cost by reference to fair value.  
 
The group financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
pounds (£000) except where otherwise indicated. 
 
Going concern 
 
The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the 
Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. In coming to this decision they have considered the implications of the on-going Covid-19 pandemic 
and the impact this may have on the business. The directors have concluded that it is correct to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. Further details are provided 
in the Strategic Report on page 33. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These financial statements incorporate the financial information of HDF (UK) Holdings Limited (the “company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together the “group). 

 
Transactions and balances between the company and its subsidiaries and between subsidiaries have been 
eliminated fully on consolidation. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 
to the group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the group. 
 
3. Key judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Our key judgements and estimations have been considered with close focus on the impact of Covid-19. The 
impact is included in each of the key judgements and source of estimation uncertainty. 
 
Key judgements  
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the application of judgements and assumptions by 
management which affects the value of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and income and 
expenditure for the year. Actual results may differ from those arrived at based on management’s judgements 
and assumptions.  
 
The most significant judgements and assumptions for the group are set out below: 
 

 the useful lives of infrastructure and non-infrastructure assets: the group’s asset lives, as 
detailed on page 67, represent a key judgement which impacts the value of depreciation charged to 
the income statement. The useful lives of the asset categories which determine the value of 
depreciation charged to the income statement are reviewed annually and are based on management’s 
judgement and experience. 
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3. Key judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 
An impairment review of assets is also undertaken annually to write down the value of assets where it 
is considered appropriate to do so. The Covid-19 outbreak and prevailing economic factors are not 
considered to have an impact on this key judgement 
 

 the capitalisation of employee and other directly attributable costs: the group determines 
employee costs directly attributable to capital projects based on the time spent on the projects. Other 
directly attributable costs are then assessed. The costs relating to capital projects are then capitalised 
into individual projects. During the year £11.8 million of employee and other directly attributable costs 
have been capitalised (2019: £11.7 million). The Covid-19 outbreak and prevailing economic factors 
are not considered to have an impact on this key judgement 
 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Estimates are required to be made by management when preparing the financial statements. These estimates 
affect the value of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and income and expenditure for the year. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis with any revisions to accounting 
estimates recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods where the revision affects 
both current and future periods. The actual results may differ from those arrived at based on management’s 
estimates. 
 
The most significant estimates included in the group’s financial statements are set out below. 
 

 Unbilled water income at the year-end (Household customers): metered customers are billed on 
a six monthly cycle. This means that at the year-end there is a large volume of water which has been 
supplied but not billed to customers. The value of unbilled water income at 31 March 2020 is estimated 
to be £34.2 million (2019: £32.4 million). 
 
The methodology for arriving at the value of unbilled consumption incorporates estimates of water 
used based on historical consumption data and the relevant tariffs for customers. Previously billed 
consumption history provides a reliable basis for the estimate that is included in the financial 
statements. Our historical analysis of consumption indicates that billed revenue has been within two 
per cent of our previous estimates of the value of unbilled consumption. 
 
The sensitivity of the estimate of unbilled consumption is illustrated in the table below where the impact 
of fluctuations in estimated water consumption in one year of one per cent and three per cent have 
been set out. These variants have been selected because, in previous years, our annual assessment 
of unbilled revenue has been between 1 per cent and 2 per cent of actual billed revenue. 

 
 31 March 2020 Sensitivity 

  +1% +3% -1% -3% 

Unbilled water income £34.2m +£0.3m +£1.0m -£0.3m -£1.0m 
 
Unbilled water income at the year-end (Wholesale customers): Water revenue chargeable to 
wholesale customers is governed by the Market Settlement Process and information provided by the 
Central Market Operating System. System data is used to estimate the amount of unbilled revenue in 
respect of wholesale customers. As at 31 March 2020, the level of unbilled revenue was estimated to 
be £3.8million (2019: £4.6 million). 
 
 31 March 2020 Sensitivity 

  +1% +3% -1% -3% 

Unbilled water income £3.8m +£0.04m +£0.11m -£0.04m -£0.11m 
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3. Key judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 
Our calculations are prepared at the year end and whilst the Government Lockdown instructions were 
beginning to be implemented during March, the impact on consumption in the final weeks of the year 
is not considered to be material. As such the Covid-19 outbreak and prevailing economic factors are 
not considered to be a factor on this key judgement. 
 

 Provision for doubtful trade receivables 
 

Household debt 
Our Household customer base includes customers who cannot or will not pay their bills and therefore, 
we need to make a provision for the level of doubtful debt. The value of the provision for doubtful debts 
as at 31 March 2020 was £24.6 million (2019: £25.9 million). 

 
Our methodology establishes the expected credit loss of our household debt at the year-end by 
identifying customer debt categories and projecting historic cash collections across these customer 
groups to determine an estimate of irrecoverable debt. The estimated cash collection percentages 
take into account historical performance. Our cash collection history over the past four years has been 
used to determine future collection rates. 

 
The sensitivity of the bad debt provision is illustrated in the table below where the impact of fluctuations 
in estimated future cash collections of one per cent and three per cent have been set out. The 
sensitivity analysis of one per cent and three per cent has been set based on commercial judgement 
and considers a range of economic, socio-economic, environmental and commercial factors.  
 
 31 March 2020 Sensitivity 
  +1% +3% -1% -3% 

Bad debt provision estimate £24.6m +£0.2m +£0.7m -£0.2m -£0.7m 
 

Management has reviewed the impact of Covid 19 on household customer debt. Our assessment has 
included a review of a number of potential scenarios to predict the likely impact on our cash collections 
profile as we move towards a recession. We have used these scenarios to determine likely impact on 
our customer debt and have included an additional household provision of £0.7m to reflect the impact 
of Covid 19. We will closely monitor our level of cash collections throughout the next financial year and 
if we deem it appropriate, may increase our bad debt provision as the year progresses or at the end 
of the next financial year. 

 
Retailer debt 
South East Water provides wholesale supply to Retailers through the Non Household market/(MOSL). 
Trading terms are governed under the Wholesale Code and as such we secure collateral from 
Business Retailers in the form of bank guarantee, deposit or other form of security. At the year end, 
our assessment is that the security provided by Business Retailers obviates the need to make a 
provision against retailer debt 

 
Management has reviewed the estimates included in the wholesale provisions and we do not consider 
there to be any need for further adjustment to reflect the impact of Covid-19 due to the security and 
guarantees held by the group as is noted above. 

 
 Pension and other post-employment benefits: there are a range of variables required to be 

determined to value the group’s defined benefit pension schemes and the underlying costs of providing 
post-employment benefit. 
 
The costs of defined benefit pension schemes are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial 
valuations are determined by using certain assumptions for discount rates, mortality rates, expected 
return on assets and corporate bond performance projections as set out in note 32. Pension increases 
are based on expected future inflation rates. The net defined benefit pension scheme asset at 31 
March 2020 is £32.8 million (2019: asset of £22.4 million). 
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3. Key judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 
The Trust Deed provides South East Water with an unconditional right to a refund of surplus assets, 
assuming the full settlement of plan liabilities in the event of a plan winding-up. Furthermore, in the 
ordinary course of business the Trustee has no rights to unilaterally wind-up or otherwise augment the 
benefits due to members of the scheme. Based on these rights, any net surplus in the UK schemes is 
recognised in full. 
 
The sensitivity of the estimate of the surplus in the pension schemes is illustrated in the table below 
where the impact of fluctuations in prevailing market conditions on key assumptions of discount rate, 
inflation and life expectancy have been set out.   

 
Sensitivities Decrease in schemes’ surplus 
   
0.1% decrease to the discount rate £4.0m 1.5% 
0.1% increase to inflation £3.5m 1.3% 
One year increase in life expectancy £10.0m 3.9% 

 
Our assumptions have been set with a long-term view of the key factors and therefore the impact of 
the Covid-19 outbreak and prevailing economic factors in the short to medium term are not considered 
to have an impact on this key estimate. 
 

4. Accounting policies 
 
Our accounting policies have been considered against the background of the Covid-19 outbreak and, where 
appropriate, relevant factors have been taken into account in preparing our financial statements. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied in both the current and prior years, except for those changes required due to the 
mandatory adoption of new reporting standards.  
 
New standards and interpretations adopted 
 
The group has adopted all new accounting standards and interpretations with mandatory adoption date on or 
before 1 April 2019. It is the view of the group that the adoption of these standards will have no material effect 
on the results or financial position of the group with the exception of IFRS 16 which is explored below. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
 
IFRS 16 is effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019 and therefore this has been adopted 
by the group for the year ending 31 March 2020. For lessees, IFRS 16 removes the distinction between 
operating and finance leases and requires the recognition of a right-of-use asset and corresponding liability. 
 
The annual rents for operating leases was previously charged to the income statement as operating costs 
under IAS 17 Leases (“IAS 17”). From 1 April 2019, right-of-use assets are recognised under property, plant 
and equipment and the corresponding lease liabilities will be recognised as financial liabilities. 

 
The values of right-of-use assets are calculated as the present value of future lease payments plus expenses 
incurred in arranging the leases and any costs in upgrading or remediating the assets. The values of the 
liabilities under the leases will be the present value of future lease payments. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated in line with the depreciation policies detailed below. Payments under 
leases will be accounted for both as interest and capital repayment based on the applicable interest rate 
applied to the lease financing. 
 
The calculation of the initial cost of the right-of-use asset and the liability will be the present value of future 
payments under the lease discounted by the interest rates at which the group would currently be able to borrow 
in order to finance similar assets to those under the lease over a similar period. 
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4. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
The initial values of the right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities on adoption of IFRS 16 were calculated 
as the present value of future lease payments under the relevant lease contracts. Under the modified 
retrospective approach adopted by the group, the discount rates used reflect the interest rates at which the 
group would currently be able to borrow in order to finance similar assets to those under the leases affected 
by the transition (the incremental borrowing rate). 
 
The group has recently entered into loan facilities at fixed rates and with weighted average repayment 
maturities comparable with the lengths of the leases affected by this transition. It was, therefore, decided that 
the interest rates attached to the new facilities were appropriate proxies for the incremental borrowing rates to 
be applied in calculating the present value of the future lease liabilities, as follows: 
 

 lease length of zero to ten years remaining on transition – 2.94% 
 lease length of ten to twenty years remaining on transition – 3.22% 

 
Further details of the transition to IFRS 16 are provided in note 5. 
 
New standards and interpretations not applied 
 
As the group prepares their financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
(“EU”), the application of new standards and interpretations will be subject to their having been endorsed for 
use in the EU via the EU Endorsement Mechanism. In the majority of cases this will result in an effective date 
consistent with that given in the original standard or interpretation but the need for endorsement restricts the 
group’s discretion regarding early adoption of the standards. 
 
At the date of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet 
effective (and in some cases had not yet been adopted by the EU) and have not been applied to these Financial 
Statements: 
 
IFRS 3 (amended)        Business Combinations 
IFRS 7 (amended)        Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
IFRS 8 (amended)        Operating Segments 
IFRS 9 (amended)        Financial Instruments 
IFRS 16 (amended)      Leases 
IFRS 17                        Insurance contracts (replaces IFRS 4) 
IAS 1 (amended)          Presentation of Financial Statements 
IAS 8 (amended)          Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
IAS 16 (amended)        Property, Plant and Equipment 
IAS 37 (amended)        Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
IAS 39 (amended)        Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
 
The directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the group in future periods. 
 
Revenue 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group, there 
has been a transfer of risk and control and the revenue can be reliably measured. All revenue arises within the 
United Kingdom and is recorded net of VAT. The group only recognises revenue in respect of “named” 
customers that is the group will not bill an address without first knowing the name of the person living at the 
address. Specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised as detailed below. 
 
Metered and unmetered income 
The performance obligation of the group for metered and unmetered income is the supply of potable water to 
each named customer in the period under review. 
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4. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Metered water income is recognised when water has been delivered to the customer and the performance 
obligation has been satisfied for the period. This income includes an estimation of the volume of mains water 
supplied but unbilled at the year end. This is estimated using a defined methodology as detailed under key 
sources of estimation uncertainty above. 
 
Unmetered water income was invoiced in full for the financial year 2019/20 on 1 April 2019 and is recognised 
over the year as water is supplied to the named customer and the performance obligation is satisfied. 
 
Cash received in advance from customers is not treated as current year revenue, being recognised as 
payments received in advance within creditors. 
 
Infrastructure charges 
Infrastructure charges represent the fees charged to property developers and others for connecting new 
properties and water outlets to the group’s network. The performance obligation within these contracts is the 
completed connection of the relevant properties and outlets to the mains supply. These fees are recognised 
in the income statement upon completion of the performance obligation. 
 
Grants and contributions 
Grants and contributions are received in respect of both infrastructure and non-infrastructure assets and are 
usually received in advance of the work being undertaken by the group. The receipts are recognised as 
deferred income on the balance sheet upon receipt. The performance obligations for this income stream is the 
completion of the work to which contributions relate. The income is recognised in the income statement upon 
completion of the specific performance obligations. 
 
Other income 
Other income includes rechargeable works’ charges and charges for engineering, scientific, laboratory, billing 
and cash collection services. The performance obligations for rechargeable works are the installation of meters 
and the connection to new property developments to the mains supply. The income for rechargeable works is 
recognised when the performance obligations are completed. 
 
The performance obligations for the remaining other income is for the supply of services as detailed in the 
specific contracts with customers and is recognised in the income statement when the work to which it relates 
is complete. 
 
Finance income 
 
Finance income is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Taxation 
 
Current tax, being UK Corporation Tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using tax 
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 
Tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is also recognised directly in equity and not in the income 
statement. 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on all temporary differences at the balance sheet 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except where the deferred tax 
liability arises from goodwill amortisation or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused 
tax assets and losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax assets and losses can be utilised.  
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4. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for the deductible temporary differences arising from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. In accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes, deferred taxes are 
not discounted. 
 
Dividends 
 
Dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the year in which they are approved by the board. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries 
 
Investments are recorded at historical cost. Where the directors are of the opinion that there has been a 
permanent diminution in the value of investments, the carrying amount of such investments is written down to 
the recoverable amount. 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets externally acquired are recognised at cost. They have finite useful lives and are amortised 
over three to five years on a straight-line basis. Residual values and useful lives of all assets are re-assessed 
annually and, where necessary, changes are accounted for prospectively. 
 
Employee and other costs directly attributable to intangible asset projects are capitalised in the financial 
statements as part of the cost of the intangible asset to which they relate. Training costs, administration and 
other general overhead costs including interest are not capitalised.   
 
De-recognition 
An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 
from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset, calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item, is included in the income 
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised. 
 
Infrastructure assets 
 
Infrastructure assets comprise a network of systems relating to water distribution. Infrastructure assets in the 
course of construction are depreciated from the time they are brought into use and are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life of the assets, being between 20 years and 100 years for all infrastructure assets, 
except surface reservoirs, which have useful economic lives of 250 years.  
 
Non - infrastructure assets 
 
Freehold land is not depreciated. Assets in the course of construction are depreciated from the time they are 
brought into use. All other non-infrastructure assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment in value.  Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
asset as follows: 
 

Freehold buildings 80 
Operational structures 50-80 
Fixed plant and machinery 10-35 
Meters, vehicles, mobile plant, computers, furniture and office equipment 3-10 
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4. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
De-recognition 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is 
included in the income statement in the year the item is derecognised.  
 
Residual values and useful lives 
Residual values and useful lives of all assets are re-assessed annually and, where necessary, changes are 
accounted for prospectively. 
 
Capitalisation of employee and other directly attributable costs 
Employee and other costs, including borrowing costs, directly attributable to capital projects are capitalised in 
the financial statements as part of the cost of the property, plant and equipment to which they relate. Training 
costs, administration and other general overhead costs are not capitalised. 
 
Leased assets 
Property, plant and equipment held under leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. These assets are depreciated over the shorter 
of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 
 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment, investments and intangible assets 
At each reporting date an assessment is carried out to determine whether there is any indication that property, 
plant and equipment, investments and software intangible assets may be impaired. If there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset or respective cash-generating unit is compared to the carrying 
amount. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset value is reduced to the 
recoverable amount with an impairment loss recognised as an operating cost in the income statement in the 
year in which the respective assessment takes place. 
 
Investment property 
 
The group’s properties classified as investment property are held for long-term investment. Investment 
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction cost, and thereafter stated at fair value, which 
reflects market value at the balance sheet date. 
 
Where directors consider the market value to be materially different to net book value, the group’s properties 
have been revalued with the surplus or deficit credited or charged to equity through the income statement and 
subsequently transferred to the revaluation reserve, except that of a deficit which is expected to be permanent, 
and which is in excess of any previously recognised surplus over cost relating to the same property, or the  
reversal of such a deficit, where the amount charged or credited remains in retained earnings. Assessments 
are based on professional valuations by chartered surveyors and the considered opinion of the directors. 
 
Investment properties are derecognised when either they are disposed of or when no future economic benefit 
is expected from the disposal of the investment property. On de-recognition of the property, any restated 
balance remaining in the revaluation reserve is transferred to the income statement as a movement on 
reserves.  
 
Any gain or loss on disposal is treated as operating income, as Swan Property Limited exists to hold properties, 
upgrade them and sell them on, and therefore any profit made on the sale of an investment property is in the 
nature of their business and not exceptional. 
 
Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs are incurred on the group’s general borrowings. Where appropriate borrowing costs are 
attributed to qualifying assets in line with IAS 23 Borrowing Costs. Otherwise borrowing costs are expensed 
as incurred. See note 12 for further details. 
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4. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Inventory is valued at the lower of average cost or net realisable value. The stocks of treated water held by the 
group are valued at £nil. Consumable chemical purchases are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement at the point they are received on site for use, either from central stores or from suppliers direct.  
 
Work-in-progress for chargeable services is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
Short-term trade and other receivables 
 
Short-term trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction price in line with the provisions of IFRS 
9. The carrying value for trade receivables includes an allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss (doubtful 
debts) of the outstanding debts. An estimate for the expected credit loss is calculated by the group’s 
management in accordance with the defined methodology detailed under key sources of estimation uncertainty 
above. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short- 
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 
 
Included within cash and cash equivalents are amounts that are held in designated bank accounts as short-
term deposits in order to meet the interest falling due in respect of listed debt and other long-term borrowings. 
 
Trade payables 
 
Trade payables are measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
The group’s financial instruments comprise fixed and variable rate borrowings, index linked loans, fixed rate 
debentures, lease liabilities, a loan to its parent undertaking, cash, short-term and medium-term bank deposits, 
trade receivables and trade and other payables. 
 
Recognition 
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the group becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. The group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at 
initial recognition. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
A provision for twelve month expected credit loss on new financial assets is recognised in the income statement 
to establish a loss allowance on initial recognition in line with the impairment requirements of IFRS 9.  
 
At each reporting date an assessment is carried out to determine whether there is any indication that the credit 
risk on financial assets has increased significantly. If this is considered to be the case, full life-time expected 
credit loss is recognised in the income statement. 
 
Where there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has arisen, the loss is recognised in the income 
statement in the year in which the respective assessment takes place. Impaired debts are derecognised when 
they are assessed as irrecoverable. 
 
De-recognition 
Financial liabilities are removed from the statement of financial position when the related obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or it expires. 
 
Financial assets are removed from the statement of financial position when the rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred or when control of 
the asset is transferred. 
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4. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Embedded derivatives 
Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value through the income statement are reviewed to determine 
if they contain embedded derivatives. Embedded derivatives are accounted for separately as derivative 
financial instruments when the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the respective host 
financial instrument. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
The group uses an interest rate swap to hedge its risks associated with certain interest rate fluctuations. This 
use does not qualify for hedge accounting. Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially and 
subsequently in the statement of financial position at fair value through profit or loss with any movements 
during the year charged or credited to the income statement. The fair value is determined by reference to 
market values for similar instruments.  
 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net 
of issue costs associated with the borrowing. 
 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or 
premium on settlement. 
 
Revaluation reserve 
 
The revaluation reserve was created on the adoption of IFRS when the group took the option to treat the 
revalued amounts as deemed cost. This reserve is released over the life of the underlying assets to which it 
relates in line with the depreciation of the revalued assets and transferred to retained earnings. The revaluation 
uplift remaining on any assets that are disposed of is also transferred to retained earnings at the time of the 
disposal. 
 
Provisions 
 
A provision is recognised when the group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate  
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. Where the effect is material, 
expected future cash flows are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the 
liability. 
 
Research and development 
 
Research costs are charged to the income statement in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Development costs are capitalised based on management’s judgement that the technological and economic 
feasibility of a project is confirmed, usually when a project has reached a defined milestone according to an 
established project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalised management makes 
assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the 
expected period of benefits.  
 
Pension and other post-employment benefits 
 
The group accounts for pensions and other post-employment benefits under IAS 19(R). The group operates 
both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. Defined benefits are provided using both 
funded and unfunded pension plans. 
 
Defined contribution plans 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement when the 
contributions fall due. 
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4. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Defined benefit plans 
The pension scheme asset or liability in the statement of financial position represents the net present value of 
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of scheme assets at the balance sheet date. The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is analysed between the funded and unfunded pension plans. 
  
The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the cost of providing benefits under defined benefit 
plans is determined on a triennial basis, and updated to each year end by an independent qualified actuary 
using the Projected Unit Credit actuarial valuation method, discounted at an interest rate equivalent at 
measurement date to the rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the 
scheme liabilities. 
 
The pension cost in the income statement includes current and past service cost and the effect of any 
settlements and curtailments. A net finance charge or credit is recognised within finance costs in the income 
statement and comprises the net of the expected return on pension scheme assets and the interest on pension 
scheme liabilities. All actuarial gains and losses and the related current and deferred taxation are recognised 
in the statement of recognised income and expense. 
 
5. Adoption of IFRS 16  

 
The group has adopted IFRS 16 at the beginning of the financial year. The group has taken the practical 
expedient to apply this Standard only to contracts which were previously identified as leases when applying 
IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. 
 
IFRS 16 has been adopted using the modified retrospective method which has led to the accumulated historical 
adjustments being made to opening balances at 1 April 2019. 
 
The initial values of lease liabilities equate to the present value of future lease payments under the relevant 
lease contracts. The group have applied the practical expedient of using a single discount rate to leases with 
reasonably similar characteristics. The discount rates used in calculating the liabilities reflect the interest rates 
at which the group would currently be able to borrow in order to finance similar assets to those under the lease 
affected by the transition (the incremental borrowing rate).  
 
The group has recently entered into loan facilities at fixed rates and with weighted average repayment 
maturities comparable with the lengths of the leases affected by the transition. The interest rates attached to 
the new facilities have, therefore, been deemed appropriate proxies for the incremental borrowing rates, as 
follows: 
 

 Lease lengths of zero to ten years remaining on transition – 2.94 per cent 
 Lease lengths of ten to twenty years remaining on transition – 3.22 per cent 

 
The right-of-use assets at the date of initial application have been measured as an amount equal to the lease 
liability under each lease affected by the transition. At 1 April 2019, the group held the following operating 
leases previously accounted for under IAS 17 which met the criteria under IFRS 16 for such recognition. There 
were no long-term leases with outstanding periods of less than 12 months at the adoption date. 
 

Leased asset Start date End date 
Annual rent  

£000 

Values of assets 
and liabilities on 

adoption 
£000 

 
Laboratory at Farnborough  

 
22 May 2015 

 
21 May 2035 

 
195 

 
2,466 

Unit at Brooke House, Larkfield 8 Aug 2018 7 Aug 2021 19 43 
Water Tower at Blackhill, 
Camberley 19 Jan 2004 14 Jun 2022 17 52 
Offices at Leithrim House, Larkfield 4 Apr 2018 4 Apr 2028 67 537 
 
   298 3,098 
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5. Adoption of IFRS 16 (continued) 
 
The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the group’s financial statements in the period has been: 
 

 
 
 
 

 
31 March 

2020 
pre IFRS 16 

£000 

Adjustment 
for the 

adoption of 
IFRS 16 

£000 

 
31 March 

2020  
post IFRS 16 

£000 
    
Revenue 243,481 - 243,481 
    
Group net operating costs (175,171) 12 (175,159) 
Other income 12,199 - 12,199 
    
Group operating profit 80,509 12 80,521 
Revaluation of property 718 - 718 
Finance costs (65,561) (110) (65,671) 
Finance income 989 - 989 
    
Profit before taxation 16,655 (98) 16,557 
Taxation (14,477) - (14,477) 
    
Profit for the period 2,178 (98) 2,080 

 
Adoption of IFRS 16 has resulted in an adjustment to net operating costs of £12,000. This represents the 
removal of the rental charges of £319,000 offset by the depreciation change of £307,000 on the right-of-use 
assets, which have been included in the balance sheet at 1 April 2019. 
 
Further, the interest chargeable on the lease finance has been accrued to 31 March 2020 resulting in a finance 
charge of £110,000. The adoption if IFRS 16 has no material impact on EPS in the year. The value of payments 
under leases in the year has been £332,000. 
 
An analysis of the maturity of lease liabilities is provided below: 
 
Year ended 31 March 2020 Within 

1 year 
£000 

1 – 2 
 years 
£000 

2 – 5  
years 
 £000 

Over  
5 years 

£000 

 
Total 

  £000 
      
Laboratory at Farnborough  195 195 585 1,979 2,954 
Unit at Brooke House, Larkfield 19 7 - - 26 
Water Tower at Blackhill, Camberley 17 17 3 - 37 
Offices at Leithrim House, Larkfield 68 68 204 201 541 

Lenham Depot 160 160 480 741 1,541 

 
 

 
459 

 
447 

 
1,272 

 
2,921 

 
5,099 
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5. Adoption of IFRS 16 (continued) 
 
The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s opening statement of financial position has been: 
 
 
 
 

1 April 2019 
pre IFRS 16 

£000 

Adoption of 
IFRS 16 

£000 

1 April 2019 
post  IFRS 16 

£000 
    
Intangible assets 10,501 - 10,501 
Property, plant and equipment 1,555,123 3,098 1,558,221 
Investment property 1,100 - 1,100 
Defined benefit pension surplus 25,564 - 25,564 
    
Non-current assets 1,592,288 3,098 1,595,386 
    
Current assets 120,401 - 120,401 
 
Total assets 1,712,689 

 
3,098 1,715,787 

    
Current liabilities (460,373)  (460,373) 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Loans and borrowings (905,145) (3,098) (908,243) 
Trade and other payables (5,379) - (5,379) 
Net deferred tax liabilities (145,217) - (145,217) 
Defined benefit pension liability (3,154) - (3,154) 
Deferred income (3,185) - (3,185) 

 
 

(1,062,080) 
 

(3,098) (1,065,178) 
 
Total liabilities 

 
(1,522,453) (3,098) 

 
(1,525,551) 

 
Net assets 190,236 - 190,236 
    

Total equity 190,236 
 
- 190,236 

 
The following tables show the movement in the year in the values of right-of-use assets and lease financing 
liabilities. 
 Right-of-use 

assets 
£000 

 
Balance at 1 April 2019 on adoption of IFRS 16 

 
3,098 

Additions from new lease arrangements 1,585 
Depreciation (307) 
 
Balance at 31 March 2020 

 
4,376 

 
 Lease 

financing 
liabilities 

£000 
 
Balance at 1 April 2019 on adoption of IFRS 16 

 
3,098 

Additions from new lease arrangements 1,363 
Capital element of lease payments (222) 
 
Balance at 31 March 2020 

 
4,239 
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6. Total Income 
 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

Revenue   
Unmetered water income 20,800 24,966 
Metered water income 208,405 199,278 
Metered sewerage income - (15) 
Other sales 14,276 14,052 
 
Total revenue 243,481 238,281 
   
Other income   
Rental income 1,284 1,233 
Sundry income 10,915 11,764 
 
Total other income 12,199 12,997 
 
Total income 255,680 251,278 

 
All revenue is from customers within the United Kingdom.  
 
Other sales includes new connections income of £5.8 million (2019: £7.7 million), infrastructure income of £5.8 
million (2019: £5.2 million) and capital contributions of £1.4 million (2019: £1.0 million). 
 
Sundry income includes charges for billing and cash collection services amounting to £7.6 million (2019: £8.1 
million), and laboratory income of £2.5 million (2019: £2.3 million). 
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7. Segmental analysis 
 
The group’s revenue mainly arises from the supply of water and related activities. The activities of the group, 
for management purposes, fall into three operating areas being the supply of potable water on a wholesale 
and retail basis, both of which are governed by the Water Act 2014, and related non-regulated activities. 
 

Year ended 31 March 2020 Wholesale 
activities 

£000 

Retail 
activities 

£000 

Other 
activities 

£000 

 
Total 
£000 

     
Total income 221,820 21,749 12,111 255,680 
     
Operating profit 72,803 3,568 4,150 80,521 
Revaluation of investment property    718 
Finance costs    (65,671) 
Finance income    989 
     
Profit before taxation    16,557 
Taxation    (14,477) 
 
Profit for the year 

    
2,080 

     
Year ended 31 March 2019 Wholesale 

activities 
£000 

Retail 
activities 

£000 

Other 
activities 

£000 

 
Total 
£000 

     
Total income 217,705 21,379 12,194 251,278 
     
Operating profit 76,996 4,901 4,278 86,175 
Revaluation of investment property    550 
Finance costs    (68,154) 
Finance income    920 
     
Profit before taxation    19,491 
Taxation    (5,539) 
Profit from continued operations    13,952 
Profit from discontinued operations    7,938 
 
Profit for the year 

    
21,890 

 
The group analyses results by segment to operating profits only, so no segmental statement of financial 
position or statement of cash flows are presented. 
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8. Operating costs 
 

 Group Company 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

     
Employee benefits expense (See note 9) 30,301 30,202 135 124 
     
Asset expense/(income):     
Depreciation – owned assets 50,537 47,457 - - 
Depreciation – leased assets 885 579 - - 
Impairment of fixed assets 193 10 - - 
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,049 3,128 - - 
Impairment of intangible assets - 126 - - 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets (50) (427) - - 

 54,614 
 

50,873 - - 
 
Other operating expenses:     
Operating lease rentals:     
vehicles and office equipment 242 211 - - 
land and buildings 14 287 - - 
Fees payable to the Group’s auditor (see below) 368 356 47 56 
Other expenses (see below) 90,581 87,301 177 58 
Other operating expenses charged to capital 
projects 

 
(5,159) 

 
(5,711) - - 

 86,046 
 

82,444 224 114 

 170,961 
 

163,519 359 238 
     
Fees payable to the Group’s auditor in respect of:    
Audit of the Group and Company financial 
statements 

 
58 

 
46 37 46 

Audit of subsidiaries 219 235 10 10 
 

Total audit 277 281 47 56 
     
Regulatory accounts 49 50 - - 
Other assurance services 37 15 - - 

 
 86 65 - - 
Services relating to taxation 5 10 - - 

 
Total non-audit services 91 75 - - 
 
Total fees charged to income statement 368 356 47 56 
 
Other expenses comprise: 

  
  

Energy costs 18,346 16,440 - - 
Rates 18,186 17,770 - - 
Contractors 26,218 23,768 - - 
Bulk water supplies and abstraction licences 8,619 9,195 - - 
Chemicals 3,524 3,300 - - 
Insurance 2,680 3,113 34 30 
Other 13,008 13,715 143 28 

 90,581 
 

87,301 177 58 
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9. Directors and employees 
 
The average monthly number of persons, including salaried directors, employed by the group and company 
during the year was: 
 

 Group Company 
 2020 

Number 
2019 

Number 
2020 

Number 
2019 

Number 
     
Operations 434 440 - - 
Management and administration 525 510 1 1 
  

959 
 

950 
 

1 
 

1 
   

£000 
  

£000 
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons 
are as follows: 

  
 

  

Wages and salaries 31,235 30,295 111 103 
Social security costs 2,565 3,061 15 12 
Defined benefit scheme pension costs  719 1,067 9 9 
Pension costs for unfunded pensions - 266 - - 
Defined contribution scheme pension costs 2,385 2,153 - - 
  

36,904 
 

36,842 
 

135 
 

124 
Less: direct salary costs charged to capital 
projects and infrastructure renewals schemes 

 
(6,603) 

 
(6,640) 

 
- 

 
- 

  
30,301 

 
30,202 

 
135 

 
124 

 
10. Investment Income 

 
Company 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

 
Investment income from Hastings Water (UK) Limited 2,150 20,300 
Investment income from Swan Group 1,669 1,689 
 
 3,819 21,989 

 
11. Finance income 

 
 Group 

 
Company 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

 
Interest receivable on bank balances and short 
term deposits 356 284 153 105 
Pension fund finance income (see note 32) 633 636 - - 
 
 989 920 153 105 
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12. Finance costs 
 

 Group Company 

 
2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

     
Debenture interest 42 42 - - 
Effective interest on listed debt 18,411 22,843 - - 
Fair value movements on interest rate swap  2,713 3,126 2,459 (1,541) 
Indexation on variable rate bonds 4,378 4,564 - - 
Bank interest and other finance charges 9,722 8,075 - - 
Financing guarantee fees 1,429 1,289 - 22 
Interest payable on index linked loans 12,500 12,173 - - 
Interest payable to shareholders 6,149 6,115 - - 
Interest payable on leases 110 22 - - 
Amortisation of the revaluation of liabilities (928) (934) - - 
Indexation on index linked loans 10,444 11,487 - - 
Interest payable on group company loans - - 8,918 11,663 
Other interest payable and similar charges 2,941 1,260 415 1,177 
Amortisation of loan issue costs 588 569 - - 
 
Interest and related fees payable 68,499 70,631 11,792 11,321 
Interest capitalised (2,828) (2,477) - - 
 
 65,671 68,154 11,792 11,321 

 
13. Taxation 
 
Major components of the group’s tax expense for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 are: 
 

 Group Company 
Continuing operation 
 

 2020 
£000 

 2019 
£000 

 2020 
£000 

 2019 
£000 

 
income statement 

    

Current tax:     
Current UK tax charge (56) (744) (138) - 
Foreign tax 4 4 - - 
 
Total current tax charge (52) (740) 

 
(138) 

 
- 

     
Deferred tax:     
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary 
differences  

 
2,585 

 
6,279 

 
(467) 

 
262 

Relating to impact of change in tax rate 11,944 - (21) - 
     
Total deferred tax charge/(credit) 14,529 6,279 (488) 262 
     
Tax charge/(credit) reported in the income 
statement 

 
14,477 

 
5,539 

 
(626) 

 
262 

     
Tax charge/(credit) to equity     
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension 
schemes 

 
1,051 

 
(600) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Tax charge/(credit) reported in 
comprehensive income statement 1,051 (600) 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
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13. Taxation (continued) 
 

 Group Company 
  2020 

£000 
 2019 
£000 

 2020 
£000 

 2019 
£000 

Factors affecting tax for the year 
Profit/(Loss) on continuing operation before 
taxation 16,557 19,491 

 
 

(8,179) 

 
 

10,536 
 
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 
multiplied by the standard rate of tax of 19% 
(2019: 19%) 3,146 3,703 

 
 
 

(1,554) 

 
 

  
2,002 

Effects of:     
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 225 393 - 40 
Income not taxable (184) (77) (726) (4,178) 
Adjustments to current tax charge in respect of 
previous years 

 
(56) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Adjustments to deferred tax charge in respect of 
previous years 

 
(1,845) 

 
(472) 

 
- 

 
(21) 

Adjustments to deferred tax in respect of rate 
change 

 
11,944 

 
- 

 
(21) 

 
- 

Fair value movements not subject to current tax            38 (104) - - 
Other timing differences for which no DTA is 
recognised 

 
1,209 

 
1,162 

 
1,209 

 
1,162 

Group relief losses surrendered at no cost - 934 466 1,257 
 
Total tax charge/(credit) reported in the 
income statement 14,477 5,539 

 
 

(626) 

 
  

262 
 
The £12 million charge for the adjustment to deferred tax in respect of rate change relates to the effect of 
changes in the future tax rate, which was announced by the UK Government in its budget statement in March 
2020. 
 
The adjustments to current and deferred tax charge in respect of previous years represents the changes 
between the prior year financial statements and the prior year tax computations submitted. 
 
The expenses not deductible for tax purposes are primarily driven by the movement on general provisions, 
non-deductible entertainment expenditure, and depreciation on non-qualifying capital expenditure. 
 
Factors that may affect future tax charges 
For the year ended 31 March 2020 the UK rate of corporation tax of 19% has been used. The deferred tax on 
temporary differences as at 31 March 2020 have been calculated using 19% the substantively enacted rate 
for the periods during which the temporary differences are expected to unwind. 
 
Deferred tax 
The movement on the net deferred tax liability is as shown below: 
 

 Group Company 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

     
At 1 April  145,217 139,646 (178)  (440) 
Charge/(credit) to the income statement 14,529 6,278 (488)           262 
Charge/(credit) to equity  927 (600) -           - 
Impact of rate change on pension scheme 124 - - - 
Charge/(credit) to reserves 4,889 (107) -           - 
 
At 31 March 

 
165,686 

 
145,217 

 
(666) 

 
(178) 
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13. Taxation (continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences where 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, against which the temporary differences are expected 
to unwind. 
 
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are shown below: 
 

Group Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 
£000 

 
Pension 

provision 
£000 

 
 

Total 
£000 

 
Deferred tax liabilities 

   

 
At 1 April 2018 

 
138,239 

 
3,607 

 
141,846 

Charge to the income statement 4,034 800 4,834 
Charge to equity - (600) (600) 
Charge to reserves - - - 
 
At 1 April 2019 

 
142,273 

 
3,807 

 
146,080 

Charge to the income statement 13,157 1,373 14,530 
Charge to equity - 927 927 
Impact of rate change on deferred tax on the 
revaluation reserve 

 
4,889 

 
124 

 
5,013 

 
At 31 March 2020 

 
160,319 

 
6,231 

 
166,550 

 
Group Fair value 

swap 
£000 

Other 
provision 

£000 

 
Total 
£000 

    
Deferred tax assets    
 
At 1 April 2018 

 
1,941 

 
259 

 
2,200 

(Charge)/credit to the income statement  (1,362) 24 (1,338) 
 
At 1 April 2019 

 
579 

 
283 

 
862 

Credit/(charge) to the income statement 87 (85) 2 
 
At 31 March 2020 

 
666 

 
198 

 
864 
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13. Taxation (continued) 
 

Group Fair value 
swap 
£000 

Other 
provision 

£000 

 
Total 
£000 

    
Deferred tax assets    
At 1 April 2018 
(Charge)/credit to the income statement 

1,941 
(1,362) 

259 
24 

2,200 
(1,338) 

 
At 1 April 2019 
Credit/(charge) to the income statement 

 
579 

87 

 
283 
(85) 

 
862 

2 
 
At 31 March 2020 

 
666 

 
198 

 
864 

 

Company 
 

Fair value 
of swap 

£000 
  
Deferred tax assets  
At 1 April 2018 
Charge to the income statement 

440 
(262) 

 
At 1 April 2019 
Credit to the income statement 

 
178 
488 

 
At 31 March 2020 

 
666 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there 
is an intention to settle the balances net. All of the deferred tax assets were available for offset against deferred 
tax liabilities and hence the net deferred tax liability at 31 March 2020 was £165.6 million (2019: £145.2 million). 
 
Capital investment is expected to remain at similar levels and the group expects to be able to claim capital 
allowances in excess of depreciation in future years, allowing for any group relief arrangements within the HDF 
(UK) Holdings Limited group of companies.  
 
Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences using a balance sheet approach, using a tax rate of 19 per 
cent. The reversal of the 17 per cent (back to 19 per cent) tax rate previously substantively enacted by the 
Finance Act 2016 has resulted in an increase to the net deferred tax liability of £17 million (with £12 million 
charged to income statement and £5 million to reserves). 
 
For the year ended 31 March 2020 the UK rate of corporation tax of 19% has been used. The deferred tax on 
temporary differences as at 31 March 2020 have been calculated using 19%, the substantively enacted rate 
for the periods during which the temporary differences are expected to unwind.  
 
We have assessed the impact of the prospect of the UK leaving the European Union on our current tax charge 
and our deferred tax assets and liabilities and we do not consider the impact to be material.  
 
Unrecognised timing differences 
 
Under the Corporate Interest Restriction rule 2017 (as amended) (CIR rule), the group adopts the group ratio 
approach to calculate the amount of interest disallowable. Since the introduction of the CIR rule the group has 
disallowed cumulative interest expenses over the three financial years of £18,824k. This includes the current 
year of £6,363k and prior years to 2019 totalling £12,461k. 
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13. Taxation (continued) 
 
Under the CIR rule, the group is allowed to utilise the disallowed interest in subsequent financial years when 
there is interest capacity available. Notwithstanding this allowed use, the disallowed interest expenses have 
not been recognised in the deferred tax asset calculations. This is due to the group’s assessment of the 
remoteness of the group having interest capacity for utilising the disallowed interest expenses in the 
foreseeable future. 
 
There are losses of £6.3 million in Hastings Luxembourg that have not been recognised as timing difference 
because the group does not expect to derive any future tax benefit. There is no future taxable profit expected 
to be generated in Hastings Luxembourg against which the group could offset the losses. 
 
14. Dividends  

 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

 
Equity dividends paid during the year: 

  

First interim dividend of 0p per redeemable share (2019: 13.87p per 
ordinary share)  - 2,500 
Second interim dividend of 0p per redeemable share (2019: 13.87p 
per ordinary share) - 2,500 
Third interim dividend of 0p per redeemable share (2019: 13.87p per 
ordinary share) - 2,500 
Final dividend of 0p per redeemable share (2019: 13.87p per ordinary 
share) - 2,500 
 
 - 10,000 

 
15. Earnings per share 

 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. The 
following reflects the income and shares data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations: 
 

 Group 
 

Company 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

     
Profit/(loss) for the year from continued operation 2,080 13,952 (7,553) 10,273 
 
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued 
operation 

 
 

- 

 
 

7,938 

 
 

- 

 
 

(692) 
  

2020 
Number 

 
2019 

Number 

 
2020 

Number 

 
2019 

Number 
     
Basic and diluted weighted average number of 
shares 

 
18,019,792 

  
18,019,792 

 
18,019,792 

  
18,019,792 

 
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share from 
continued operation 

 
 

11.54p 

 
 

77.43p 

 
 

(41.92p) 

 
 

57.01p 
 
There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the 
reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements. 
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16. Intangible assets 
 

Group and company 
Computer 

software 
£000 

Assets in the  
course of 

construction  
£000 

 
 

Total 
£000 

    
Cost    
At 1 April 2019 24,087 1,248 25,335 
Additions - 2,985 2,985 
Transfers 1,129 (1,129) - 
Reclassifications to/(from) tangible assets 2,029 (2,898) (869) 
 
At 31 March 2020 27,245 206 27,451 
    
Accumulated amortisation and impairment    
At 1 April 2019 (14,834) - (14,834) 
Charge for the year (3,049) - (3,049) 
 
At 31 March 2020 (17,883) - (17,883) 
 
Net book amount at 31 March 2020 9,362 206 9,568 
    
Cost    
At 1 April 2018 22,406 296 22,702 
Additions - 4,067 4,067 
Transfers 2,619 (2,619) - 
Reclassifications (573) (496) (1,069) 
Disposals (365) - (365) 
 
At 31 March 2019 24,087 1,248 25,335 
    
Accumulated amortisation and impairment    
At 1 April 2018 (11,944) - (11,944) 
Charge for the year (3,129) - (3,129) 
Eliminated on disposals 365 - 365 
Impairment (126) - (126) 
 
At 31 March 2019 (14,834) - (14,834) 
 
Net book amount at 31 March 2019 9,253 1,248 10,501 
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17. Property, plant and equipment  
 

Group and company Land, wells, 
reservoirs 

and 
buildings 

£000 

 
 
 

Mains 
£000 

Plant, 
equipment 

and  
vehicles 

£000 

Assets 
 in the  

course of 
construction  

£000 

 
 
 

Total 
£000 

      
Deemed cost      
At 31 March 2019 239,056 1,094,883 394,701 42,693 1,771,333 
Adoption of IFRS 16 (see note 5) 3,098 - - - 3,098 
      
At 1 April 2019 242,154 1,094,883 394,701 42,693 1,774,431 
Additions 1,363 - - 100,122 101,485 
Transfers 5,799 49,626 30,619 (86,044) - 
Reclassifications to/(from) intangible 
assets - - (2,029) 2,898 869 
Disposals  (42) (172) (1,441) - (1,655) 
 
At 31 March 2020 249,274 1,144,337 421,850 59,669 1,875,130 
      
Accumulated depreciation and impairment     
At 1 April 2019 (20,428) (87,734) (108,048) - (216,210) 
Charge for the year (4,753) (19,264) (27,405) - (51,422) 
Eliminated on disposals 2 103 1,435 - 1,540 
Impairment - - (193) - (193) 
 
At 31 March 2020 (25,179) (106,895) (134,211) - (266,285) 
 
Net book amount at 31 March 
2020 224,095 1,037,442 287,639 59,669 1,608,845 
      
Net book amount of leased assets 
included above 8,311 - 4,618 - 12,929 
  
Assets under construction relate to 
the following categories 2,822 16,471 40,376 - 59,669 
      
Deemed cost      
At 1 April 2018 231,158 1,048,217 332,818 59,908 1,672,101 
Additions - - - 100,621 100,621 
Transfers 8,004 48,140 62,188 (118,332) - 
Reclassifications - - 573 496 1,069 
Disposals  (106) (1,474) (878) - (2,458) 
 
At 31 March 2019 239,056 1,094,883 394,701 42,693 1,771,333 
      
Accumulated depreciation and impairment     
At 1 April 2018 (16,123) (69,128) (85,143) - (170,394) 
Charge for the year (4,313) (19,963) (23,759) - (48,035) 
Eliminated on disposals 8 1,357 865 - 2,230 
Impairment - - (11) - (11) 
 
At 31 March 2019 (20,428) (87,734) (108,048) - (216,210) 
 
Net book amount at 31 March 2019 218,628 1,007,149 286,653 42,693 1,555,123 
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

Group and company Land, wells, 
reservoirs 

and 
buildings 

£000 

 
 
 

Mains 
£000 

Plant, 
equipment 

and  
vehicles 

£000 

Assets 
 in the  

course of 
construction  

£000 

 
 
 

Total 
£000 

 
Net book amount of right of use 
assets included above 4,095 - 5,038 - 9,133 
  
Assets under construction relate to 
the following categories  752 18,385 23,920 - 43,057 

 
The group’s index linked loans and listed bonds are secured on certain assets of the group (see note 24). 
 
18. Investment properties 
 

 £000 
Valuation  
At 1 April 2019 1,100 
Revaluation of Land at Henwood, Ashford (200) 
Revaluation of Land at Hermitage Lane, Maidstone  918 
 
At 31 March 2020 1,818 
  
Valuation  
At 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 550 

 
The valuation of the land at Henwood in Ashford has been assessed on 28 May 2020 after taking advice from 
an independent valuer, Dalcour Maclaren Limited, 20 Hollingworth Court, Turkey Mill Ashford Road, 
Maidstone, Kent, ME14 5PP with a relevant professional qualification and recent relevant experience. The 
2020 valuations were made by Dalcour Maclaren on an open market value for existing use basis. This valuation 
has been adopted at 31 March 2020. 
 
In March 2015 the company sold land at Hermitage Lane, Maidstone, Kent. The contract of sale contained an 
“overage payment” clause, entitling the group to additional proceeds in the event of certain criteria being met 
for which the payment date was 31 March 2020.  
 
Negotiations have now concluded resulting in the company receiving £0.9 million in June 2020. This valuation 
of this land has been updated to reflect this result  at 31 March 2020. 
 
19. Investment in subsidiaries 
 
The parent company has investments in the following subsidiary undertakings. All investments held are for 
100% of the voting rights and share capital of each subsidiary. 

Subsidiary  
 

Principal activity 

Hastings Water (UK) Limited * Holding company 
Hastings Luxembourg Water S.a.r.l. * Raising finance and lending to group companies 
South East Water (Holdings) Limited Holding company 
South East Water Limited Supply and distribution of water 
South East Water Finance Limited Raising finance and lending to group companies 
Swan Group * Holding company 
Swan Property Limited Property company 
MKW Holdco 1 * Holding company 

 
* Held directly by HDF (UK) Holdings Limited 
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19. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 
All subsidiary companies are incorporated in the United Kingdom and are registered at Rocfort Road, 
Snodland, Kent, ME6 5AH except Hastings Luxembourg Water S.a.r.l., which is incorporated in Luxembourg 
and registered at 15, Boulevard F.W. Raiffeisen, L-2411 Luxembourg, RCS Luxembourg: B 100413 and 
South East Water (Finance) Limited, which is incorporated and registered at P O Box 309GT, Ugland House, 
South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Island. 
 

 £000 
Cost and net book amount 
At 1 April 2018 and at 31 March 2019 

 
412,950 

 
20. Inventories 
  

Group 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Consumables 639 531 
Work in progress 50 61 
 
 689 592 

 
21. Trade and other receivables  

 Group Company 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

     
Financial asset receivables     
Trade receivables 39,751 38,562 - - 
Accrued income 39,018 37,835 - - 
Amounts due from parent and fellow 
subsidiary undertakings  - - 3,374 3,234 
 

78,769 
 

76,397 3,374 3,234 
     
Non-financial asset receivables     
Prepayments and accrued income 3,891 3,871 19 15 
Other receivables 1,805 6,000 4 32 
 
 5,696 9,871 23 47 
 
Total trade and other receivables 84,465 86,268 3,397 3,281 

 
Trade receivables are stated after provision for doubtful debts of £28.1 million (2019: £25.9 million). They are 
non-interest bearing and generally for immediate settlement. Receivables are determined to be impaired where 
there is a poor payment history or insolvency of the debtor and are fully or partially provided for. 
Movements in the provision for impairment of debtors were as follows: 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Balance brought forward 25,937 28,054 
Charge for the year from continuing operation 4,198 1,584 
Charge for the year from discontinued operation - 43 
Provision for legacy debt - 502 
Amounts utilised (2,050) (4,246) 
 
At 31 March 28,085 25,937 
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21. Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
At 31 March, the age of trade debtors that were past due but not impaired was as follows: 
 

  
Total 
£000 

 
Current 

£000 

<30   
days 
£000 

30-60 
days 
£000 

60-90 
days 
£000 

90-120 
days 
£000 

120-365 
days 
£000 

>365 
days 
£000 

 
2020 39,751 9,501 4,297 2,500 1,482 1,697 8,911 11,363 
2019 38,562 9,368 3,863 2,702 1,610 1,683 9,930 9,406 

 
22. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 March: 
 

 Group 
 

Company 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

     
Cash at bank and in hand 15,183 14,541 - 826 
Short term bank deposits 14,952 19,000 14,687 19,000 
 
 30,135 33,541 14,687 19,826 

 
Included in the group cash at bank and in hand balance at 31 March 2020 was £11.6 million (2019: £19.0 
million) held on an on demand deposit account. 
 
At 31 March 2020, £0.4 million (2019: £0.2 million) of restricted cash was held for the group in designated bank 
accounts in order to meet interest and associated swap payments falling due in respect of the listed debt and 
interest payments on index linked loans (note 23). 
 
23.  Non-current financial liabilities 
 

Group  2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

    
Loans and borrowings (i) 1,270,888 905,145 
Trade and other payables (ii) 4,997 5,379 
Derivative financial instruments (iii) 3,505 1,046 
 
 

 
1,279,390 911,570 

 
  2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

    
(i) Loans and borrowings    
Irredeemable debenture stock (a) 941 935 
Listed bonds (b) 342,142 337,960 
Index linked loans (c) 392,839 382,226 
Other term loans and creditors (d) 148,000 93,629 
Amounts due to shareholders (e) 90,395 90,395 
Variable rate loan (f) 118,493 - 
Fixed rate loan (g) 173,839 - 
Lease liability (h) 4,239 - 
 
 

 
1,270,888 905,145 
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23. Non-current financial liabilities (continued) 

 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
(a) Irredeemable debenture stock   

3 % perpetual stock 25 25 
3 ½ % perpetual stock 362 358 
4 % perpetual stock 175 171 
5 % perpetual stock 341 337 
5 ½ % perpetual stock 1 3 
6 % perpetual stock 37 41 

 
 

 
941 

 
935 

 
Interest on irredeemable debenture stock is payable six monthly. 
 
(b) Listed bonds  
The group holds bonds listed on the London Stock Exchange with an original value of £296 million (2019: £296 
million), with effective terms, having taken account of a related interest rate swap, as follows: 
 

• £166 million at a fixed rate of 5.5834%, falling due for repayment on 29 March 2029 (or earlier at the 
option of the group); and 

• £130 million at a variable rate linked to inflation, falling due for repayment on 3 June 2041 (or earlier 
at the option of the group). 

 
The carrying values of listed bonds were revalued when the group was restructured in October 2006. The movements in 
the values of the bonds are being amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the bonds. Issue costs incurred by 
the group in securing the long-term borrowings were deducted from the amount of the consideration received. 
The issue costs have been amortised under the effective interest rate method over the lives of the bonds to 
which the costs relate. Indexation also accrues on the bond repayable in 2041 under the terms of the bond. 
 
Listed bonds are stated at the original consideration received plus accrued indexation less issue costs 
unamortised at the balance sheet date as follows: 
  Loan due 

  2029 
  £000 

Loan due 
        2041 
        £000 

 
Total 
£000 

     
2020     
Original loan consideration  166,000 130,000 296,000 
Unamortised revaluations  3,216 - 3,216 
 
  169,216 130,000 299,216 
Indexation on bonds  - 44,986 44,986 
Less: unamortised issue costs  (996) (1064) (2,060) 
 
Listed bonds  

  
168,220 

 
173,922 

 
342,142 

     
2019     
Original loan consideration  166,000 130,000 296,000 
Unamortised revaluations  3,573  3,573 
 
  169,573 130,000 299,573 
Indexation on bonds  - 40,608 40,608 
Less: unamortised issue costs  (1,106) (1,115) (2,221) 
 
Listed bonds  

  
168,467 

 
169,493 

 
337,960 
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23. Non-current financial liabilities (continued) 
 
(c) Index linked loans 
The group holds index linked loans with an original value of £269 million and with effective terms as follows: 
 

• £135 million at a variable rate linked to inflation, falling due for repayment on 30 September 2032 (or 
earlier at the option of the group); 

• £34 million at a variable rate linked to inflation, falling due for repayment on 30 September 2033 (or 
earlier at the option of the group); and 

• £100 million at a variable rate linked to inflation (taken out during the prior year), falling due for 
repayment on 1 December 2037 (or earlier at the option of the group). 

 
Indexation on the loans accrues under the terms of the loans. Issue costs incurred by the group in securing the 
long-term borrowings were deducted from the amount of the consideration received. The issue costs have 
been amortised under the effective interest rate method over the lives of the bonds to which the costs relate. 
Index linked loans are stated after the uplift for accrued indexation and the deduction of issue costs to be 
amortised at the balance sheet date as follows: 
 
 Loan due 

2032 
£000 

Loan due 
2033 
£000 

Loan due 
2037 
£000 

 
Total 
£000 

2020     
Original loan amounts 135,000 34,000 100,000 269,000 
Indexation on bonds 88,530 18,216 19,652 126,398 
Less: unamortised issue costs (1,035) (196) (1,328) (2,559) 
 
Loans due 

 
222,495 

 
52,020 

 
118,324 

 
392,839 

     
2019     
Original loan amounts 135,000 34,000 100,000 269,000 
Indexation on bonds 82,508 16,809 16,638 115,955 
Less: unamortised issue costs (1,116) (209) (1,404) (2,729) 
 
Loans due 

 
216,392 

 
50,600 

 
115,234 

 
382,226 

 
The irredeemable debentures, listed bonds and index linked loans detailed in (a), (b) and (c) above are secured 
on the assets of South East Water (Holdings) Limited, South East Water Limited and South East Water 
(Finance) Limited (the South East Water (Holdings) Limited group) as far as allowed by the Water Industry Act 
1991 and South East Water Limited’s licence. The agreements for the bonds and loans contain a number of 
covenants that the group is required to meet to safeguard the interests of the lenders. The current position of 
the covenants and the required targets are detailed in the strategic report. 
 
(d) Other term loans and creditors 
The group’s other loans and creditors with effective terms, having taken account of a related interest rate swap 
comprise of subordinated term loans totalling £96.0 million (2019: £96.0 million) from The Royal Bank of 
Scotland, Commonwealth Bank of Australia and Bayern, at a rate of 2.007% maturing on 22 July 2022 was 
replaced by a new loan facility of £150 million in December 2018. £96 million draw down from the facility has 
been utilised to settle the loan and the remaining £54 million was lent to Hasting Water (UK) Limited. Loan has 
been facilitated by National Westminster Bank plc, ING Bank N.V., Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment 
Bank and Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce , at the rate of 2.5% plus Libor maturing on 20 December 
2023. 

 
Issue costs incurred by the group in securing the subordinated loans were deducted from the amount of the 
consideration received. The issue costs have been amortised under the effective interest rate method over the 
lives of the bonds to which the costs relate. 
 
The subordinated loans are secured upon the assets of the group as far as allowed by the Water Industry Act 
1991 and South East Water Limited’s licence. 
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23. Non-current financial liabilities (continued) 
 
(e) Amounts due to shareholders 
The group has loans due to its shareholders totalling £90.4 million as follows: 

• unsecured loan notes of £45.2 million (2019: £45.2 million) from UTA International Holdings 1 Pty 
Limited at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 6% falling due for repayment on 16 October 2026 (or earlier 
at the option of the group); 

• unsecured loan notes of £22.6 million (2019: £22.6 million) from RBS Pensions Trustees Limited as 
Trustee for The Royal Bank of Scotland Group Pension Fund – Group Fund Section at an interest rate 
of LIBOR plus 6% falling due for repayment on 16 October 2026 (or earlier at the option of the group); 

• unsecured loan notes of £11.3 million (2019: £11.3 million) from Régime de Rentes du Mouvement 
Desjardins at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 6% falling due for repayment on 16 October 2026 (or 
earlier at the option of the group); 

• unsecured loan notes of £5.6 million (2019: £5.6 million) from Desjardins Financial Security Life 
Assurance Company at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 6% falling due for repayment on 16 October 
2026 (or earlier at the option of the group); 

• unsecured loan notes of £5.6 million (2019: £5.6 million) from Certas Home and Auto Insurance 
Company at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 6% falling due for repayment on 16 October 2026 (or earlier 
at the option of the group); 

 
(f) Variable rate loan 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Original loan amount 120,000 - 
Less: unamortised issue costs (1,507) - 

 
 

 
118,493 

 
- 

 
In December 2018 the group entered into a new bank loan arrangement for £120 million at a variable rate of 
LIBOR plus 1.2 per cent which matures on 20 December 2025. This loan was drawn down in September 2019 
as part of the refinancing for the maturing index linked bonds on 30 September 2019. 
 
(g) Fixed rate loan notes 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Original loan amount 175,000 - 
Less: unamortised issue costs (1,161) - 

 
 

 
173,839 

 
- 

 
On 16 September 2019 the group has issued new fixed rate loan notes totalling £175 million. The notes were 
issued in two tranches being: 
 

 £75 million falling due for repayment on 16 September 2031 
 £100 million falling due for repayment on 16 September 2042 

 
(h) Lease liability 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Balance as at 1 April 3,098 - 
Capital addition 1,363  
Less: capital repayment (222) - 

 
 

 
4,239 

 
- 
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23. Non-current financial liabilities (continued) 
 
(ii) Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables comprise deposits payable to developers of £5.0 million (2019: £5.4 million). 
 
(iii) Derivative financial instruments 
 
 
 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Derivative financial instruments 3,505 1,046 

 
Company 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
Amounts due to group undertakings 164,842 164,842 
Issue costs on loans due to shareholders (see (e) above) (2,000) (2,371) 
 
 

 
162,842 

 
162,471 

 
24. Group financial instruments 
 
Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
The group’s financial instruments comprise fixed and variable rate borrowings, index linked loans, fixed rate 
debentures, interest rate swaps, cash, short-term and medium-term deposits and trade receivables and trade 
and other payables. The main purpose of the group’s financial instruments other than the interest rate swaps 
is to raise finance for the group’s operations. 
 
Derivative activity is undertaken as determined by the board of directors. The board considers the overall risk 
profile of the group and enters into derivatives to mitigate or hedge any risks identified, as appropriate. The 
group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 
 
The group’s treasury operations are managed within parameters defined by the board and its shareholders. It 
is the group’s policy to minimise liquidity risk within an acceptable range of interest rates. The group does not 
use foreign currency financial instruments. The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are 
liquidity and interest rate risk. There are no regulatory capital requirements placed on the group. 
 
Liquidity risk 
The group aims to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. Continuity of funding has 
been guaranteed throughout the period by the existence of long-term funding facilities. Short-term flexibility is  
achieved by varying the drawdown amounts under these facilities. Further details are given below. Cash is put 
on deposit with variable maturity dates so as to mitigate liquidity risk. 
 
Interest rate and cash flow risk 
The group finances its activities through a mixture of cash generated from operations, debenture loans, long-
term bonds and long-term index linked loans. Debentures are long-term fixed rate loans. Bonds comprise long-
term fixed rate loans and long-term variable rate loans which have been linked to inflation, partly through the 
use of an interest rate swap. The interest rate swap is used in order to reflect movements in the expected 
future income of the group. Long-term index linked loans comprise loans linked to inflation. 
 
The group’s policy is to manage short term interest rate risk by using short term fixed rate drawdowns under a 
committed facility. During the year to 31 March 2020 there was a net inflow of £33.0 million from financing 
activities within the group (excluding dividend payments) (2019: £20.0 million). It is the view of the group that 
long-term fluctuations in interest rates will be within the parameters that are considered acceptable by the 
group.  
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24. Group financial instruments (continued) 
 
Credit risk 
The group’s financial assets are cash and trade receivables which represent the group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk in relation to financial assets. The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade 
receivables, which are stated in the statement of financial position at original invoice amount less an allowance 
for any doubtful debts. An estimate for the provision for doubtful debts is calculated by the group’s management 
based on applying expected recovery rates to an aged debt profile and an assessment of current socio-
economic conditions. The group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a 
large number of domestic and commercial customers. 
 
Inflation risk 
The group manages its inflation risk on financial liabilities through the use of an interest rate swap, index linked 
bonds and index linked loans. The group considers that the inflation rate risk is largely managed as OFWAT 
allows revenues to be increased in line with inflation. 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, on the group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). The 
sensitivity analysis excludes all non-derivative fixed rate financial instruments carried at amortised cost but 
includes those recognised at fair value as well as all non-derivative floating rate financial instruments. 
 

 Increase/ 
decrease in 
basis points 

Effect on 
profit before 

tax  
£000 

Effect on 
shareholders’ 

equity  
£000 

    
2020    
Sterling +300 23,682 18,946 
 
Sterling +100 

 
7,894 

 
6,315 

    
2019    
Sterling +300 25,212 20,170 
 
Sterling -100 

 
8,404 

 
6,723 

 
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction 
between informed and willing parties. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the financial assets and 
liabilities of the group (apart from the specific items shown in the fair value table below) are not materially 
different from the book values. The fair value of the group’s long-term borrowings have been estimated based 
on the calculations of the present value of future cash flows using the appropriate discount rates in effect at 
the balance sheet dates. 
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24. Group financial instruments (continued) 
 
The following table provides a comparison by category of the carrying amount and the fair values of the group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities at 31 March. 

 Book 
Value  
2020 
£000 

Fair  
Value  
2020 
£000 

Book  
Value  
2019 
£000 

Fair  
Value  
2019 
£000 

     
Loans and receivables     
Trade receivables 78,769 78,769 76,397 76,397 
Cash and short term investments 30,135 30,135 33,541 33,541 
 
 

 
108,904 

 
108,904 

 
109,938 

 
109,938 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost     
Trade and other payables 53,817 53,171 51,144 50,530 
Irredeemable debentures 941 842 991 862 
Listed bonds 342142 430,369 548,557 672,137 
Index linked loans 392,839 504,074 371,247 499,703 
Fixed rate loan notes 173,839 179,166 - - 
Variable rate loan 118,493 115,003 - - 
Lease liability 4,239 4,239 - - 
Committed loan facility 30,000 30,000 - - 
Other long-term financial liabilities 238,395 272,266 186,395 230,203 
 
 
 

 
1,354,705 

 
1,589,130 

 

 
1,158,334 

 
1,453,435 

Financial liabilities at fair value through income 
statement 
Interest rate swaps 

 
 

3,505 

 
 

3,505 

 
 

1,046 

 
 

1,046 
 
The net book value is considered to equate to the fair value for trade receivables due to the short maturity of 
the amounts receivable. The fair value of trade and other payables have been adjusted for the appropriate 
credit risk. The fair values of irredeemable debentures have been calculated using the discounted cash flow 
method. The calculation includes all future capital and interest payments discounted by an amount 
representing credit risk and a further amount representing future inflation.  
 
Index-linked loans have been calculated by discounted cash flow method, taking into account future capital 
and interest payments based on estimated interest and inflation rates appropriate to the loans. These amounts 
have been similarly discounted for credit risk and inflation using appropriate discount rates in effect at the 
balance sheet dates. The fair values of listed bonds are based on market prices. The book value of the interest 
rate swaps have been adjusted to reflect their fair value. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments 
by valuation technique: 
 

• Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 

are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 
• Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 

not based on observable market data. 
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24. Group financial instruments (continued) 
 
The group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value: 
 

 
31 March 2020 

Total 
£000 

Level 1 
£000 

Level 2 
£000 

Level 3 
£000 

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through income 
statement 
Interest rate swap 

 
 
 

3,505 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

3,505 

 
 
 

- 
 
31 March 2019 

    

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through income 
statement 
Interest rate swap 

 
 
 

109,882 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

109,882 

 
 
 

- 
 
The group held the following financial instruments which are not measured at fair value but fair value 
disclosures are required: 
 

 
31 March 2020 

Total 
£000 

Level 1 
£000 

Level 2 
£000 

Level 3 
£000 

     
Fair value of financial liabilities at amortised cost     
Trade and other payables (53,171) - (53,171) - 
Irredeemable debentures (842) - (842) - 
Listed bonds (430,369) (430,369) - - 
Index linked loans (504,074) - (504,074) - 
Fixed rate loan notes (179,166) - (179,166) - 
Variable rate loan (115,003) - (115,003) - 
Lease liability (4,239) - (4,239) - 
Committed loan facility (30,000) - (30,000) - 
Other long term financial liabilities (272,266) - (272,266) - 
 
Total fair value of financial liabilities at 
amortised cost 

 
 

(1,589,130) 

 
 

(430,369) 

 
 

(1,158,761) 

 
 

- 
 
 

 
31 March 2019 

Total 
£000 

Level 1 
£000 

Level 2 
£000 

Level 3 
£000 

     
Fair value of financial liabilities at amortised cost     
Trade and other payables (50,530) - (50,530) - 
Irredeemable debentures (862) - (862) - 
Listed bonds (672,137) (672,137) - - 
Index linked loans (499,703) - (499,703) - 
Amounts due to parent and group undertakings (230,203) - (230,203) - 
 
Total fair value of financial liabilities at amortised 
cost 

 
 

(1,453,435) 

 
 

(672,137) 

 
 

(781,298) 

 
 

- 
 
During the reporting period ended 31 March 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value measurements and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 
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24. Group financial instruments (continued) 
 
Maturity of financial instruments 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s financial assets and liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted payments: 
 
 
 
Year ended 31 March 2020 

Within 
 1 year 

£000 

1 – 2  
Years 
 £000 

2 – 5 
 years 
£000 

More than 
5 years 

£000 

 
Total 

 £000 
      
Fixed rate      
Fixed rate financial liabilities:      
Irredeemable debentures 42 42 125 1,045 1,254 
Listed bond 9,268 9,268 27,805 212,342 258,683 
Loan note 2,713 5,425 16,275 245,683 270,096 
Other long-term financial liabilities 5,594 5,594 161,187 - 172,375 
 
Total fixed rate financial liabilities 

 
17,617 

 
20,329 

 
205,392 

 
459,070 

 
702,408 

      
Floating rate      
Floating rate financial assets:      
Short-term financial assets 78,769 - - - 78,769 
      
Floating rate financial liabilities:      
Short-term financial liabilities 72,647 - - - 72,647 
Listed bond 4,414 4,519 14,189 234,851 257,973 
Index linked loans 12,659 12,926 40,382 659.203 725,170 
Bank loan 31,222 2,353 7,059 121,765 162,399 
Lease liability 459 447 1,272 2,921 5,099 
Other long-term financial liabilities 6,137 6,137 18,410 102,668 133,352 
 
Total floating rate financial liabilities 

 
127,538 

 
26,382 

 
81,312 

 
1,121,408 

 
1,356,640 

 
 
 
 
Year ended 31 March 2019 

Within 
 1 year 

£000 

1 – 2  
Years 
 £000 

2 – 5 
 years 
£000 

More than 
5 years 

£000 

 
Total 

 £000 
      
Fixed rate      
Fixed rate financial liabilities:      
Irredeemable debentures 42 42 126 1,130 1,340 
Listed bond 9,268 9,268 27,805 221,611 267,952 
Other long-term financial liabilities 1,927 1,927 99,853 - 103,707 
 
Total fixed rate financial liabilities 

 
11,237 

 
11,237 

 
127,784 

 
222,741 

 
372,999 

      
Floating rate      
Floating rate financial assets:      
Short-term financial assets 76,397 - - - 76,397 
      
Floating rate financial liabilities:      
Short-term financial liabilities 62,112 - - - 62,112 
Listed bond 13,423 326,918 13,875 364,806 719,022 
Index linked loans - 12,322 38,570 683,782 734,674 
Other long-term financial liabilities 6,352 6,352 19,056 109,451 141,211 
 
Total floating rate financial liabilities 

 
81,887 

 
345,592 

 
71,501 

 
1,158,039 

 
1,657,019 
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24. Group financial instruments (continued) 
 
The £150 million floating rate instrument is classified as a fixed rate financial liability due to the associated 
interest rate swap arrangement. 
 
Borrowing facilities 
The group has committed borrowing facilities of £147.0 million (2019: £147.0 million), of which £30 million 
(2019: £55 million) was drawn down. Any drawdowns under these facilities are repayable in less than one 
year. 

  
Items of income, expense, gains and losses 
The net gains or losses of the different classes of financial instruments on the income statement are: 
 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
Financial assets, loans and receivables (see note 11) 356 284 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (see note 12) 

 
(63,886) 

 
(65,962) 

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (see note 12) 

 
(2,713) 

 
(3,126) 

 
Financial assets due to impairment (see note 23) 

 
(4,198) 

 
(1,627) 

 
25. Current liabilities 
Group  2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

    
Loans and borrowings (i) 30,000 255,468 
Trade and other payables (ii) 88,673 83,868 
Derivative financial instruments (iii) - 108,836 
 
 

 
118,673 448,172 

 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
(i) Loans and borrowings   
Loans & borrowings 30,000 255,468 
 
 
 

 
2020 
£000 

 
2019 
£000 

   
(ii) Trade and other payables   
Financial liabilities payable   
Trade payables 12,899 13,920 
Other payables 4,607 2,303 
Accruals 35,296 33,914 
 
 

 
52,802 

 
50,137 

 
Non-financial liabilities payable 

  

Payments received in advance 34,856 32,724 
Other taxes and social security 1,015 1,007 
 
 

 
35,871 

 
33,731 

  
88,673 

 
83,868 



HDF (UK) Holdings Limited 31 March 2020 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
as at 31 March 2020 

Page 97 
 

Registered number 05462865 

 
25. Current liabilities (continued) 
 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
(iii) Derivative financial instruments   
Derivative financial instruments - 108,836 

 
Company 
 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

Financial liability payables   
Amounts due to group undertakings 5,789 3,027 
Accruals 69 184 
 
 5,858 3,211 

 
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, amounts due to parent and fellow subsidiary undertakings represent unsecured 
non-interest bearing balances relating to, for the group, the surrender of group tax relief and for the company 
the surrender of group tax relief and interest due on debt with the subsidiary company. 
 
26. Provisions 
 
Group 
 
 
31 March 2020 

Third party 
damage 

claims 
£000 

 
Leak  

allowance 
£000 

 
 

Total 
£000 

    
As at 1 April 2019 2,144 1,828 3,972 
Additional provisions 824 4,632 5,456 
Amounts utilised (1,313) (3,658) (4,971) 
 
 

 
1,655 

 
2,802 

 
4,457 

 
31 March 2019 

   

As at 1 April 2018 1,988 527 2,515 
Additional provisions 1,406 3,825 5,231 
Amounts utilised (1,250) (2,524) (3,774) 
 
 

 
2,144 

 
1,828 

 
3,972 

 
It is anticipated that all provisions will be utilised within the next year. The provisions are based on the known 
details at the signing date of this report. However, the nature of the provisions mean that they are often subject 
to negotiation and, therefore, the amount and timing of payments resulting from these provisions will be subject 
to a small degree of uncertainty. 
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27. Deferred income 
 

Group 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
 
As at 1 April  

 
10,368 

 
10,166 

Received in the year 7,048 9,099 
Released during the year (8,560) (8,897) 
 
As at 31 March 

 
8,856 

 
10,368 

   
Non-current 3,438 3,185 
Current 5,418 7,183 
  

8,856 
 

10,368 
 
Contributions received towards below ground assets are released to the income statement on completion of 
the performance obligations within the contracts with customers. 
 
28. Issued Share Capital 
 
 2020 

£000 
2019 
£000 

   
Called up, allotted and fully paid   
13,514,844 A class ordinary shares of £0.125 (2019: 13,514,844) 1,688 1,688 
2,252,474 B class ordinary shares of £0.125 (2019: 2,252,474) 282 282 
2,252,474 C class ordinary shares of £0.125 (2019: 2,252,474) 282 282 
241,831,558 non-voting redeemable preference shares of £1 
(2019: 241,831,558) 241,832 241,832 
 

244,084 
 

244,084 
 

The company has the right to redeem all or any part of the non-voting redeemable preference shares at any 
time upon giving suitable notice to the shareholders. The redemption price may be any amount up to the value 
paid for the shares. 
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29. Movements in liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

Group non-current loans and borrowings Irredeemable 
debenture 

stock 
£000  

 
 

Leases 
£000 

 
Shareholder 

loans 
£000 

 
Bank 
 loan 
£000 

 
Listed 
bonds 
£000 

 
Loan 

 Notes 
£000 

 
Indexed 

linked loans 
£000 

Non-current 
loans and 
borrowing 

£000 
         
Balance 1 April 2018 928 - 90,395 95,094 534,429 - 370,569 1,091,415 
Changes from cash flow activities:         
Issue cost paid - - - (2,510) - - - (2,510) 
Loan repayment - - - (96,000) - - - (96,000) 
New loan facility - - - 96,000 - - - 96,000 
Changes from other financing activities:         
Indexation on index linked instruments - - - - 4,564 - 11,487 16,051 
Loan transfer to current liabilities - - - - (200,468) - - (200,468) 
Amortisation of issue costs - - - 1,045 376 - 170 1,591 
Amortisation of revaluation reserves 7 - - - (941) - - (934) 
 
Balance at 31 March 2019 935 

 
- 

 
90,395 93,629 337,960 

 
- 382,226 905,145 

Adoption of IFRS 16 Leases - 3,098 - - - - - 3.098 
         
Balance 1 April 2019 935  3.098 90,395 93,629 337,960 - 382,226 908,243 
Changes from cash flow activities:         
New fixed rate loan notes - - - - - 175,000 - 175,000 
New variable rate loan - - - 120,000 - - - 120,000 
New bank loan - - - 54,000 - - - 54,000 
Issue costs on new loans - - - (175) - - - (175) 
Loan repayment (1) (222) - - - - - (223) 
Changes from other financing activities:         
Issue costs on new loan  - - - (1,626) - (1,189) - (2,815) 
Right of use - 1,363 - - - - - 1,363 
Indexation on index linked instruments -   - - 4,378  10,443  14,821 
Amortisation of issue costs -   - 665 161  28 170 1,024 
Amortisation of revaluation reserves 7  - - (357) - - (350) 
 
Balance at 31 March 2020 941  

 
4,239 

 
90,395 266,493 342,142 

 
173,839 392,839 1,270,888 
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29. Movements in liabilities arising from financing activities (continued) 
 

Group current loans and borrowings 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Balance 1 April 255,468 20,000 
Changes from financing cash flows:   
New loans received during the period - 35,000 
Loan Repaid (25,000) - 
Changes from other financing activities:   
Transfer of Loan from long term - 200,000 
Loan repayment (200,000) - 
Amortisation of issue cost/repaid 110 (110) 
Unamortised cost (578) 578 
 
Balance 31 March 

 
30,000 

 
255,468 

 
Group derivative financial instruments 
 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Balance 1 April 109,882 106,756 
Changes in fair values:   
Payment of loan on maturity (111,549) - 
Movement in fair value of interest rate swap 5,172 3,126 
 
Balance 31 March 

 
3,505 

 
109,882 

 
30. Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 
 Capital commitments 
 

Group and company 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not provided in the 
financial statements     

 
35,169 

 
33,780 

 
All of the above capital commitments relate to property, plant and equipment. 
 
Contingent liabilities 
Through the ordinary course of operations, the group is party to various contract disputes. The Directors do not 
expect the ultimate resolution of any of these proceedings to have a material adverse effect on the group’s 
results of operations, cash flows or financial position. 
 
A letter of support has been provided to a subsidiary indicating the intention of the Company to support them, 
if required, for a period of a minimum of twelve months from the date of signing their financial statements. 
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31. Obligations under operating leases 
 

Group and company 
 

2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an 
expense in the year (see note 8) 

 
256 

 
498 

 
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:  
 

Group and company Land and 
buildings 

2020 
£000 

Land and  
buildings 

 2019 
£000 

   
Amounts for the following periods:   
  - within one year - 195 
  - in the first to second - 195 
  - in the second to fifth years - 585 
  - after five years - 2,145 
 
 

 
- 

 
3,120 

 
The group has adopted IFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The standard requires operating leases to be considered as 
finance leases and therefore the liabilities for the group’s land and building have now been included as long term 
financing on the financial statement. 
 
32. Retirement benefit schemes 
 
Group and company (hereafter referred to as “group” in this note) 
 
The South East Water pension scheme provides benefits to group and former group employees. From 17 June 
2011 onwards, benefits from the South East Water pension scheme have been provided solely on a defined 
contribution basis.   
 
The scheme was originally contracted-out under the Guaranteed Minimum Pension Test. From 6 April 1997, 
after taking independent actuarial advice, the group decided to contract-out via the Protected Rights Test. With 
effect from 6 April 2012, the Government have removed the option for schemes to contract-out via a Protected 
Rights basis. From 6 April 2012, the group decided to contract-out via a salary related basis.   
 
The final salary defined benefit section of the scheme was closed to new entrants with effect from July 2002. 
 
The last full actuarial valuation of the scheme took place as at 31 March 2017. The next full actuarial valuation 
will be performed at 31 March 2021. 
 
The group contribution rate was nil (2019: nil) of pensionable remuneration during the year plus an annual 
contribution of £3.9 million (2019: £3.8 million). The group’s future annual contribution is expected to be £3.9 
million. 
 
As a result of the merger of South East Water and Mid Kent Water Limited in October 2006, the group acquired 
the Mid Kent Group Pension Scheme, which is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. 
 
The last full actuarial valuation of the scheme took place as at 31 March 2017. The next full actuarial valuation 
will be performed at 31 March 2021. 
 
The group contributed nil (2019: nil) of pensionable remuneration plus £1.4 million (2019: £1.3 million) in 
respect of the deficit as at 31 March 2019 to the scheme during the year. The group’s future annual contribution 
is expected to be £1.3 million. 
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32. Retirement benefit schemes (continued) 
 
On 31 March 2015 both of the group’s defined benefit schemes closed to further benefit accrual. This was 
advised to the schemes’ members on 13 December 2012. From 31 March 2015 all active members became 
deferred members and their accrued benefits will increase in line with statutory deferred revaluation. All 
members were invited to join the group’s defined contribution scheme from 1 April 2015. 
 
The group also has obligations to pay a number of former employees’ pensions on a defined benefit basis 
which are not included in either of the pension schemes. These pensions are paid by the group and charged 
directly to the income statement each year. The value of future obligations has been valued and the liability is 
recognised on the statement of financial position. 
  
Pension costs recognised in the income statement for the defined contribution scheme were as follows: 

 2020 
£000 

2019 
£000 

   
Defined contribution scheme  2,385 2,149 

 
The major assumptions used for the actuarial valuations were: 

 SEW 
Pensions 

2020 
 % 

SEW 
Pensions 

2019 
 % 

MKW 
Pensions 

2020 
% 

MKW 
Pensions 

2019 
% 

     
Main assumptions:     
Rate of increase in pensions in payment     
RPI – Linked 2.50 3.25 2.50 3.25 
CPI – Linked 1.75 2.25 1.75 2.25 
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 1.75 2.25 1.75 2.25 
     
Discount rate 2.30 2.55 2.30 2.55 
RPI assumption 2.50 3.25 2.50 3.25 
CPI assumption 1.75 2.25 1.75 2.25 
     
Post-retirement mortality (in years)     
Current pensioners at 65 – male 21.7 21.5 21.7 21.5 
Current pensioners at 65 – female 23.7 23.3 23.7 23.3 
Future pensioners at 65 – male 22.9 22.6 22.9 22.6 
Future pensioners at 65 – female 25.8 25.4 25.8 25.4 
     

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the above key 
assumptions, with all other variables held constant, on the schemes’ liabilities: 

 
 

(Decrease)/ 
increase in 

liabilities 
£000 

 
(Decrease)/ 

increase   
% 

   
0.1% decrease to the discount rate 4,000 1.5 
0.1% increase to inflation 3,500 1.3 
One year increase in life expectancy 10,000 3.9 
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32. Retirement benefit schemes (continued) 
 
The fair value of the assets in the schemes and the present value of the liabilities in the schemes were: 

 SEW 
Pensions 

£000 

MKW 
Pensions 

£000 

 
Total 
£000 

    
2020    
Equities  29,862 14,221 44,083 
Corporate bonds  73,983 55,604 129,587 
Government bonds 50,221 42,066 92,287 
Cash 10,088 6,758 16,846 
Insured persons 5,044 4,761 9,805 
 
Total fair value of assets 

 
169,198 

 
123,410 

 
292,608 

Present value of funded obligations (154,121) (102,575) (256,696) 
 
Surplus in the schemes 15,077 20,835 35,912 

 
 £000 
 
Unfunded obligation 2020  
Present value of unfunded obligations (3,115) 

 
 
 

SEW 
Pensions 
£000 

MKW 
Pensions 
£000 

 
Total 
£000 

 
2019 

   

Equities  32,111 15,675 47,786 
Corporate bonds  87,219 64,426 151,645 
Government bonds 42,630 34,622 77,252 
Cash 4,608 5,044 9,652 
Insured persons 5,326 4,850 10,176 
 
Total fair value of assets 

 
171,894 

 
124,617 

 
296,511 

Present value of funded obligations (161,451) (109,496) (270,947) 
 
Surplus in the schemes 10,443 15,121 25,564 

 
 £000 
 
Unfunded obligation 2019  
Present value of unfunded obligations (3,154) 

 
Equity investments include Global Tactical Asset Allocation, Private Equity Fund and Absolute Return 
Investments. 
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32. Retirement benefit schemes (continued) 
 
Analysis of amounts charged/(credited) to income statement: 

 SEW 
Pensions 

£000 

MKW 
Pensions 

£000 

 
Unfunded 

£000 
Total 
£000 

     
2020     
Net interest on defined asset (311) (399) 77 (633) 
Administrative expenses 411 299 - 710 
 
Total amount charged to income statement 

 
100 

 
(100) 

 
77 

 
77 

     
2019     
Net interest on defined (asset) (212) (424) - (636) 
Past service costs 164 109 - 273 
Administrative expenses 423 371 - 794 
 
Total amount charged to income statement 

 
375 

 
56 

 
- 

 
431 

 
Analysis of amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income: 

 SEW 
Pensions 

£000 

MKW 
Pensions 

£000 

Unfunded 
pensions 

£000 
Total 
£000 

     
2020     
Return on schemes’ assets excluding interest income (2,692) 211 - (2,481) 
Actuarial gains due to changes in financial 
assumptions 

 
4,834 

 
5,019 

 
62 

 
9,915 

Actuarial gains due to changes in demographic 
assumptions 

 
(1,347) 

 
(981) 

 
(33) 

 
(2,361) 

Experience loss on obligation - - (194) (194) 
Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income 

 
795 

 
4,249 

 
(165) 

 
4,879 

 
Cumulative actuarial losses 

 
(5,319) 

 
(9,186) 

 
(3,319) 

 
(17,824) 

 
   

 
 

2019     
Return on schemes’ assets excluding interest income 2,343 2,084 - 4,427 
Actuarial gains due to changes in financial 
assumptions 

 
(5,732) 

 
(4,170) 

 
140 

 
(9,762) 

Actuarial losses due to changes in demographic 
assumptions 

 
1,092 

 
731 

 
- 

 
1,823 

Experience loss on obligation - - (13) (13) 
Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income 

 
(2,297) 

 
(1,355) 

 
127 

 
(3,525) 

 
Cumulative actuarial losses 

 
(6,114) 

 
(13,435) 

 
(3,154) 

 
(22,703) 
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32. Retirement benefit schemes (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of defined benefit obligations: 

 SEW 
Pensions 

£000 

MKW 
Pensions 

£000 

Unfunded 
pensions 

£000 
Total 
£000 

     
2020     
Opening defined benefit obligations 161,451 109,496 3,154 274,101 
Interest cost 4,017 2,721 77 6,815 
Actuarial (gains)/losses (3,487) (4,038) 165 (7,360) 
Past service cost - - - - 
Benefits paid (7,860) (5,604) (281) (13,745) 
 
Closing defined benefit obligations 

 
154,121 

 
102,575 

 
3,115 

 
259,811 

 
 

    

2019     
Opening defined benefit obligations 160,169 107,713 3,281 271,163 
Interest cost 4,304 2,846 - 7,150 
Actuarial losses/(gains) 4,640 3,439 (127) 7,952 
Past service cost 164 109 - 273 
Benefits paid (7,826) (4,611) - (12,437) 
 
Closing defined benefit obligations 

 
161,451 

 
109,496 

 
3,154 

 
274,101 

 
Reconciliation of fair value of plans’ assets: 

 SEW 
Pensions 

£000 

MKW 
Pensions 

£000 
Total 
£000 

    
2020    
Opening fair values of schemes’ assets 171,894 124,617 296,511 
Interest income on assets 4,328 3,120 7,448 
Return on scheme assets excluding interest income (2,692) 211 (2,481) 
Contributions by employer 3,939 1,365 5,304 
Administrative expenses (411) (299) (710) 
Benefits paid (7,860) (5,604) (13,464) 
 
Closing fair values of schemes’ assets 

 
169,198 

 
123,410 

 
292,608 

    
2019    
Opening fair values of schemes’ assets 169,469 122,923 292,392 
Interest income on assets 4,516 3,270 7,786 
Return on scheme assets excluding interest income 2,343 2,084 4,427 
Contributions by employer 3,815 1,322 5,137 
Administrative expenses (423) (371) (794) 
Benefits paid (7,826) (4,611) (12,437) 
 
Closing fair values of schemes’ assets 

 
171,894 

 
124,617 

 
296,511 

 
The Trust Deed provides South East Water with an unconditional right to a refund of surplus assets assuming 
the full settlement of plan liabilities in the event of a plan wind-up. Furthermore, in the ordinary course of 
business the Trustee has no rights to unilaterally wind up or otherwise augment the benefits due to members 
of the scheme. Based on these rights, any net surplus in the UK scheme is recognised in full. 
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33. Subsequent events 
 
In July 2020 the Trustees of the Mid Kent Group Pension Scheme (“MKGPS”) approved a change to the 
scheme’s rules to replace the use of the Retail Price Index (“RPI”) with Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) for the 
calculation of future obligations of the scheme. The reason for this change is the understanding that CPI more 
accurately reflects the rate of inflation for the MKGPS and this is in line with changes to public sector and 
statutory minimum pension increases. This also brings the MKGPS into line with the South East Water  
 
Pension Scheme which adopted CPI for increases in future obligations in 2011. The members of the MKGPS 
have been notified of this change to the rules of their scheme.  
 
The estimated effect of this change on the group’s financial statements is to provide a reduction in the costs of 
the scheme of approximately £7 million which will be recognised in the group’s income statement in the 2020/21 
financial year. The savings in costs would be reflected in a reduction in a defined benefit liability recorded on 
the balance sheet at the end of that financial year. 
 
The group has drawn down an additional £40 million from its committed loan facilities after the balance sheet 
date as a contingency plan to overcome any potential short-term liquidity issues that may manifest as a 
consequence of covid-19. At the date of signing this Annual Report, the group has not had the need to utilise 
these funds and the £40 million remains held in reserve to protect against any future unforeseen 
circumstances.” 
 
34. Related party transactions 
 
The group has loans from each of its shareholders totaling £90.4 million (2019: £90.4 million) as detailed in 
notes 23 and 24. Interest costs of £6.1 million (2019: £6.1 million) are disclosed in note 12. 
 
The company has received unsecured loans totalling £123.5 million (2019: £123.5 million) from its subsidiary, 
Hastings Water (Luxembourg) S.a.r.l and an unsecured loan of £41.6 million (2019: £41.6 million) from its 
subsidiary Swan Group. These loans are disclosed in note 24. Interest of £9.7 million (2019: £9.6 million) was 
paid to Hastings Water (Luxembourg) S.a.r.l. and of £1.7 million (2019: £1.7 million) to Swan Group.  
 
35. Parent company and ultimate controlling Parties 
 
Utilities of Australia Pty Limited as Trustee for the Utilities Trust of Australia (“UTA”), RBS Pensions Trustees 
Limited as Trustee for The Royal Bank of Scotland Group Pension Fund – Group Fund Section (“RBSPF”), 
Régime de Rentes du Mouvement Desjardins (“RRMD”), Desjardins Financial Security Life Assurance 
Company (“DFSL”) and Certas Home and Auto Insurance Company (“Certas”) are the company’s joint ultimate 
holding companies. UTA is resident in Australia. RBSPF is resident in the United Kingdom, RRMD, DFSL and 
Certas are resident in Canada. It is the directors’ belief that there is no single ultimate controlling party and that 
the joint ultimate holding companies control the company jointly. 
 
The immediate parent companies are UTA Hong Kong Holdings Limited, a holding company resident in Hong 
Kong, RBSPF, RRMD, DFSL and Certas. 
 
 
 
 

 
 


